JARID1c and JARID1d as putative genetic mediators of sexually dimorphic dendritic cell function

Mario Corrado

Department of Physiology

McGill University, Montreal

December 2019

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science.

© Mario Corrado, 2019

ABSTRACT

Sex differences in immunity are well-documented; females typically mount a more potent response than males. One consequence of a highly potent immune response is the risk of bypassing selftolerance mechanisms to promote autoimmune pathologies. Indeed, 80% of autoimmune patients are female. Although hormonal and genetic factors have been implicated in sex-biased immunity, the molecular mechanisms that account for these differences remain poorly understood. Dendritic cells (DCs) are crucial for controlling immune responses; upon stimulus recognition, DCs transition from an actively restrained "steady-state" to an activated state capable of instructing antigen-specific adaptive immune responses. Although much is known about the molecules that promote DC activation, the mechanisms involved in actively maintaining the steady-state remain poorly understood. Our lab has identified an epigenetic axis in DC activation, whereby the transcriptional repressors PCGF6 and JARID1c (KDM5c) restrain DC activation by altering the DC epigenome. JARID1c is an X-linked H3K4 histone demethylase that escapes X-inactivation; females express two copies of *Jarid1c*, whereas males express one copy of *Jarid1c* and its Ylinked paralogue Jarid1d. Here, we hypothesize that JARID1c and JARID1d contribute to sexspecific immune responses of DCs. Using bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BMDCs) from C57BL/6 age-matched mice as an in vitro model, we found female-derived BMDCs to mount a more potent immune response than male-derived BMDCs. We also demonstrate that JARID1cdeficient BMDCs from both sexes mount a less robust immune response compared to sex-matched wildtype BMDCs. In vivo studies revealed that cDC1s, cDC2s and pDCs from male and female mice differ in number and in activation. Finally, we found that JARID1c-deficient DCs exert a decreased pro-inflammatory phenotype compared to sex-matched wildtype controls. This trend was true both at steady-state and following infection with LCMV-Armstrong. Together, our study investigates sex-biased immune response and provides evidence to support epigenetic regulation by JARID1c/d as a factor implicated in sexually dimorphic immunity.

<u>RÉSUMÉ</u>

Les différences d'immunité entre les sexes sont bien documentées; les femmes ont généralement une réponse plus puissante que les hommes. L'une des conséquences d'une réponse immunitaire extrêmement puissante est le risque de contourner les mécanismes d'auto-tolérance pour favoriser les pathologies auto-immunes. En effet, 80% des patients auto-immuns sont des femmes. Bien que des facteurs hormonaux et génétiques aient été impliqués dans l'immunité sexiste, les mécanismes moléculaires à l'origine de ces différences restent mal compris. Les cellules dendritiques (CDs) jouent un rôle crucial dans le contrôle de la réponse immunitaire. Une fois le stimulus reconnu, les CDs passent d'un «état stable» activement restreint à un état activé capable d'instruire les réponses immunitaires adaptatives. Bien que l'on en sache beaucoup sur les molécules qui favorisent l'activation des CDs, les mécanismes impliqués dans le maintien actif de l'état d'équilibre restent mal compris. Notre laboratoire a identifié un axe épigénétique dans l'activation des CDs, selon lequel les répresseurs transcriptionnels PCGF6 et JARID1c (KDM5c) restreignent l'activation des CDs en modifiant l'épigénome des CDs. JARID1c est une histone déméthylase H3K4 liée à l'X qui échappe à l'inactivation de l'X; les femelles expriment deux copies de Jarid1c, tandis que les mâles expriment une copie de Jarid1c et de son paralogue lié à Y, Jarid1d. Ici, nous émettons l'hypothèse que JARID1c et JARID1d contribuent aux réponses immunitaires spécifiques du sexe des CDs. En utilisant des CDs dérivées de la moelle osseuse (CDMO) de souris C57BL/6 appariées selon l'âge comme modèle in vitro, nous avons constaté que les CDMOs dérivées de femmes développaient une réponse immunitaire plus puissante que les CDMOs dérivées de mâles. Nous démontrons également que les CDMOs déficients en JARID1c des deux sexes génèrent une réponse immunitaire moins robuste que les CDMOs de type sauvage. Des études in vivo ont révélé que les CDc1, les CDc2 et les CDp de souris mâles et femelles diffèrent en nombre et en activation. Enfin, nous avons constaté que les CDs déficientes en JARID1c exerçaient un phénotype proinflammatoire diminué par rapport aux témoins de type sauvage. Cette tendance s'est vérifiée à la fois à l'état d'équilibre et après une infection par le virus murin LCMV-Armstrong. Ensemble, notre étude examine la réponse immunitaire biaisée par le sexe et fournit des preuves pour soutenir la régulation épigénétique par JARID1c/d en tant que facteur impliqué dans l'immunité dimorphique sexuelle.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to first and foremost extend my deepest gratitude to Professor Connie Krawczyk for granting me the opportunity to complete not only a Master's degree, but also an undergraduate honors thesis in her laboratory over the past 3 years. I struggle to think of anyone else who has taught me more about leadership. Her calm, understanding, logical and enthusiastic approach to science and life has left an impression on me that will pay great dividends in my future career. I would also like to thank Dr. Krawczyk for inviting me to complete my Master's work at the Van Andel Institute, which has provided a challenging yet exceptionally rewarding experience. I would also like to thank all of my current and past lab members: Hannah Guak, Giselle Boukhaled, Brendan Cordeiro, So-Yoon Won, Benedeta Hasaj, Jacky Tung, Ryan Yang, Peter Jeon, Orsolya Lapohos, Colleen Russett and Frank Telfer from McGill, as well as Alex Vander Ark, Paula Davidson and Lukai Zhai from Van Andel for their constant support and for creating a proactive and welcoming learning environment that spurs intellectual curiosity. I would like to specifically thank Hannah Guak for guiding me throughout the past year and showing me how outstanding scientists should conduct themselves. I would further like to thank the members of my supervisory committee, Dr. Vincent Giguère, Dr. Ana Nijnik and Dr. John White for their frequent and helpful advice during the course of my degree. This project would not have been possible without the funding provided by CIHR, in particular the Sex as a Biological Variable Catalyst funding opportunity, FRQS and NSERC. I would like to thank both the Department of Physiology at McGill, as well as the Van Andel Institute for welcoming me with open arms and providing me with the resources to carry out this project. Last, but certainly not least, a special thanks goes out to my family and friends for their unconditional love and support, and to Janna for our stimulating discussions, for pushing me back on track when I lean off course, and for seeing me through the inevitable ups and downs of scientific research. Their contributions to my growth as a scientist cannot be overstated.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	i
RÉSUMÉ	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF FIGURES	vi
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	viii
PREFACE AND CONTRIBUTIONS	xiv
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. The mammalian immune system: innate immunity	1
1.1.1. Dendritic cells	2
1.1.2. DC ontogeny	5
1.1.3. Classical/conventional dendritic cells (cDCs)	6
1.1.4. Plasmacytoid DCs	7
1.1.5. BMDCs as a model for DC biology	8
1.2. The mammalian immune system: adaptive immunity	9
1.2.1. T cell development	10
1.2.2. T cell activation and differentiation	11
1.2.3. B cell development1.2.4. B cell activation	12
	12 13
1.3. Sex differences in immunity1.3.1. Sex differences in innate immunity	13
1.3.2. Sex differences in adaptive immunity	13
1.3.3. Genetic mediators of sex differences in immunity	14
1.3.4. Hormonal mediators of sex differences in immunity	16
1.3.5. Sex differences in disease pathogenesis	18
1.3.6. The murine estrus cycle	19
1.4. Epigenetic regulation of gene expression	21
1.4.1. DNA methylation	23
1.4.2. Histone modification	24
1.4.3. Epigenetic regulation of DC function	25
1.4.4. DC epigenetics in inflammatory diseases	27
1.4.5. Jumonji AT-rich interactive domain 1c (JARID1c)	28
1.5. Rationale and goal of M.Sc. project	30

2.	MAT	TERIALS AND METHODS	33
	2.1.	Mice	33
	2.2.	Murine BMDC culture	33
	2.3.	RNA extraction and qPCR	33
	2.4.	Flow cytometric analysis	34
	2.5.	ELISA	36
	2.6.	Western blot	37
	2.7.	Vaginal lavage	38
	2.8.	Splenic and lymph node DC preparation	38
	2.9.	In vivo LCMV injection	39
		JARID1c chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP)	39
		Statistical analysis	40
3.		ULTS	41
	3.1.	Male- and female-derived DCs manifest disparate inflammatory	
		phenotypes in vivo and in vitro	41
	3.2.	The murine estrus cycle influences immune cell subset composition	
		in the spleen and lymph nodes	42
	3.3.	JARID1c and JARID1d are differentially expressed following LPS	
		stimulation and show sex-specific regulation	44
	3.4.	JARID1c-deficient male- and female-derived BMDCs are less	
		pro-inflammatory compared to wildtype sex-matched BMDCs	45
	3.5.	JARID1c-deficient cDC1s and cDC2s from males and females are	
		differentially altered in a sex-dependent and subset-dependent manner	47
	3.6.	JARID1c-deficient pDCs show an altered composition in males and	
		development defects in both males and females	47
	3.7.	Male and female JARID1c-deficient cDCs show a reduced	
		inflammatory phenotype following infection with LCMV-Armstrong	48
	3.8.	JARID1c differentially localizes to the promoter regions of <i>Ciita</i>	
		or <i>Il12a</i> depending on DC activation status	49
4.	DISC	CUSSION	63
		DCs from females exhibit a more pro-inflammatory phenotype	
		compared to DCs from males	64
	4.2.	The murine estrus cycle as a variable influencing immune cell function	67
	4.3.	JARID1c and JARID1d in male and female response to LPS <i>in vitro</i>	70
	4.4.	JARID1c and JARID1d suppress cDC1 responses and promote cDC2	, ,
		responses in vivo	73
	4.5.	JARID1c in pDC development and regulation	75
	4.6.	CONCLUSION	78
5.		ERENCES	79
- •			

LIST OF FIGURES

Introduction

Figure 1. Three signal model of T cell activation by DCs	4
Figure 2. DCs are derived from hematopoietic precursors in the bone marrow	5
Figure 3. Functions of dendritic cell subsets	8
Figure 4. Sex bias in inflammatory disorders, infectious diseases and non-reproductive cancers	19
Figure 5. The murine estrus cycle comprises four distinct stages that can be identified by vaginal cytology	21
Figure 6. Reported JARID1c mutations	29
Results/Discussion	
Figure 1. Female-derived BMDCs mount a more robust inflammatory response to LPS compared to male-derived BMDCs	50
Figure 2. The murine estrus cycle modulates cDC1 composition and activation at steady-state in vivo	51
Figure 3. Male-derived cDC2s are more abundant than female-derived cDC2s, but splenic female-derived cDC2s are more activated	52
Figure 4. pDCs from males are more abundant than pDCs from females, but pDC composition does not differ across the estrus cycle	53
Figure 5. The murine estrus cycle modulates effector cells of the adaptive immune system	54
Figure 6. CD4 ⁺ central memory T cells are more abundant in the spleen of females compared to the spleen of males	55
Figure 7. <i>Jarid1c</i> and <i>Jarid1d</i> are differentially expressed in male- and female-derived BMDCs and JARID1c is dynamically expressed following LPS stimulation <i>in vitro</i>	56
Figure 8. JARID1c-deficient male- and female-derived BMDCs show reduced pro-inflammatory gene expression	57
Figure 9 . JARID1c-deficient BMDCs express lower levels of surface activation markers and produce lower levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines compared to wildtype BMDCs	58
Figure 10. JARID1c-deficient cDCs show sex- and subset-specific activation profiles at steady-state	59
Figure 11. JARID1c-deficient pDCs show developmental defects at steady-state in vivo	60
Figure 12. JARID1c-deficient cDCs from males and females mount a reduced inflammatory phenotype compared to wildtype sex-matched cDCs in response to LCMV-Armstrong infection	61
Figure 13. NEXSON ChIP-qPCR reveals that JARID1c differentially localizes to the promoter regions of genes involved in promoting and antagonizing DC activation	62
Figure 14. Proposed model for differential JARID1c/d function in cDC1s, cDC2s and pDCs	76

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Enzymes mediating transcriptional activation	22
Table 2. Enzymes mediating transcriptional repression	23
Table 3. Epigenetic factors that influence DC activity	26
Table 4. Mouse and human JARID1c encode six domains	28

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- 5mC 5-methylcytosine
- 5hmC 5-hydroxymethylcytosine
- AFA Adaptive focused acoustics
- AIRE Autoimmune regulator
- ANOVA Analysis of variance
- APC Antigen-presenting cell
- ARE Androgen response element
- ASD Autism spectrum disorder
- β -ME Beta-mercaptoethanol
- Batf3 Basic leucine zipper transcriptional factor ATF-like 3
- BCR B-cell receptor
- BMDC Bone marrow-derived dendritic cell
- BSA Bovine serum albumin
- **BST2** Bone marrow stromal antigen 2
- CCL C-C motif chemokine
- CCR C-C motif chemokine receptor
- CD Cluster of differentiation
- $cDC-{\rm Classical/conventional\ dendritic\ cell}$
- CDCM Complete dendritic cell media
- CDP Common dendritic cell precursor/progenitor
- ChIP Chromatin immunoprecipitation
- CIITA Class II major histocompatibility complex transactivator
- CLP Common lymphoid precursor/progenitor
- CMP Common myeloid precursor/progenitor

- CTL Cytotoxic T lymphocyte
- CXCL C-X-C motif chemokine ligand
- CXXC C-X-X-C finger protein
- CyTOF Mass cytometry by time-of-flight
- DAPI 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
- DC Dendritic cell
- **DHT** Dihydrotestosterone
- DNA Deoxyribonucleic acid
- DNMT DNA methyltransferase
- ds Double-stranded
- **DTT** 1,4-dithiothreitol
- E2 17-beta-estradiol
- EAE Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
- ECL Enhanced chemiluminescence
- EDTA Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
- EGTA ethylene glycol-bis(β-aminoethyl ether)-N,N,N',N'-tetraacetic acid
- EGFR Epidermal growth factor receptor
- EHMT2 Euchromatic histone-lysine N-methyltransferase
- ELISA Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
- **ERE** Estrogen response element
- FCS Fetal calf serum
- FDC Follicular dendritic cells
- FH Follicle stimulating hormone
- FL Farnhab lab
- Flt3L FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand

- FoxP3 Forkhead box P3
- GATA3 GATA binding protein 3
- GM-CSF Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
- GMP Granulocyte-monocyte precursor/progenitor
- H3K4 Histone 3 Lysine 4
- HAT Histone acetyltransferase
- HBSS Hanks' balanced salt solution
- HDAC Histone deacetylase
- HEPES 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
- HGFR Hepatocyte growth factor receptor
- HIV Human immunodeficiency virus
- HMT Histone methyltransferase
- HPRT Hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase
- HPV Human papillomavirus
- HSC Hematopoietic stem cell
- ICOSL Inducible costimulator-ligand

IFN-Interferon

Ig – Immunoglobulin

- IGEPAL Octylphenoxypolyethoxyethanol
- ILC Innate lymphoid cell
- IMD Immune deficiency
- IRF -- Interferon regulatory factor
- iTreg Induced regulatory T cell
- JARID1c Jumonji AT-rich interactive domain 1c
- JARID1d Jumonji AT-rich interactive domain 1d

- JMJD2D Jumonji domain-containing protein 2D
- JMJD3 Jumonji domain-containing protein D3
- **KDM** Lysine-specific demethylase
- **KDM4D** Lysine-specific demethylase 4D
- **KDM5B** Lysine-specific demethylase 5B
- **KDM5c** Lysine-specific demethylase 5c
- **KDM6B** Lysine-specific demethylase 6B
- LCMV Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus
- LH Luteinizing hormone
- LPS Lipopolysaccharide
- LTa Lymphotoxin alpha
- MAPK Mitogen-activated protein kinase
- MHC Major histocompatibility complex
- mi-Micro
- MLL Mixed-lineage leukemia
- moDC Monocyte-derived dendritic cell
- MS Multiple sclerosis
- MSCV Murine stem cell virus
- Mtb Mycobacterium tuberculosis
- mTEC Medullary thymic epithelial cell
- NEXSON Nuclei extraction by sonication
- NF- κB nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
- NK Natural killer
- **NOD** Non-obese diabetic
- nTreg Natural regulatory T cell

NuRD – Nucleosome remodeling deacetylase

P4 - Progesterone

- PCGF6 Polycomb Group Ring Finger 6
- PAMP Pathogen-associated molecular pattern
- **PBMC** Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
- **PBS** Phosphate-buffered saline
- PCR Polymerase chain reaction
- pDC Plasmacytoid dendritic cell
- PFU Plaque-forming unit
- PHA Phytohaemagglutinin
- **PIPES** Piperazine-N,N'-bis(2-ethanesulfonic acid)
- **PMA** Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate
- pMHC peptide:MHC
- **PMSF** phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride
- **PRC1** Polycomb repressive complex 1
- **PRR** Pattern recognition receptor
- **PVDF** Polyvinylidene fluoride
- qPCR Quantitative polymerase chain reaction
- RING Really interesting new gene
- **RNA** Ribonucleic acid
- $ROR\gamma T$ Retinoid-related orphan receptor gamma t
- **RSV** Respiratory syncytial virus
- SDS-PAGE Sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
- SETDB1 SET domain bifurcated histone lysine methyltransferase 1
- SIRPa Signal regulatory protein alpha

- SLE Systemic lupus erythematosus
- SLO Secondary lymphoid organ
- ss Single-stranded
- STAT6 Signal transducer and activator of transcription 6
- STING Stimulator of interferon genes
- SUV39H1 Suppressor of variegation 3-9 homolog 1
- T-bet T-box protein expressed in T cells
- $TBS-{\it Tris-buffered\ saline}$
- Tcf4 Transcription factor 4
- TCR T-cell receptor
- **TDG** Thymine-DNA glycosylase
- $TET-{\it Ten-eleven\ translocation}$
- T_{CM} Central memory T cells
- Tfh Follicular helper T cells
- TGF Transforming growth factor
- **Th** T helper cell
- TLR Toll-like receptor
- TNF Tumor necrosis factor
- Treg Regulatory T cell
- WDR5 WD repeat-containing protein 5
- XCR1 X-C motif chemokine receptor 1
- XLID X-linked intellectual disability
- Zeb2 Zinc finger E-box binding homeobox 2

PREFACE AND CONTRIBUTIONS

My thesis work is focused on JARID1c and its Y-linked paralog JARID1d in the context of DC function. Since DCs play a significant role in guiding immune responses to various pathogens and in certain cases to self, an extensive review of DC function, activation and ontology will first be discussed in the introduction. In addition, the work presented in this study focuses on sex differences in immune response, specifically in DCs. Phenotypic differences in male and female immune response have been well-documented, however DCs have been poorly characterized in the context of sex-biased immunity, as well as the molecular mechanisms that contribute to the sex disparity. Hormonal and genetic factors have both been shown to contribute to sex-specific immunity. To study the molecular factors that contribute to male and female differences in immunity, known hormonal and genetic contributions to phenotypic differences between the sexes will be reviewed in the introduction. Since sex hormones vary extensively during the estrus cycle in females, the estrus cycle will also be briefly reviewed. Since JARID1c and JARID1d are H3K4 demethylases, an overview of epigenetics will be provided with a focus on documented epigenetic contributions to DC function. Finally, our current understanding of the biological and physiological roles of JARID1c and JARID1d will be discussed. This will be followed by the rationale for my M.Sc. project, a detailed presentation of the results of this study and a thorough discussion on relevant implications. It should be noted that the study was conceptualized with the help of Dr. Connie Krawczyk, and the experimental work was carried out by myself, with technical assistance provided by lab members under certain circumstances. I also performed all data analysis, and interpreted experiment results

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The mammalian immune system: innate immunity

The mammalian immune system has evolved to protect the host organism from a broad spectrum of infectious and non-infectious agents including microbes (bacteria, viruses, fungi and parasites), allergens and toxic chemicals. In mammals, the immune system includes two levels of organization that cooperate at the molecular and cellular levels to confer protection: innate immunity and adaptive immunity. Innate immunity is provided by (i) anatomical and physiological barriers and (ii) innate immune cells. Though primitive, innate immunity provides the host with an indiscriminate defense system against immunological threats. Adaptive immunity first evolved among jawed vertebrates (1) and allows for an immune response tailored to the infectious or non-infectious agent, as well as immunological memory against that agent. Failure in any of these systems threatens homeostatic function in the host and increases susceptibility to infection.

External structures, including the skin and mucosa, evolved as primary physical barriers against foreign challenges by preventing pathogen access and colonization. Most of the defensive functions of the skin, which is built from epithelial cells, are localized to the stratum corneum through its microflora, low water content and antimicrobial lipids (2, 3). Found adjacent to epithelial cells is a mucus layer consisting mainly of a complex web of mucin and antimicrobial peptides that cover epithelial surfaces and serves to impede microbial entry (4). However, loss of physical barrier integrity, either through injury or through pathogen-mediated processes, can facilitate infection.

Exposure to inflammatory foreign stimuli initiates the innate immune response, a germlineencoded program that consists of both chemical and cellular elements. The chemical components include soluble, bioactive molecules that are constitutively or inducibly present in biological fluids (such as complement proteins (5), defensins (6) and ficolins (7)) or are released by activated innate cells (including chemokines that attract inflammatory leukocytes to the infection site, and cytokines that mediate that inflammation (8, 9)). The cellular component consists of an arsenal of host cells that survey the microenvironment at barrier sites and are hard-wired to detect foreign antigens and orchestrate an immune response. Innate immune cells include mast cells, macrophages, natural killer (NK) cells, monocytes, neutrophils, basophils, gamma delta T cells, innate lymphoid cells (ILCs), eosinophils and dendritic cells (DCs). Each of these cells possess at least one intrinsic property that contributes to pathogen clearance. For example, basophils can be directly activated by parasite-derived factors to produce large quantities of effector molecules that promote type II immune responses conducive to parasite clearance (10). Neutrophils produce neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), which are composed of a meshwork of chromatin fibers decorated with antimicrobial peptides and enzymes that represent an important strategy to immobilize and kill invading microbes (11). Macrophages are highly phagocytic cells that kill microbes, engulf apoptotic cells and heavily contribute to wound healing by clearing cellular debris left over from an immune response or from injury (12, 13).

Several key features of innate immunity differentiate it from adaptive immunity. First, innate immune responses are immediate and germline-encoded; they are fully functional prior to, or rapidly following microbial challenge, and thus do not require prior exposure to the microbe. Second, the innate response is initiated by the recognition of patterns of molecular structures rather than microbe-specific antigens. Third, it has traditionally been thought that the innate system lacks immunological memory; repeated exposure to antigen will not enhance the magnitude or effectiveness of the innate response. However, recent studies have suggested that several innate cell types can be conditioned by their environment to either increase their sensitivity to antigen (termed "trained immunity") or decrease their sensitivity (tolerance). A number of proteins have been implicated in this process, including β -glucan (14, 15) and the interleukin (IL)-1 family of cytokines (16). Trained immunity and tolerance can thus be viewed as a *de facto* innate immune memory that instructs innate immune responses to subsequent antigen exposure (17).

1.1.1 Dendritic cells

In certain circumstances, the first line of defense provided by innate immunity can be sufficient to clear a small dose of pathogen. For example, innate immunity is sufficient to clear *Chlamydia trachomatis* infection in the female mouse genital tract (18). However, elevated doses of low-grade immunogenic microbes, or low doses of high-grade immunogenic pathogens, may establish an infection that fails to be adequately cleared by the innate system alone. Under these circumstances,

the highly robust, versatile and antigen-specific adaptive immune response must be engaged to efficiently clear the pathogen.

DCs act as the antigenic messengers that link innate and adaptive immunity. Initially described by Ralph Steinman and Zanvil Cohn, DCs were originally identified as stellate cells with the capacity to stimulate naïve T cells (19–21). DCs can be classified into two functionally distinct branches; classical/conventional DCs (cDCs) and plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs). cDCs were originally identified by Steinman and Cohn and are specialized in antigen presentation. pDCs were isolated two decades later, and though they can also present antigen, they are better equipped for type I interferon production following viral infection (22–25). cDCs can be further divided into two major subsets, cDC1s and cDC2s, that differ in several ways including the cytokines they produce and the adaptive response they are likely to initiate (26) (reviewed below).

DCs are located at barrier sites (including the skin, gut and respiratory mucosa), and recent studies have begun to classify and characterize DC subsets and function in several tissues (27–29). In the absence of inflammatory antigen, resident DCs at barrier sites assume a highly dendritic morphology that is used to sample the microenvironment. Termed the steady-state, DCs in this context possess an enhanced capacity for antigen uptake and processing but poor ability to present antigen and activate naïve T cells (30). Upon exposure to inflammatory antigens, DCs transition to the activated/mature state capable of priming and sustaining naïve T cell expansion (31).

DCs are equipped with a family of membrane-bound and cytoplasmic pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs), of which the family of Toll-like receptors (TLRs) has been studied most extensively (32). PRRs possess the unique capacity to bind to pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), which are characterized as foreign invariant molecular compounds common among entire groups of microbes and essential to pathogen survival (33). Ten germline-encoded TLRs have been identified in humans; each of which is specialized in recognizing distinct PAMPs from various intracellular and extracellular microbial sources (reviewed in (34, 35)). TLR-1 and TLR-2 recognize bacterial lipopeptides, lipoproteins and glycolipids. TLR-2 also binds to fungiderived zymosan. TLR-3 and TLR-7/8 recognize viral dsRNA and ssRNA respectively. TLR-4 binds to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from gram-negative bacteria, while TLR-5 recognizes bacterial flagellin. TLR-6 is specialized in the recognition of diacylated lipopeptides from mycoplasma, and

TLR-9 binds to unmethylated CpG DNA of bacterial, viral and protozoan origin. In contrast to other TLRs, TLR-10 has recently been shown to suppress inflammatory signaling by acting as a negative regulator of the MyD88 adaptor protein (36).

Cognate PAMP/PRR interaction by DCs triggers intracellular signaling cascades that ultimately prompts an irreversible differentiation program conducive to DC activation. For example, TLR-4 interaction with LPS at the cell surface results in downstream activation of the pro-inflammatory NF- κ B, MAPK and IRF-3 pathways (37, 38). In order for robust T cell activation to occur, DCs

must deliver three signals to the naïve T cell: antigen presentation, costimulation and cytokine production (39) (Figure 1). The proinflammatory pathways activated by PAMP/PRR interaction mediate the molecular adaptations made by DCs to deliver these three signals to T cells. Molecular adaptations include the loss of endocytic activity (40) and a reduction in antigen processing and presentation by MHC I and MHC II peptide complexes at the cell surface (Signal 1) (41, 42). Antigen presentation by steady-state DCs is transient; peptide:MHC II (pMHC) assembled in intracellular complexes compartments during antigen processing are unstable on the cell surface. Stable pMHC formation necessitates a decrease in the expression of MHC II genes following activation (43). MHC II regulation is provided



Figure 1. Three signal model of T cell activation by DCs. Activated DCs must deliver three signals to efficiently stimulate naïve T cells: (1) antigen presentation via pMHC-TCR interaction; (2) costimulation (e.g. CD80/86-CD28 interaction); (3) proinflammatory cytokines. Activated DCs also express CCR7 to allow for migration to T-cell zones of secondary lymphoid organs.

by the transcriptional coactivator CIITA (encoded by the *Ciita* gene) (44). CIITA functions by nucleating the formation of an enhancesome upstream of MHC II gene loci, inducing their *de novo* transcription (45), as well as enhancing the constitutive expression of MHC I (18). Proinflammatory transcriptional programs induced by PAMP/PRR interaction downregulate *Ciita*, promoting stable pMHC complexes at the cell surface. In addition to stable antigen presentation, co-stimulatory molecules (CD80, CD86, CD40) are upregulated (Signal 2) (46), and pro-inflammatory cytokines (IFN, IL-6, TNF, IL-12) are secreted to instruct naïve T cell differentiation into effector T cells (Signal 3) (47). Lastly, activated DCs will upregulate the expression of specific chemokine receptors, such as CCR7 (48). This allows for DC migration to T-cell zones of secondary lymphoid organs (SLOs) where they will encounter naïve, antigen-specific T cells and deliver the three molecular signals required for robust T cell activation (49, 50).

1.1.2 DC ontogeny

DC development in mammals initiates in the bone marrow, where hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) differentiate into either the common lymphoid progenitor (CLP) or the common myeloid progenitor (CMP) (51). The CMP further differentiates into the granulocyte-monocyte progenitor (GMP), which, as the name implies, will give rise to granulocytes and monocytes, as well as the monocyte-macrophage DC progenitor (MDP) (52). MDPs differentiate into the common DC progenitor (CDP). CDPs then mature into pre-cDCs that migrate out of the bone marrow to populate almost every tissue, and further mature into cDCs (53) (Figure 2).



Figure 2. DCs are derived from hematopoietic precursors in the bone marrow. Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) in the bone marrow differentiate into macrophage-dendritic cell progenitors (MDPs) that then differentiate into common DC progenitors (CDPs). CDPs can differentiate directly into pDCs or into pre-cDCs, which mature into cDC1s or cDC2s in the periphery. The common lymphoid progenitor (CLP) also matures into pDCs. Under certain conditions such as stimulation with viral antigen, pDCs can differentiate into cDC1s. Adapted from Eisenbarth, *Nat. Rev. Immunol.*, 2019 (53).

1.1.3 Classical/conventional dendritic cells (cDCs)

The use of lineage markers to identify DC subsets *in vivo* has proven challenging in both human and murine models. In mouse, DC identification historically relied on the surface expression of MHC II and CD11c (54, 55), which can also be expressed by macrophages in a tissue-specific context (56), thus resulting in poor DC identification. Indeed, advancements in flow cytometry and mass cytometry (CyTOF) have confirmed that reliance on MHC II and CD11c alone is insufficient for proper *in vivo* cDC identification (57). Instead, newer technologies have revealed that pre-DCs will differentiate into cDC1s and cDC2s (58–60). Pre-DCs are committed to the cDC1 or cDC2 lineage prior to migrating out of the bone marrow (61).

cDC1s and cDC2s are subdivided according to the expression of surface markers and specific transcription factors required for maturation and lineage commitment. At the transcriptional level, Batf3 and Irf8 commit pre-DCs to the cDC1 lineage (62, 63), whereas Irf4 commits pre-DCs to the cDC2 lineage (64). Further, an unsupervised, high-dimensional approach revealed that cDC1s and cDC2s express unique surface markers that can inform gating strategies that effectively excludes macrophages and can be used to study each subset individually (28). These markers include XCR1 on cDC1s and CD172a (SIRP α) on cDC2s (28, 65).

cDC1s and cDC2s possess non-redundant but complementary functions that work together to launch adaptive immunity (reviewed in (66)) (Figure 3). cDC1s are highly specialized in crosspresentation of exogenous antigen on MHC I and are thus efficient at both presenting antigen to, and activating, CD8⁺ T cells (63, 65). cDC1s also initiate type I immune responses by activating type 1 ILCs (ILC1s) and NK cells as well as promoting T_{H1} polarization (67). cDC2s, on the other hand, are specialized in presenting antigen on MHC II molecules and are thus considered to be more efficient at differentiating CD4⁺ T cells (51). For example, cDC2s have been shown to initiate type III immune responses via ILC3 activation and stimulate T_{H17} differentiation to clear extracellular bacteria (68, 69). In this way, each cDC subset is specialized in recognizing a particular threat and mounting the innate and adaptive defenses best suited to clear it. However, several studies suggest that cDC1 and cDC2 functionality is not so dichotomous; cDC1s have been found to present antigen to CD4⁺ T cells to induce regulatory T cell (Treg) differentiation (70), and there is also evidence to suggest that cDC2s are capable of cross-presentation (71).

1.1.4 Plasmacytoid DCs

HSCs in the bone marrow will give rise to both the CLP and CMP. While the CMP will differentiate into cDCs, the CLP will mature into pDCs. However, there is evidence to suggest that immature pDCs in the bone marrow are capable of differentiating into CD8⁺ cDCs (cDC1s) following exposure to viral antigen (72, 73). pDCs are also believed to be long-lived cells, but may exist in a dormant state for most of their lifespan (72).

At the cellular level, pDCs derive their name from their round morphology similar to that of a plasma cell (74). Steady-state pDCs reside primarily in lymphoid organs, are identified by the expression of CD317/BST2 and Ly6C (75, 76), express low levels of CD11c, MHC II and costimulatory molecules, and are positive for the B cell marker B220 (77). However, pDCs express high levels of TLR7 and TLR9, which respond to ssRNA and unmethylated CpG islands respectively. pDCs are specialized in high-level secretion of type 1 interferon (IFN- α/β) in response to viruses and/or virus-derived nucleic acids (24, 78), implicating them as key effectors of antiviral immunity (**Figure 3**). This distinguishing pDC feature can be attributed to a baseline expression of *Irf7* (the master regulator of IFN expression) (79, 80) and to post-translational mechanisms that prime pDCs for rapid IFN secretion following viral challenge (81). In response to influenza infection, pDCs will also secrete chemokines including CXCL8, CXCL10, CCL3 and CCL4 to attract immune cells to the site of inflammation (82).

Under certain conditions, pDCs secrete TGF- β and ICOSL to promote Treg expansion (83, 84). Further, pDC activation includes the secretion of other pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNFa (85) and IL-12 (86), as well as the acquisition of antigen presentation capabilities (87). Together, these factors promote pDC-mediated CD8⁺ T cell responses (88). Overall, steady-state pDCs resemble lymphocytes, but adopt a more cDC-like phenotype following activation by viral antigen (reviewed in (89)). pDCs are especially important for inducing plasma cell differentiation (90), establishing pDCs as a key link between innate and adaptive immunity.



Figure 3. Functions of dendritic cell subsets. cDC1s and cDC2s are specialized in promoting type I and type II immune responses respectively, however cDC1s can also mediate type II responses and cDC2s can also mediate type I responses. pDCs are specialized in antiviral immune responses, but can also promote CD8⁺ T cell and plasma cell activation. Adapted from Durai and Murphy, *Immunity*, 2016 (66) and Swiecki and Colonna, *Nat. Rev. Immunol.*, 2015 (89).

1.1.5 BMDCs as a model for DC biology

DCs represent a relatively rare cell population *in vivo*. for example, DCs make up roughly 1-3% of a healthy human adult spleen (91). For this reason, much of our understanding of DC biology has been gleaned from *in vitro* models. In particular, treatment of murine hematopoietic precursors with granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) or with FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand (Flt3L) has been used to differentiate CD11c⁺MHCII⁺ cells that resemble *in vivo* tissue DCs (reviewed in (51)). These cells, termed bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BMDCs), have been used extensively to characterize the biochemical and cellular features of DCs. GM-CSF and Flt3L-derived BMDCs are phenotypically different. Whereas GM-CSF-driven cultures do not give rise to pDCs (92), cultures supplemented with Flt3L give rise to three unique DC subsets including CD172a^{high} and CD172a^{low} cDC-like DCs and B220⁺ pDCs (60, 93, 94). These cells have been shown to resemble their splenic counterparts at a phenotypic and functional level as measured by antigen presentation, cytokine production and TLR expression (60).

However, the resemblance between tissue DCs and BMDCs has been controversial. For example, GM-CSF-derived BMDC cultures have been shown to be heterogeneous with regards to hematopoietic origin and gene expression profiles (95). It has been suggested that CD11c⁺MHCII⁺ cells derived from BMDC cultures actually encompass at least two distinct cell populations that

are derived from either a monocytic or DC myelopoietic branch, and that both cell types display unique immune phenotypes following LPS stimulation (95). In an effort to inhibit monocyte differentiation, GM-CSF is often used in conjunction with IL-4 (96). Nonetheless, cell types derived from BMDC cultures remain heterogeneous and are pooled for subsequent analysis, resulting in experimental findings that can be difficult to interpret. Efforts have been made to discriminate the heterogeneity of BMDC cultures. For example, one group characterized adherent, loosely-adherent and adherent BMDC culture cells and found that non-adherent BMDCs were mostly homogenous and cDC-like based on their expression of costimulatory molecules (97). Though there are limitations associated with GM-CSF and Flt3L-driven BMDC culture systems, they nonetheless provide a means to generate large cell numbers that are phenotypically similar to tissue DCs. Still, further research is necessary to isolate BMDC subsets and to optimize the GM-CSF and Flt3L culture systems to produce homogenous DCs that resemble *in vivo* subsets.

1.2 The mammalian immune system: adaptive immunity

The innate immune system provides a fast-acting mechanism to protect the host from invading pathogens. However, complete pathogen clearance may necessitate a robust immune response provided by the adaptive immune system. For example, intracellular pathogens (such as viruses) exert their pathology within non-immune cells and in doing so are effectively hidden from the innate response.

Adaptive immunity is highly specific; while the germline-encoded membrane-bound receptors of innate cells limit their specificity, membrane-bound receptors on adaptive cells can distinguish subtle differences in antigen structure, enabling an immune response tailored to the invading pathogen (98). Robust immunological memory is also a distinguishing feature of adaptive immunity; due to the differentiation of memory lymphocytes following initial antigen exposure, recurrent exposure of the immune system to an antigen enhances the ability of the immune system to respond to that antigen in the future.

Importantly, two complementary mechanisms, central and peripheral tolerance, are in place to help ensure that the adaptive immune system responds to foreign antigens while remaining immunologically unresponsive to self-antigens (reviewed in (99)). Central tolerance occurs during lymphocyte development in the thymus and bone marrow and refers to the processes of positive and negative selection that promote the death of self-reactive lymphocytes. Though efficient, central tolerance mechanisms are insufficient to delete all self-reactive lymphocytes, in part because not all self-antigens are expressed to a high-enough degree in the thymus and bone marrow (100, 101). Therefore, peripheral tolerance mechanisms are utilized to promote tolerance of lymphocytes that first encounter their cognate self-antigens outside of the thymus and bone marrow (e.g. antigens uniquely expressed during chronic infection). For example, anergy is a peripheral tolerance mechanism whereby T cells activated in the absence of costimulation enter a long-term hyporesponsive state (reviewed in (102)). A break in tolerance, whereby an adaptive immune response is mounted toward self-molecules (such as myelin) can induce severe autoimmune pathology that greatly endangers the host (103).

1.2.1 T cell development

Adaptive immunity is mediated by two major lymphocyte populations that coordinate distinct immunological programs; T cells (which express the T cell receptor - TCR) drive cell-mediated adaptive immune responses, while B cells (which express the B cell receptor - BCR) direct humoral immunity. During development, both T and B lymphocytes undergo VDJ recombination, whereby germline-encoded genes are re-assembled to produce a receptor with unique antigen specificity (104, 105). Since the assembled genes are randomly selected from a vast pool of germline-encoded genes, millions of receptor combinations are possible, enabling the specificity of adaptive immunity.

T cells develop in the thymus where they undergo the process of selection in addition to VDJ recombination (106). Briefly, medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs) express a transcriptional activator named autoimmune regulator (AIRE), which will stimulate the expression of numerous self-molecules (107, 108). T cells equipped with TCRs that react too strongly to these self-molecules will be deleted (negative selection), and remaining T cells enter the periphery (109). In addition to the TCR, T cells also express either CD4 or CD8 coreceptors, which determine the T cells' interaction with MHC molecules on antigen-presenting cells (APCs); CD4⁺ T cells can bind to antigen presented by MHC II, while CD8⁺ T cells can respond to MHC I. Since T cell activation requires TCR interaction with MHC molecules (which are self-molecules), T cell development in

the thymus also includes a process known as positive selection, whereby TCRs lacking affinity for self-molecules are deleted (110).

1.2.2 T cell activation and differentiation

T cell activation requires antigen presentation by professional APCs. There are three APCs, including DCs, macrophages, and to a smaller extent, activated B cells. However, DCs are unrivaled in their ability to activate T cells (20). Following PAMP/PRR interaction, DCs express CCR7 that is used to follow a chemokine gradient of CCL19 and CCL21 to the T cell zones of the draining lymph node (48). There, DCs communicate the three immunological signals (antigen presentation, costimulation and cytokine secretion) to T cells whose TCR is specific for the presented antigen (**Figure 1**). Once the pMHC:TCR interaction is stabilized, the DC conveys costimulation that activates the T cell. For example, CD80 and CD86 on DCs will bind to the costimulatory molecule CD28 on T cells, triggering IL-2 production by the T cell that acts in an autocrine fashion to promote expansion and survival (111). Finally, the cytokine profile produced by the DC, along with the strength of costimulation, will instruct CD4⁺ T cell differentiation into one of several specialized effector T cell subsets. These subtypes include T_H1 , T_H2 , T_H17 , Treg, T_H9 and T_{fh} , and each play a major role in mediating cell-mediated immunity through the secretion of specific cytokines (112). In addition to polarizing CD4⁺ T cells, DCs also re-activate memory T cells following secondary antigen exposure (113).

 T_H1 differentiation is initiated by IFN γ and IL-12, which will activate T-box transcription factor (T-bet), the master regulator of T_H1 differentiation. T_H1 cells are important for the elimination of intracellular pathogens, but are also associated with organ specific autoimmunity (114). They secrete IFN γ , IL-2 and lymphotoxin-a (LTa). IFN γ enhances phagocytic activity by activating macrophages and other phagocytes (115), while IL-2 promotes CD8⁺ T cell proliferation required to kill infected cells (116). LFa is associated with autoimmune disease.

IL-4 and IL-2 initiate T_H2 differentiation by activating the master regulator GATA3, (117). T_H2 cells secrete a variety of cytokines, including IL-4, IL-5, IL-9, IL-13, IL-10 and IL-25. T_H2 immunity promotes the clearance of extracellular parasites (such as helminths), but also drive asthma pathology and other allergic disease (114, 118).

Several key cytokines promote T_H17 differentiation, including IL-6, IL-21, IL-23 and TGF- β . Together, these factors drive the expression of ROR γ t, the master regulator of T_H17 immunity (119). T_H17 cells secrete IL-17A, IL-21 and IL-22, which direct an immune response against extracellular bacteria and fungi, but have also been shown to exacerbate autoimmune pathology (120).

Tregs can be further classified into two subtypes depending on their lineage. Induced Tregs (iTregs) are defined as FOXP3⁺CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells that develop in peripheral lymphoid organs following APC-mediated naive CD4⁺ cell activation, which differ from natural Tregs (nTregs) that are released directly from the thymus already expressing FOXP3, the major Treg transcription factor (121). FOXP3 expression in iTregs is driven by TGF- β , and both iTregs and nTregs contribute to immunological tolerance by negatively regulating the immune response. Tregs secrete large amounts of IL-10, a potent inhibitory cytokine that suppresses the proinflammatory response and attenuates IgE production, thus limiting tissue damage incurred by an active immune response (122, 123), as well as IgE-driven allergic inflammation (124).

APCs presenting antigen on MHC I complexes can also activate and differentiate CD8⁺ T cells into cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) (125, 126). CTLs function mainly to recognize infected host cells presenting the same antigen and to subsequently kill them by delivering cytotoxic proteins (mainly granzymes and perforin) into the host cell to trigger apoptosis (127).

1.2.3 B cell development

B cells develop in the bone marrow, where they undergo VDJ recombination and a selection process similar to T cells in the thymus (128). Immature B cells then migrate to the spleen where they differentiate into mature, naïve B cells. Mature B cells remain in the spleen or migrate to the B cell zones of lymph nodes where they encounter soluble antigen or larger antigens attached to the surface of neighboring cells including macrophages and follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) (129–131).

1.2.4 B cell activation

B cell activation can occur through a T-cell-dependent or T-cell-independent mechanism. Antigens

expressed in an organized, highly repetitive fashion can activate B cells independently of T cells by crosslinking BCRs in a multivalent fashion (132). Otherwise, robust B cell activation requires CD4⁺ T cell help. In T-cell-dependent B cell activation, naïve CD4⁺ T cells are activated in the T cell zones of lymph nodes by APCs and upregulate CD40L. The same antigen (in its native conformation) will be engulfed by B cells in the B cell zone, processed, and presented on MHC II complexes. Similar to DCs at barrier sites, B cells upregulate CD40 and CCR7 and migrate to the T cell zone by a gradient of CCL19 and CCL21. This enables T:B cell interaction that will activate the B cell through CD40 stimulation by CD40L on the activated CD4⁺ T cell (133).

Activated B cells proliferate rapidly to form a "germinal center". Here, activated B cells undergo isotype switching and somatic hypermutation, during which the BCR is heavily mutated to improve specificity with its cognate antigen (134). Only B cells that bind their respective antigens with high affinity are selected to survive and differentiate into antibody-producing plasma cells that neutralize foreign antigen.

1.3 Sex differences in immunity

A substantial body of literature suggests sexual dimorphism in immune response; females typically mount a more potent response than males. An individual's biological sex (i.e. male, female) is defined by chromosomal content, reproductive organs and sex steroid levels, and is distinct from gender (i.e. man, woman), which refers to behaviors and activities defined by a society's cultural values. Although gender may dictate behaviors that influence the course of infection, sex as a biological variable has been studied more extensively. Sex-mediated differences are seen in both the innate and adaptive branches of immunity, and may be explained by both genetic and hormonal mediators (135).

1.3.1 Sex differences in innate immunity

Key features of innate immunity including PRRs, cellular composition and cytokine production differ between the sexes. For example, female mice are more sensitive to viral antigens; the X-linked PRR *Tlr7*, which detects ssRNA, escapes X-inactivation, resulting in higher *Tlr7* expression and increased sensitivity to viral stimuli (136). Indeed, human female peripheral blood

mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and pDCs stimulated *in vitro* with TLR-7 ligands secrete more IFNa than human males (137, 138). Interestingly, no sex bias is observed for TLR-9 stimulation (137), which is not X-linked. Moreover, TLR pathway and pro-inflammatory gene expression (including *MyD88*, *Irf7*, *Ifnb*, *Nfkb Ifng* and *Tnf*) are higher in female mice than in male mice (139, 140).

The composition and activity of innate cells differ between the sexes in mice. Notably, APCs from female mice have been shown to be more efficient at presenting peptides than APCs from male mice (141). Both neutrophils and macrophages from females are more phagocytic than their male counterparts (142). In addition, the draining lymph nodes of female SJL mice have been found to have a reduced number of ILC2s, which is thought to contribute to increased autoimmune pathology in mouse models of multiple sclerosis (MS) (143). Interestingly, androgens have been shown to negatively regulate ILC2 development (144), and the lungs of female C57BL/6 mice have been shown to harbor significantly greater ILC2 numbers than the lungs of male mice (145). The increased ILC2 population in female lungs may render females more susceptible to potent allergic respiratory inflammation (144, 145).

Several studies have shown a prominent sex-bias in cytokine and chemokine production, which represent major functions of innate immunity. For example, TLR-9 stimulation on PBMCs from human males results in greater IL-10 production, and thus an enhanced anti-inflammatory phenotype compared to human females (146). Although females are generally more proinflammatory than males, certain exceptions exist, particularly in the context of TLR-4. For example, murine *Tlr4* expression is greater on male cells than on female cells, thus LPS-activated neutrophils and peritoneal macrophages from mouse and human male mice are more proinflammatory than mouse and human female cells as measured by the production of TNF (147) and CXCL10 (148). Therefore, whereas females express more *Tlr7/TLR7* pathway genes than males, *Tlr4/TLR4* is more highly expressed on male cells. Since *Tlr7* and *Tlr4* respond to viral and bacterial stimuli respectively, the observed sex-bias in PRR expression may underlie fundamental differences in male and female innate immunity, and may seed downstream bias in adaptive immunity.

1.3.2 Sex differences in adaptive immunity

Multiple studies have confirmed sex bias among CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells and B cells. For

example, adult females have more CD4⁺ T cells and a higher CD4/CD8 ratio compared to agematched males (149), and this finding has been described in multiple ethnic groups (150–152). The same studies found males to have a higher CD8⁺ T cell frequency. However, females have more activated CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells compared to males following PBMC stimulation *in vitro* (149, 153). Transcriptional analyses corroborate these findings; T cells from females stimulated with PMA:ionomycin upregulate both antiviral and pro-inflammatory genes to a higher degree than T cells from males (154).

As previously discussed, the cytokine profile secreted by APCs instruct CD4⁺ T cell polarization into one of several T cell subsets. The activity and distribution of these subsets differ significantly between the sexes. For example, females produce more T_H1 -type cytokines (especially IFN γ) following parasitic infection (155), resulting in enhanced protection among females. PBMCs from females stimulated with mitogen phytohaemagglutinin (PHA) secrete elevated levels of T_H2 -type cytokines (especially IL-4) compared to male PBMCs (156). Importantly, human studies suggest higher numbers of Tregs in adult males compared to females, contributing to a less inflammatory environment (157).

Sex as a biological variable has perhaps been most well characterized in the context of B cell immunity. Females have been shown to mount greater antibody responses and possess higher basal immunoglobulin levels and higher B cell numbers compared to males (149, 158, 159). Further, the majority of genes that show sexually dimorphic expression patterns are significantly upregulated in B cells from females compared to males (160).

1.3.3 Genetic mediators of sex differences in immunity

Males and females differ in their chromosomal content; males are XY, while females are XX. Many immune genes are encoded on the X chromosome. X-linked immune genes include those involved in both innate (*Tlr7*, *Tlr8*) and adaptive (*Il12rg*, *Foxp3*) immunity. Since numerous genes have been shown to escape X-inactivation, X-linked immune genes may be more highly expressed in XX females, contributing to sex differences in immune function (161). The Y chromosome encodes a limited set of genes, but polymorphisms in the Y chromosome have been shown to contribute to susceptibility to viral infection (162). The X chromosome also encodes 10% of the 800 miRNAs in the mammalian genome, whereas the Y chromosome only encodes two miRNAs (163). miRNAs are short RNA transcripts with regulatory function. Few studies have looked at the role of miRNAs in mediating sex-biased immunity, however at least two X-linked miRNAs (miRNA-18 and miRNA-19) have been shown to influence sex differences in immune response (reviewed in (164, 165)). For example, miRNA-18 was found to be upregulated during relapse in MS patients and thus may contribute to the inflammatory processes that induce relapse (166). As an X-linked miRNA, miRNA-18 is more highly expressed in females, which may partially explain the higher incidence of MS and MS relapse among females. In addition, miRNA-19 has been found to promote T_H1 , T_H2 and T_H17 differentiation (167–169), which may explain the enhanced T cell responses observed in females.

Genetic disorders implicating the X chromosome have been informative in describing the effects of the X chromosome on immune response. For instance, Klinefelter syndrome occurs when males acquire an extra X chromosome (XXY males). Men with Klinefelter syndrome respond more like XX females in the context of immune challenge; they have higher immunoglobulin concentrations, CD4⁺ T cell numbers, CD4/CD8 T cell ratios and B cell numbers than XY males (170). In contrast, females with Turner syndrome (that is, females with only one X chromosome or with major X chromosome deletions) have lower IgG and IgM levels and fewer T and B cells compared to XX females (171). Interestingly, Klinefelter males develop autoimmune disorders at a rate similar to XX females, while Turner females are less likely than XX females to develop autoimmune pathologies (172, 173). Together, these findings implicate the X chromosome as a driver of autoimmune pathology.

1.3.4 Hormonal mediators of sex differences in immunity

Sex hormones include 17 β -estradiol (E2), progesterone (P4) and androgens, and have been well studied in the context of inflammation. For example, androgen response elements (AREs) and estrogen response elements (EREs) are present in the promoters of several innate immunity genes (140), and half of the activated genes in female-derived T cells contain EREs in their promoters (154), suggesting that sex hormones heavily influence both innate and adaptive immunity differently between the sexes.

E2 has been shown to be a major mediator of innate immunity and thus adaptive responses downstream. Exogenous E2 treatment promotes neutrophil expansion (174), and enhances NK cell

cytotoxicity by promoting IFN γ production (175). However, E2 also reduces the expression of NK cell surface activation markers and their secretion of granzyme B (176). E2's effect on monocytes and macrophages is concentration-dependent; a low dose of E2 promotes a pro-inflammatory response characterized by elevated pro-inflammatory cytokine production (including IL-1, IL-6 and TNF), while a high dose of E2 instead promotes an anti-inflammatory response characterized by a reduction in these cytokines (177). E2 has also been found to enhance the expression of *Tlr4* on the surface of murine peritoneal macrophages (178).

E2 is especially important in driving DC development and function. E2 exposure *in vitro* facilitates HSC differentiation into functional CD11c⁺ DCs (179, 180) and promotes pro-inflammatory cytokine and chemokine production *in vivo* (181–183). Together with GM-CSF, E2 promotes monocyte differentiation into inflammatory DCs that show enhanced pro-inflammatory cytokine expression, TLR-9 signaling, antigen processing and antigen presentation to naïve T cells (184).

E2 contributes to both cell-mediated and humoral immune responses. Briefly, low-dose E2 promotes T_H1 -type responses and cell-mediated immunity by upregulating T-bet and IFN γ (185), whereas high-dose E2 favors T_H2 -type responses and humoral immunity (186). E2 also supports Treg expansion *in vivo* (187) and *in vitro* (188), and also decreases IL-17 secretion by T_H17 cells (189). Importantly, physiological levels of E2 stimulate humoral responses to infection (190) in part by inducing somatic hypermutation and isotype switching (191).

P4 has an overall anti-inflammatory effect and signals through progesterone receptors expressed by several immune subtypes including NK cells, macrophages, DCs and T cells (192). Macrophages and DCs treated with P4 are less activated and produce lower amounts of proinflammatory cytokines (193, 194). TLR and NF- κ B pathways are also antagonized by P4 (193, 195). Progesterone has also been shown to skew CD4⁺ T cells towards T_H2 immunity as characterized by increased expression of T_H2-type cytokines (196). Finally, there is evidence to suggest that P4 can expand FoxP3⁺ Tregs while preventing T_H17 differentiation (197).

Similar to progesterone, dihydrotestosterone (DHT), testosterone and other androgens generally suppress immune cell activity (155). Testosterone reduces NK cell activity *in vivo* (198) and reduces surface expression of TLR-4 on macrophages both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (199). Testosterone reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion (mainly TNFa) by macrophages (200, 201) while

promoting IL-10 and TGF- β , thus reducing inflammation. The immune response of males with androgen deficiencies resemble those of females; low-androgen males produce more proinflammatory cytokines and have higher antibody titers and a higher CD4/CD8 T cell ratio (202– 205). In contrast, female mice dosed with testosterone become less inflammatory (206). Taken together, these studies indicate that sex hormones greatly influence immune activity and therefore represent a major mediator of sex-biased immunity.

1.3.5 Sex differences in disease pathogenesis

Several pathologies including autoimmune disease, malignancy and infectious diseases possess a strong immune component. Since genetic and hormonal mediators dictate a considerable sex-bias in immune response, a strong sex-bias can also be found in disease pathogenesis (Figure 4). 80% of all autoimmune patients in the US are female (207), with the female bias being most pronounced in Sjögren's syndrome, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and thyroid diseases. Animal models have complemented epidemiological studies; the nonobese diabetic (NOD) model of spontaneous type 1 diabetes as well as certain murine strains of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) show a similar female bias (208, 209). Female EAE mice have more activated T_{H1} cells and express higher levels of IFN γ , whereas males show greater T_{H1} 7-type immunity (209, 210). Interestingly, castration of male mice exacerbates pathology while ovariectomy of female mice attenuates disease progression (211), implicating sex hormones in autoimmunity.

Sex is also an important factor in the pathogenesis and prognosis of several cancers. In general, males are at a high risk of malignancy (212) and a twofold greater risk of mortality from malignant cancers compared to females (213). Cancer treatments also show sex-specific outcomes; immune checkpoint inhibitors are more efficacious in females than in males (214). The cause of the observed male-bias is unknown, but it is hypothesized to be in part the result of a relatively suppressed immune system with a reduced capacity for tumor immunosurveillance (213).

Males are generally more susceptible to infectious diseases caused by bacteria, viruses, parasites and fungi (215). In particular, pre-pubescent males are at highest risk; newborn males are more susceptible to terminal infection (216), and school-aged males in several countries have higher rates of protozoan, trematode and nematode infections (217, 218). In addition, HIV-1-infected females often have reduced viral load and enhanced T cell activation compared to males (218).

Together, epidemiological studies parallel mechanistic findings and highlight important sex differences that contribute to pathology. In spite of this growing body of evidence, immunology ranks the lowest of ten biological disciplines for reporting the biological sex of the animal or human subject, with fewer than 10% of original research articles analyzing data by sex (219).



Figure 4. Sex bias in inflammatory disorders, infectious diseases and non-reproductive cancers. Females are at a higher risk of developing autoimmune pathologies, but men are at a higher risk of developing non-reproductive cancers. An asterix (*) identifies autoimmune diseases that females are at least four-times at higher risk of developing compared to males. Adapted from Klein and Flanagan, *Nat. Rev. Immunol.*, 2016 (135).

1.3.6 The murine estrus cycle

In response to systemic changes in E2 and P4, the endometrium of the uterus undergoes extensive remodeling in preparation for embryo implantation, placenta formation and gestation. If fertilization fails to occur, the uterine lining is again remodeled. This process repeats itself until a successful fertilization event occurs (220, 221). Since the process is both cyclical and mediated mainly by female sex hormones (although non-steroid hormones such as pituitary gonadotrophins and prolactin also influence uterine remodeling events), it is referred to as the estrus cycle.

The murine estrus cycle requires 4-5 days to complete and includes four distinct stages: proestrus,

estrus, metestrus and diestrus (222, 223). Identifying the stage of the estrus cycle can be useful for mating purposes and for research purposes. As a result, a variety of methods have been developed to determine estrus stage and include vaginal cytology (222–224), electrical impedance (225), biochemical analysis of urine (226) and visual observation of the external genitalia (227).

Vaginal cytology is one of the most widespread and practical approaches for identifying all four estrus cycle stages (228) (Figure 5). Proestrus vaginal smears are characterized by the presence of clustered nucleated epithelial cells among anucleated cornified epithelial cells. The estrus stage consists almost entirely of cornified epithelial cells. Vaginal smears with a mix of cornified epithelial cells and leukocytes are indicative of metestrus, while a near-homogenous population of leukocytes correlates with the diestrus stage (223). In mice, systemic E2 increases gradually during metestrus and diestrus, and peaks in proestrus before declining rapidly prior to the estrus stage. In contrast, P4 peaks in diestrus (229, 230).

Similar to other mucosal tissues, the uterus harbors a diverse immune cell population, of which certain subsets have been shown to increase or decrease during different stages of the estrus cycle (231, 232). Interestingly, most immune cell populations in the uterus, particularly granulocytes, peak in number during the estrus stage (233). However, it is unknown whether similar fluctuations in immune cell number occur in other tissues, including in the spleen and lymph nodes.



Figure 5. The murine estrus cycle comprises four distinct stages that can be identified by vaginal cytology. The proestrus stage is identified by the presence of clusters of nucleated epithelial cells as well as high serum concentrations of luteinizing (LH), folliclehormone stimulating hormone (FH) and E2. Cornified epithelial cells and elevated serum prolactin are characteristic of the estrus stage. A mix of cornified epithelial cells and leukocytes identifies the metestrus which stage, is generally low in LH, FH and prolactin, but possesses increasing levels of E2 and P4. P4 peaks during the diestrus stage, which is characterized by the presence of primarily Adapted leukocytes. from McLean et al. J. Vis. Exp., 2012 (323).

1.4 Epigenetic regulation of gene expression

Broadly defined, epigenetics refers to the regulation of gene expression by mechanisms other than changes in DNA sequence (234, 235). Epigenetic modifications regulate transcription factor accessibility to chromatin and include DNA methylation (236) and histone modifications (237, 238) (**Tables 1 & 2**). Epigenetic mechanisms have also emerged as an area of interest in the study of immune cell development and function (239–242), with a comprehensive atlas of chromatin accessibility in eighty-six immune cell types recently reported (243).
Enzyme Family	Examples	Catalyzed Residue(s)*	Transcriptional Response	
DNA Methyltransferase	DNMT1		Activation/Repression	
(DNMT)	DNMT3a	Cytosine		
• •	DNMT3b			
DNA Demethylase	TET1-3	5-methylcytosine (5mC)**	Activation	
	HAT1	H2AK5 ; H4K5, H4K12		
	p300	H2AK5 ; H2BK5, K12, K15, K20; H3K9, K14, K18, K23, K27 ; H4K5		
	CBP	H2AK5 ; H2BK12, K15 ; H3K18, K23, K27		
Illede a s	hGCN5	H3K9, K14, K18, K23		
Histone Acetyltransferase	Tip60	H2AK5, H3K14, H4K5	Activation	
-	PCAF	H3K14	Activation	
(HAT)	SRC-1	H3K9, K14		
	OGA	H3K14		
	CLOCK	H3K14		
	hMOF	H4K16		
	ATF2	H2BK5, K12, K15 ; H4K5		
	KMT2A-G	H3K4		
	KMT2H	H3K4, H3K36		
Histone	KMT3A	H3K36		
Methyltransferase	KMT3B	H3K36, H4K20		
(HMT)	KMT3C	H3K4, H3K36	Activation	
((1)((1))	KMT4	H3K79		
	KMT7	H3K4		
	CARM1	H3R2, R17, R26		
	PRMT1	H4R3		
	KDM3A-B	Н3К9	Activation	
	JMJD1C	НЗК9	//00//00//	
	KDM4A	H3K9, H3K36, H1.4K26		
	KDM4B	H3K9, H3K36, H1.4K26	Activation/Repression	
Lysine Demethylase	KDM4C	H3K9, H3K36, H1.4K26		
(KDM)	KDM4D	НЗК9		
(1.2.11)	KDM6A	H3K27		
	KDM6B	H3K27	Activation	
	KDM7A	H3K9, H3K27		
	PHF8	НЗК9		
	PHF2	НЗК9		

Table 1. Enzymes mediating transcriptional activation. *Lysine (K), arginine (R). ** TET catalyzes 5mC to 5hmC, which will be repaired by thymine-DNA glycosylase (TDG) to yield non-methylated cytosine. Adapted from Boukhaled *et. al., Front. Immunol.*, 2019 (235).

Enzyme Family	Examples	Catalyzed Residue(s)*	Transcriptional Response
DNA Methyltransferase (DNMT)	DNMT1 DNMT3a DNMT3b	Cytosine	Activation/Repression
Histone Deacetylase (HDAC) HDAC1-11 SIRT1 K residues, specificity unknown BIRT1 H1K26 ; H3K9, K14, K56 ; H4K16 SIRT2 H3K56 ; H4K16 SIRT3 H4K16 SIRT4-5 None SIRT6 H3K9, K56 SIRT7 H3K18		Repression	
Histone Methyltransferase (HMT)	KMT1A-B KMT1C KMT1D KMT1E-F KMT5A-C KMT6 PRMT5 PRMT6	H3K9 H3K9, H3K27, H3K56 H3K9, H3K27 H3K9 H4K20 H3K9, H3K27 H3R8 H3R2	Repression
	KDM1A KDM1B KDM2A KDM2B	H3K4, H3K9 H3K4 H3K36 H3K36, H3K4	Repression
Lysine Demethylase (KDM)	KDM4A KDM4B KDM4C	H3K9, H3K36, H1.4K26 H3K9, H3K36, H1.4K26 H3K9, H3K36, H1.4K26	Activation/Repression
	KDM5A-D KDM8 NO66	H3K4 H3K36 H3K4, H3K36	Repression
Really Interesting New Gene (RING)	RING1A RING1B	H2AK119ub1 (E3 Ligase activity)	Repression

Table 2. Enzymes mediating transcriptional repression. *Lysine (K), arginine (R). Adapted from Boukhaled *et. al., Front. Immunol.*, 2019 (235).

1.4.1 DNA methylation

DNA methylation of cytosine residues (5-methylcytosine; 5mC) is mediated by the family of DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) (236, 244, 245). The propagation of methylated DNA can occur in two contexts; DNMT1 at the replication fork mediates the inheritance of methylation signatures from a mother cell to daughter cells, while *de novo* methylation is driven primarily by DMNT3A/B (246). The relationship between a gene's methylation profile and its activation is complex. For example, DNA methylation in promoter regions antagonizes gene expression, whereas methylation within the gene body generally promotes gene activation (236).

DNA methylation is a reversible process; loss of 5mC can occur passively through cell division (where methylation is not copied) or can be actively mediated in a replication-independent manner

by Ten eleven translocation (TET) hydroxylases (244). TET hydroxylases catalyze the oxidation of 5mC to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC) in an Fe2⁺- and α -ketoglutarate-dependent manner (247). 5hmC can be iteratively oxidized by TET enzymes to other oxidized cytosines that are recognized and excised by thymine DNA glycosylase and replaced with an unmodified cytosine by base-excision repair. 5hmC is found in promoter gene bodies of actively transcribed genes, suggesting that it may have functions other than mediating DNA demethylation (244, 248, 249).

1.4.2 Histone modification

The enzymatic addition or removal of chemical groups to the four core histones (H2A, H2B, H3 and H4) modulate nucleosome structure and thus influence chromatin dynamics and gene activity by determining the location and activity of regulatory factors that control transcription (250). The most widely studied histone modifications are acetylation, methylation and ubiquitylation (251–256). The complete set of these marks constitute the histone code and ultimately determines the activation status of a gene (237).

In general, the acetylation of lysine residues provides a relaxed chromatin landscape amenable to transcriptional activation. Acetylation and deacetylation activities are mediated by histone acetyltransferases (HATs) and histone deacetylases (HDACs) respectively. Histone methylation is more complex and its regulatory effect on gene expression is dependent on context. For example, H3K4 trimethylation (H3K4me3) is considered a euchromatin mark generally associated with transcriptional activation, but H3K9 trimethylation (H3K9me3) is enriched in transcriptionally inactive loci and is thus associated with heterochromatin. Further, the two marks are thought to be incapable of co-localizing, since the H3K9 methyltransferases SETDB1, EHMT1, EHMT2 and SUV39H1 can only function in the absence of H3K4me3 (257, 258). There are many described histone methyltransferases (HMTs) and lysine demethylases (KDM) that target a wide range of lysine and arginine residues. Finally, ubiquitination has been mostly studied in the context of Really Interesting New Gene (RING) proteins that are associated with polycomb repressive complex 1 (PRC1) and deposit ubiquitin on H2A.

Profiling a set of well-studied histone marks can give an overall picture of the activity of a given gene or regulatory region. H3K36me3, H3K27Ac, and H3K4me3 are commonly enriched at active genes, whereas H3K27me3 and H3K9me3 are enriched at silenced genes. H3K4me1 is often found

at enhancers while H3K4me3 is enriched at active promoters (259). An enhancer is considered "poised" if it carries H3K4me1 alone or in combination with H3K27me3, and is considered active if H3K4me1 is in combination with H3K27ac (260–263). The genome-wide histone modification profile helps determine cellular identity in part by instructing binding events at specific chromosomal loci; histone modifications can alter the accessibility of transcriptional machinery at underlying genes, or can serve as beacons to recruit chromatin remodelers to either detect, deposit, or remove these histone marks (264). Any irregularities in this system can thus threaten cellular identity, potentially initiating disease (265, 266).

1.4.3 Epigenetic regulation of DC function

Expanding evidence suggests that epigenetic modifications contribute significantly to the regulation of DC function (**Table 3**). Epigenetic mechanisms are implicated in the maintenance of the steady-state and responses to activating stimuli. For example, Polycomb group factor 6 (PCGF6) is a member of Polycomb repressive complex 1 (PRC1.6), which is known to promote gene silencing by catalyzing the monoubiquitylation of histone H2A by a RING E3 ligase (267, 268). In DCs, PCGF6 is necessary to maintain the steady-state (269). More specifically, PCGF6 functions to antagonize genes important for DC activation by promoting H3K4 demethylation.

As previously discussed, DCs must provide at least three signals to activate T cells: antigen presentation (signal 1), co-stimulation (signal 2), and lineage-specifying cytokine production (signal 3). The expression of proteins that constitute these signals are regulated transcriptionally, and increasing evidence suggests they are also regulated epigenetically. In steady-state splenic DCs, the expression of costimulatory molecules *Cd80* and *Cd86* is repressed by H3K27me3, which is relieved by the H3K27 demethylase KDM6B (JMJD3) during LPS stimulation (270). Furthermore, the repressive mark H3K9me3 was found to be enriched at the promoters of proinflammatory cytokines *ll12a*, *ll12b*, and *ll23* in steady-state BMDCs. Upregulation of these cytokines in LPS-activated BMDCs is largely governed by the recruitment of Trabid, a deubiquitinase that stabilizes the H3K9 demethylase KDM4D (JMJD2D) (271). Nucleosome Remodeling Deacetylase complex (NuRD) also reinforces DC activation by suppressing antigen uptake and processing (*Cd68*, *Slc11a*) and stimulating antigen presentation (*Ciita*, *H2-Aa*) (272). This occurs by stabilizing antigen-loaded MHC and by upregulation of specific costimulatory molecules and cytokines.

Immune mediators in the inflammatory microenvironment such as cytokines, chemokines and lipids can temper DC responses to activating stimuli. IL-10 has long been known to potently downregulate IL-12 production (273). HDAC11 represses IL10 and in doing so, promotes the activation and IL-12 production of primary human DCs, which is required for efficient CD4⁺ T cell differentiation (274). STAT6, a downstream effector of IL-4 signaling, also antagonizes histone acetylation at the *Il10* promoter following LPS stimulation (275). Lipid mediators, such as prostaglandins, can also be sculptors of the epigenome in DCs. Prostaglandin I2 suppresses H3K4me3 enrichment at the TNFA promoter by inhibiting components of a methyltransferase complex, MLL and WDR5, from translocating into the nucleus (276). A further study by the same group found that antagonism of the cysteinyl leukotriene receptor promotes an anti-inflammatory phenotype in human moDCs by enhancing H3 acetylation at the *IL10* promoter (277). Inhibiting chromatin remodelers could be an effective therapeutic avenue for inflammatory conditions, in particular those driven by TNFa or controlled by IL-10. Together these studies demonstrate that epigenetic mechanisms significantly contribute to the activation of DCs, and importantly, that factors in the inflammatory environment that modify the epigenome may have lasting effects on DC responsiveness.

KDM6B (JMJD3) H3K27 demethyl WDR5 H3K4 methyltransfera DC activation KDM4D (JMJD2D) H3K9 demethyla NuRD complex Histone deacetyla	se TNFA	Recruited by Trabid	(263) (269) (264)
Promotes DC activation WDR5 methyltransfera KDM4D (JMJD2D) NuRD	se	Recruited by Trabid	, , ,
DC (JMJD2D) H3K9 demethyla activation NuRD	ise <i>II12, II23</i>	Recruited by Trabid	(264)
activation NuRD			
(HDAC1, complex HDAC2)	ation Tnfrsf9, Cd40, Cd80, Cd86 Cd68, Slc11a, Ciita. H2-Aa		(265)
HDAC11 Histone deacetyl	ase IL10		(267)
Promotes DC PCGF6 Transcriptiona repressor	al Ciita, H2-Ab1, II12a, II12b	Forms complex with KDM5C	(262)
steady- KDM5B H3K4 demethyla	ase Ifnb, II6, Tnfa	Upregulated by RSV	(271)
state HDAC2 Histone deacetyl	ase II6	Recruited by Tet2	(273)

 Table 3. Epigenetic factors that influence DC activity. Adapted from Boukhaled et. al.,

 Front. Immunol., 2019 (235).

1.4.4 DC epigenetics in inflammatory diseases

The study of antiviral immunity has provided key insights into the contribution of epigenetic mechanisms to DC activation. For example, respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infection can be cleared by a T_H1 cytokine profile, but RSV-infected patients often mount a T_H2 cytokine response non-conducive to efficient RSV clearance. One group found aberrant T_H2 responses to be driven by an RSV-mediated upregulation of endogenous H3K4 demethylase KDM5B in several DC types, a transcriptional repressor of T_H1 -associated cytokines important for RSV clearance (278). Furthermore, during viral infection in mice, TET2 is recruited by CXXC5 to the *Irf7* promoter to induce *Irf7* hypomethylation and expression in pDCs, resulting in the onset of an antiviral response (279). Given the role of TET2 in stabilizing HDAC2 at the *Il6* promoter (280), TET2 drives dichotomous DC functions; while TET2 can recruit HDAC2 to help repress *Il6* and resolve IL-6-driven inflammation, it can also initiate an inflammatory antiviral response by hypomethylating and upregulating *Irf7* expression.

DCs are an important driver of the inflammation associated with autoimmune disease. In particular, histone demethylases and hydroxylases containing the JmjC domain, including KDM5C (JARID1c), JMJD2D, and JMJD3, play a significant role in DC-mediated pathogenesis. KDM5C is an important regulator of the steady-state and activation of murine DCs (269). Trabid promotes experimental autoimmune encephalitis (EAE) by stabilizing JMJD2D at the *II12* promoter, enhancing IL-12 production and immunopathology (271). However, JMJD3 inhibition limits EAE pathology and promotes a tolerogenic DC profile characterized by the reduced expression of CD80/86, and reduced secretion of proinflammatory cytokines IL-6, IFN- γ , and TNF α (270). Several diseases have been linked to aberrant DC methylation profiles in DCs. DNA hypermethylation at the *IRF8* promoter has been noted in Ocular Behcet's Disease (281) and Koyanagi-Harada Disease (282). In both cases, pharmacological DNA demethylation suppressed proinflammatory cytokine production by patient-derived DCs *ex vivo*. In contrast, genome-wide DNA demethylation was observed in the pDCs of patients with SLE, resulting in increased *IFNA* expression which could contribute to SLE onset (283).

1.4.5 Jumonji AT-rich interactive domain 1c (JARID1c)

JARID1c, also named lysine demethylase 5c (KDM5C) was first identified as an X-linked protein that escapes X-inactivation (284). It's Y-linked paralogue, JARID1d (KDM5D), was discovered as the protein product of the H-Y antigen, which mediates the rejection of male skin grafts by female recipients of the same inbred strain of rodents (285). JARID1 proteins are transcriptional repressors that act by demethylating H3K4 at gene promoters (286). JARID1c encodes 26 exons and six functional domains whose quaternary structure has been determined (287) (**Table 4**). The JmjC domain possesses the enzymatic activity of JARID1c (288–293). The JmjN domain is important for maintaining the structural integrity of the JmjC domain (288). JARID1c also encodes the ARID/BRIGHT domain, which can bind DNA in a sequence-specific and nonsequence specific manner (294, 295). However it is currently unknown whether JARID1c binds to DNA or to adaptor proteins. The PHD domain has been shown to bind H3K9me3 (296, 297). The function of the C5HC2 zinc finger and PHD2 domains are currently unknown, but the structurally similar C2HC4 zinc finger has been shown to be important for the demethylase activity of KDM3A, a JmjCcontaining protein (293). In humans, *JARID1c* is most strongly expressed in the brain and skeletal muscle and lowest in the heart and liver (298).

Domain Name	Protein Location	Function	References
JmjN	aa. 13-59	Interacts with JmjC. The interaction is critical for JARID1c's overall stability and the catalytic function of JmjC	(287)
ARID/BRIGHT	aa. 76-184 A known DNA-binding domain that can bind DNA in a sequence-specific and non-sequence specific manner		(293, 294)
PHD1	aa. 326-374	Binds H3K9me3. Also interacts with JmjC to stabilize both itself and the histone peptide substrate. This interaction also positions H3K4me2/3 into the JmjC catalytic core.	(295, 296)
JmjC	aa. 501-617	Possesses the H3K4me3 and H3K4me2 demethylase catalytic activity. JmjC is also bound to two cofactors that are necessary for its proper function: Ferrous ion (Fe2+) and alpha-ketogluterate (2-oxoglutaric acid)	(287-292)
C5HC2 Zn finger	aa. 707-760	Required for the catalytic/demethylase activity of all JARID proteins	(292)
PHD2	aa. 1187-1250	Unknown	N/A

Table 4. Mouse and human JARID1c encode six domains. JARID1c encodes the JmjJ, ARID/BRIGHT, PHD1, JmjC, C5HC2 Zn finger and PHD2 domains. JmjC possesses JARID1c's H3K4 demethylase activity. The function of the PHD2 domain is unknown.

As they constitute an X-Y pair, JARID1c and JARID1d have been associated with sex-specific diseases; JARID1c in X-Linked Intellectual Disability (XLID) (298) and JARID1d in prostate cancer (299). However, JARID1c has been better characterized. Numerous studies have reported mutations in *JARID1c* among XLID patients (298, 300–308), and two studies reported *JARID1c* mutations in patients with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) (309, 310) (**Figure 6**). Many reported missense mutations in *JARID1c* have been shown to reduce demethylase activity *in vitro* (301). Interestingly, JARID1c functions are highly evolutionarily conserved; JARID1c-deficient mice exhibit abnormal learning and social behavior (311–313), *Drosophila* carrying an allele analogous to a disease-causing mutation in humans show learning and memory defects (314, 315), and *Jarid1c*-knockdown in zebrafish resulted in significant neurodevelopmental defects (316). Mechanistic work in zebrafish demonstrated that JARID1c is implicated in dendritic morphogenesis in neurons by regulating Netrin G2, which mediates neurite growth (317).



Figure 6. Reported JARID1c mutations. Mutations in green indicate mutations with a reported functional decrease in JARID1c enzymatic activity. Mutations in black have been reported among XLID patients, but have not been shown to decrease JARID1c enzymatic activity. Adapted from Jensen et. al., Am. J. Hum. Genet., 2005 (298).

More recently, studies have focused on JARID1c in the context of infection, immunity and cancer. For example, high-risk human papillomavirus (HPV) encodes the E6 protein that is required for cellular transformation following infection. E6 was found to function as an oncoprotein in part by destabilizing JARID1c to allow for the unregulated expression of *EGFR* and *HGFR* oncogenes (318). Furthermore, upon recognition of pathogen-derived or damaged self-DNA, TLR-9 signals through Stimulator of interferon genes (STING) to mount an interferon response. JARID1c was

found to bind to the *STING* promoter in multiple breast cancer cell lines thereby suppressing *STING* (319). Pharmacological inhibition of JARID1c also stimulated a robust interferon response. In addition, *Drosophila* encode the immune deficiency (IMD) pathway, which activates NF- κ B to promote the production of antimicrobial peptides that constitute innate immunity in *Drosophila* (320). A recent study found that KDM5 regulates component genes of the IMD pathway in order to promote host-commensal bacterial homeostasis in the gut (315). Interestingly, a reduction in KDM5 causes intestinal barrier dysfunction and changes in social behavior, suggesting a role for KDM5 in the gut-brain axis. Taken together, JARID1c has been well characterized in neuronal function, but its role in modulating the immune response is only beginning to be understood.

1.5 Rationale and goal of M.Sc. project

Biological sex is increasingly appreciated as an important variable in immune function. Females mount a more robust response than males that can be both beneficial and life-threatening; although an active immune system better protects females from terminal cancers and infectious disease, females are at a much higher risk of developing autoimmune pathology. Several studies have reported on the role of sex hormones and genetic factors in sex-biased immunity. However, the molecular mechanisms that underpin sex-specific immunity remain poorly characterized.

DCs bridge innate and adaptive immunity by presenting antigen in the context of self to antigenspecific T cells. Due to their direct influence on the outcome of an adaptive immune response, inappropriate DC activation can promote a misguided immune response to self-tissue, provoking autoimmune pathology. Studying the mechanisms involved in maintaining the DC steady-state in the absence of pro-inflammatory stimuli and the molecular players that drive activation therefore greatly contribute to our growing understanding of immune-mediated response to infection and pathology.

Our lab has shown that DCs are actively maintained in the steady-state by epigenetic factors such as PCGF6, and that PCGF6 is found in complex with the transcriptional repressor JARID1c. Epigenetic factors in activated DCs have also been reported to drive the expression of proinflammatory cytokines. Sex differences in immunity is well-documented. To better understand the genetic mediators that underpin these differences, we studied the importance of JARID1c and JARID1d in DCs. Since X- and Y-linked transcriptional repressors are thought to exert nonredundant functions, we hypothesize that JARID1c and JARID1d contribute to sex-specific immune responses of DCs. We addressed this hypothesis in the following four objectives:

Objective 1: To characterize similarities and differences in DC activation and function between male and female mice both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. BMDCs were cultured in the presence of LPS, and DC activation was measured by pro-inflammatory gene transcription, expression of surface activation markers and pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion. Spleen and lymph nodes from age-matched male and female mice were also compared to characterize DC populations and DC activation at steady-state *in vivo*.

Objective 2: To determine whether estrus stage is a variable influencing immune cell function *in vivo*. Since sex hormones play a significant role in modulating the immune response, and since E2 and P4 levels both vary throughout the estrus cycle, we next aimed to determine whether estrus stage is a variable influencing immune cell function *in vivo*. Immune cells from the spleen and lymph nodes of age-matched female mice in two stages of the estrus cycle (estrus or met/diestrus) were compared to characterize variation among several immune cell types.

Objective 3: To determine whether JARID1c contributes to sex-biased immunity by regulating DC function *in vitro* and *in vivo*. JARID1c-deficient and wildtype BMDCs were cultured in the presence of LPS. DC activation was measured by pro-inflammatory gene transcription, expression of surface activation markers and pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion. Spleen and lymph nodes from age-matched *Jarid1c*^{fl/fl} CD11c-Cre females, *Jarid1c*^{y/fl} CD11c-Cre males and wildtype controls were also compared to characterize DC populations and DC activation both at steady-state and following infection with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV)-Armstrong (Arm).

Objective 4: To examine whether JARID1c localizes to the promoter region of a specific, distinct set of genes at both steady-state and during activation. We performed chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP)-qPCR on female-derived, wildtype BMDCs cultured with LPS following the recently-described NEXSON protocol.

Knowledge acquired through this study will contribute to our growing understanding of sex as a

biological variable of immune function and will provide key insights into the epigenetic mechanisms that drive DC activation. To the best of our knowledge, our work also represents the first study to separate females by estrus stage to study immune cell populations in SLOs, and thus delineate the short-term effects of E2 and P4 on immune cell function.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Mice

Male and female C57BL/6 mice were either purchased from Charles River Laboratories at 6-8 weeks of age (Montreal, QC, Canada) or bred in-house under pathogen-free conditions at McGill University or at Van Andel Research Institute (Grand Rapids, Michigan, USA). *Jarid1c*^{fl/wt} mice of the C57BL/6 background were obtained from Dr. Art Arnold (University of California, Los Angeles) (311), bred in-house and crossed with CD11c-Cre mice. All procedures conducted at McGill University were carried out in accordance with guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care, as approved by the Animal Care Committee of McGill University. All procedures carried out at Van Andel Research Institute were done in compliance with the *Guidelines for the Care and Use of Animals for Scientific Research*, as approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of the Van Andel Research Institute.

2.2 Murine BMDC culture

Bone marrow cells were cultured and differentiated into BMDCs as described (321). Briefly, bone marrow flushed from the tibias and femurs of C57BL/6 mice are seeded at $7.5 \times 10^5 - 1 \times 10^6$ cells per well in 6-well non-tissue culture treated plates containing 3mL/well complete DC media (CDCM): 10% fetal calf serum (FCS, Corning), 2mM L-glutamine (Gibco), 100U/mL Penicillin/Streptomycin (Gibco) and 1:1000 β -ME (Gibco) supplemented with 20ng/mL GM-CSF (Peprotech). Cells are cultured at 37°C for 8-9 days under 5% CO2 with CDCM+GM-CSF replenished on days 3,6 and 8. On day 8-9, cells were collected and stimulated with 100 ng/mL LPS (*Escherichia coli* serotype 0111:B4) (Invivogen) for the indicated amount of time.

2.3 RNA Extraction and qPCR

RNA was extracted from BMDCs following the Trizol reagent (Life Technologies) extraction protocol with one modification: RNA in Trizol is incubated at -80°C overnight. RNA purity was increased by re-precipitation with ammonium acetate. RNA concentration and quality were determined using NanoDrop One technology (Thermo Scientific). RNA with a 260/280 and 260/230 > 2.00 were selected as input to synthesize cDNA using All-in-One Reverse Transcriptase MasterMix (ABM). qPCR was then performed with SensiFast SYBR (Bioline) using the CFX96

Real-Time PCR system (Bio-Rad). Relative fold change was calculated using the $\Delta\Delta$ Cq method normalized to hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyltransferase (*Hprt*). qPCR graphs represent the average fold change from pooled biological replicates and error bars indicate the standard error of the mean. Primer sequences are listed below:

Target	Forward Primer	Reverse Primer
Hprt	AGG ACC TCT CGA AGT GTT GG	GGC TTT GTA TTT GGC TTT TCC
Birc2	TGG TGG CTT GAG ATG TTG GG	GCA CCA CTG TCT CTG TAG GG
Cd274	CTC GCC TGC AGA TAG TTC CC	GGG AAT CTG CAC TCC ATC GT
Cd40	GAG CCC TGT GAT TTG GCT CT	AGA TGG ACC GCT GTC AAC AA
Il12a	GTT CCA GGC CAT CAA CGC AG	TCC CAC AGG AGG TTT CTG GC
Il6	AAG CCA GAG TCC TTC AGA GAG	TGG TCC TTA GCC ACT CCT TCT
Cd80	CCT CGC TTC TCT TGG TTG GA	GGA GGG TCT TCT GGG GGT TT
Jarid1c	AGA AGG AGC TGG GGT TGT AC	CCA CAC ACG CAG ATA GAA GC
Jarid1d	AGT GAG CTG CTT CAG CGA TT	GGG TGA TTT GCG GTG TTT GT
Il12b	CTG GAG CAC TCC CCA TTC CT	CGC CTT TGC ATT GGA CTT CG
Cd86	CTT ACG GAA GCA CCC ACG AT	TCC ACG GAA ACA GCA TCT GAG
Ifnb	AGC AAG AGG AAA GAT TGA CGT GG	CCT GAA GAT CTC TGC TCG GAC
H2-Ab1	CGG CTT GAA CAG CCC AAT GT	CGC ACT TTG ATC TTG GCT GG

2.4 Flow cytometric analysis

BMDC surface staining: Following LPS stimulation, live BMDCs were washed once with flow wash (PBS, 2% FCS, 2mM EDTA, 0.5% sodium azide) and stained with fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies at their appropriate dilution. Typically, $2x10^5$ cells/well in 96-well plates are stained first with 50 (1 viability dye solution in PBS for 30 min at 4°C protected from light, followed by 50 (1 of antibody mix in flow wash for 30-45 min at 4°C protected from light. Cells are washed again with flow wash, and $4x10^4$ cells are acquired on a CytoFLEX (Beckman Coulter). Analysis was performed using FlowJo (Tree Star, Oregon, USA). See figure legends for analysis gates.

Splenocyte/lymph node surface staining: Following splenic and lymph node digestion (see below), splenocytes and lymph node cells are washed once with flow wash and stained with fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies at their appropriate dilution. Typically, $5x10^6$ splenocytes and $3x10^6$ lymph node cells in 96-well plates are stained first with 75 (1 viability dye solution in PBS for 30 min at 4°C protected from light, followed by 75 (1 of antibody mix in flow wash for 1h at 4°C protected from light. Cells are washed again in flow wash and fixed in 75 (1 IC fixation buffer (eBioscience) for 30 min at 4°C. Cells are washed again in flow wash, acquired on an Aurora (Cytek) and analyzed with FlowJo. See figure legends for analysis gates.

Splenocyte/lymph node intracellular staining: Cells are stained as described above with a few key modifications. Following staining with viability dye and the antibody mix, cells are washed again in flow wash and stained with 75 (1 FoxP3 fixation/Permeabilization buffer (eBioscience)) for 30 min at 4°C protected from light. Cells are then resuspended in Permeabilization buffer and left at 4°C overnight. The next morning, cells are stained with 75 (1 FoxP3 min at 75 (1

Antigen	Clone	Fluorophore(s)	Company
CD103	2E7	AF700	eBioscience
CD4	RM4-5	AF700	eBioscience
CD172a (SIRPa)	P84	APC	eBioscience
CD226	10E5	APC	eBioscience
CD40	1C10	APC	eBioscience
CD44	IM7	APC	eBioscience
CD62L	MEL-14	APC-Cy7	eBioscience
MHC II	M5/114.15.2	APC-Cy7	eBioscience
CD49b	DX5	APC-Cy7	eBioscience
CD80	16-10A1	BV421, PE	BioLegend
CD11b	M1/70	BV570	BioLegend

	I		
CD64	X54-5/7.1	BV605	BioLegend
CD279 (PD-1)	29F.1A12	BV605	BioLegend
NK1.1	PK136	BV605, FITC	BioLegend
CD45R (B220)	RA3-6B2	BV650	BioLegend
XCR1	ZET	BV650, FITC	BioLegend
CD69	H1.2F3	BV711	BioLegend
Ly-6C	HK1.4	BV711	BioLegend
CD40	1C10	SB780	eBioscience
CD11c	N418	eFluor-450, PerCP Cy5.5	eBioscience
CD223 (LAG-3)	C9B7W	eFluor-450	eBioscience
CD8a	53-6.7	eFluor-450, PE Cy7	eBioscience
Ly-6G (Gr-1)	1A8-Ly6g	eFluor450, FITC	eBioscience
CD19	1D3	FITC, PE/Dazzle 594	eBioscience
FOXP3	FJK-16s	eFluor-488	eBioscience
CD3	17A2	FITC	eBioscience
CD86	GL1	FITC	eBioscience
KLRG-1	2F1	FITC	eBioscience
Siglec-H	551	FITC	BioLegend
CD25	PC61.5	PE	eBioscience
F4/80	BM8	PE/Dazzle 594	BioLegend
CD317 (PDCA-1)	927	PE	eBioscience
CD127	A7R34	PE Cy7	eBioscience
CD274 (PD-L1)	10F.9G2	PE Cy7	BioLegend
CD26	H194-112	PerCP Cy5.5	eBioscience
CD3E	145-2C11	PerCP Cy5.5	eBioscience

2.5 ELISA

Cell culture supernatants from male- and female-derived JARID1c-deficient BMDCs and sexmatched wildtype BMDCs were collected without stimulation or following 6h and 18h LPS treatment. Supernatants were assayed for IL-12p40, IL-6, TNFa and IL-12p70 by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) using Ready-SET-Go! Kits (eBioscience) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.6 Western blot

BMDCs were harvested with lysis buffer (see below). Cell lysates were sonicated using the CPX1800 sonicator (Fisherbrand) for 10 min on the high-power setting. Protein content in sonicated lysates was quantified as described (322). 30ug of whole cell lysate was diluted in 6X SDS sample buffer and electrophoresed on 8% polyacrylamide gels. Samples were typically electrophoresed at 70V for 30 min followed by 120V for 60 min in running buffer. Proteins resolved by sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) were transferred to polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes by using the "Standard" program on the Trans-Blot Turbo Transfer System (Bio-Rad). Transferred membranes were stained with Ponceau S staining solution (CST), washed and blocked for 45 min with 5% (w/v) skim milk powder dissolved in TBS-T. Membranes were then washed with TBS-T and incubated overnight at 4°C with rabbit anti-mouse primary antibodies diluted in TBS-T with 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA). Membranes were washed three times with TBS-T and incubated with peroxidase-labeled goat anti-rabbit IgG (CST) for 45-60 min in 5% (w/v) skim milk powder dissolved in TBS-T. The antigen-antibody complex was visualized on the ChemiDoc MP Imaging System (Bio-Rad) using the SuperSignal West Dura Extended Duration enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) detection reagent (Thermo Scientific), following manufacturer instructions. Quantitative western blot analysis was performed with Image Lab software (Bio-Rad)

Reagent	Composition	
Lysis buffer	50mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 110mM NaCl, 5mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), 1% Chaps: 3-[(3-Cholamidopropyl)dimethylammonio]-1-propanesulfonate	
1x loading buffer	1.5% SDS (v/v), 10% glycerol (v/v), 62.5mM Tris-HCl (pH 6.8), 0.0025% bromophenol blue (v/v), 2% β-ME.	
Resolving gel buffer	1.5M Tris-HCl pH 8.8	
Stacking gel buffer	0.5M Tris-HCl pH 6.8	
Running buffer	25mM Tris, 192mM glycine, 0.1% SDS (v/v), pH 8.3	
Transfer buffer	25mM Tris, 192mM glycine, 0.1% SDS (v/v)	
TBS-T	Tris-HCl buffered saline (TBS) with 0.1% Tween-20 (v/v)	
Primary antibodies	JARID1c (Bethyl A301-034A): 1:1000 β-Actin (CST 4970): 1:1000	
Secondary antibodies	Anti-rabbit, HRP-linked antibody (CST 7074). Dilute 1:5000 for JARID1c, 1:20000 for β-Actin.	

2.7 Vaginal lavage

Vaginal lavage and estrus stage typing were performed as described (323). Briefly, the vaginal canal was flushed with sterile dH₂O and the collected vaginal cells were placed on a microscope slide and allowed to dry. The dry slide was immersed in 0.1% crystal violet solution for 2-3 min and washed twice in sterile dH₂O for 2-3 min. Excess water was blotted away with tissue paper. Glycerol and a coverslip were added to the smear, and the cells were visualized using light microscopy. Estrus stage was determined as follows: during proestrus, clusters of well-formed nucleated epithelial cells predominate. The presence of cornified squamous epithelial cells indicate the estrus stage, metestrus was defined by the presence of leukocytes, and the presence of both leukocytes and nucleated epithelial cells indicated the diestrus stage.

2.8 Splenic and lymph node DC preparation

Spleen: Spleens from C57BL/6 mice were injected with digestion buffer (1mg/mL Collagenase D (Sigma-Aldrich), 10ug/mL DNase I (Sigma-Aldrich) in HBSS+/+ (Gibco)) and digested for 20 min at 37°C. Spleens were then sliced and digested for an additional 20 min at 37°C. Digested splenocytes were homogenized through a 70µm filter and red blood cells were lysed with

ammonium chloride solution (150mM NH₄Cl, 10mM Tris, pH 7.0). Splenocytes were resuspended in flow wash and stained for flow cytometry (described above).

Lymph nodes: Lymph nodes from C57BL/6 mice were sliced and digested in digestion buffer for 20 min at 37°C. Digested cells were homogenized through a 70µm filter, resuspended in flow wash and stained for flow cytometry (described above).

2.9 In vivo LCMV injections

C57BL/6 mice were injected i.p. with 2x10⁵ plaque-forming units (PFU) of LCMV- Armstrong provided by the lab of Russell Jones. After 24h, spleens and lymph nodes (brachial, inguinal and mesenteric) were harvested, digested and stained with antibodies for flow cytometry (see above).

2.10 JARID1c chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP)

Following LPS stimulation, 5x10⁶ BMDCs were washed with PBS and crosslinked in fixation buffer (see below) with 0.6% formaldehyde (Covaris) for 5 min at RT on a shaking platform. The crosslinking reaction was quenched for 5 min with 125mM glycine. Cells were washed in PBS and cell pellets were flash-frozen and stored at -80°C for storage. Once thawed, nuclei were isolated as described (324). Briefly, cell pellets were resuspended in 1mL Farnhab Lab (FL) buffer and transferred to 1mL adaptive focused acoustics (AFA) tubes (Covaris). Nuclei were isolated by sonication for 2 min on an E220 Focused Ultrasonicator (Covaris) with the following settings: peak power 75W; duty factor 2% and 200 cycles/burst at 4°C. Sonication efficiency was tested by staining a sonicated aliquot 1:5000 with DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole). Stained nuclei were visualized using the EVOS FL Cell Imaging System (AMG). Isolated nuclei were collected by centrifugation (1000xg, 5min, 4°C) washed once in FL buffer, and sheared in shearing buffer for 9 min using the E220 Focused Ultrasonicator (peak power 140W, duty factor 5%, 200 cycles, 4°C). Shearing efficiency was assessed with an Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer as per the manufacturer's instructions. Sonicated chromatin was quantified with a Lowry assay, and 30ug/ChIP was incubated in ChIP cocktail buffer overnight with 2.8ug anti-mouse JARID1c (Bethyl A301-034A). The antigen: antibody complex was incubated for 3h with Protein G Dynabeads (Invitrogen) precleared overnight with 20µg of Herring Sperm DNA (Sigma-Aldrich). Bead-antibody-antigen complexes were then washed at 4°C for 5 min as follows: 3x WB1, 3x WB2, 2x WB1, 1X lowsalt TE. The antibody:antigen complex was then eluted from the beads by incubating beads in elution buffer for 15 min at 65°C with gentle shaking. Eluents are reverse-crosslinked at 65°C overnight, followed by successive treatments with DNase-free RNase (37°C, 1h) (Invitrogen) and Proteinase K (37°C, 2h) (Invitrogen). DNA was then purified on Qiagen MiniElute columns as per manufacturer instructions and used as a template for qPCR. qPCR data was analyzed using percent input. ChIP-qPCR primers align to the promoter regions of the genes listed below.

Reagent	Composition
Fixation buffer	50mM HEPES-KOH pH 7.6, 100mM NaCl, 1mM EDTA pH 8.0, 0.5mM EGTA pH 8.0
Farnham Lab buffer	5mM PIPES pH 8.0, 85mM KCl, 0.5% IGEPAL, supplemented with EDTA-free protease-inhibitor cocktail (Roche)
Shearing buffer	10mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 0.1% SDS, 1mM EDTA, supplemented with EDTA-free protease-inhibitor cocktail (Roche)
ChIP cocktail buffer	40mM Tris-HCl pH 7.6, 150mM NaCl, 1mM EDTA pH 8.0, 1% Triton X-100, 0.5% NP-40, supplemented with EDTA-free protease-inhibitor cocktail (Roche)
WB1 (Wash buffer 1)	50mM Tris HCl pH 7.6, 150mM NaCl, 5mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100, 0.5% NP-40
WB2 (Wash buffer 2)	50mM Tris HCl pH 7.6, 500mM NaCl, 5mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100, 0.5% NP-40
Low-salt TE	10mM Tris HCl pH 8.0, 50mM NaCl, 1mM EDTA, 0.5mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF) (added just prior to use)
Elution buffer	10mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 150mM NaCl, 10mM EDTA, 5mM 1,4-dithiothreitol (DTT), 1% SDS

Target	Forward Primer	Reverse Primer
Ciita	CCT TTG AGT CAA GGC AAC AA	GGA TGC TCT GAT CAA TGT GG
Il12a	ACC TGG ATG GCA GGA ACT AC	CTT GCC CAG GAG GTT ACA AT
Actb	TAG GCG TAA AGT TGG CTG TG	TCG CTC TCT CGT GGC TAG TA

2.11 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed on GraphPad Prism 8.0 using a paired two-tailed t-test or oneway ANOVA as indicated. Lines between bars indicate where direct comparisons were drawn between groups. Stars above lines indicate a statistically significant difference between groups. Differences were considered significant at p<0.05 (*=p<0.05, **=p<0.01, ***=p<0.001, ****=p<0.0001).

3. RESULTS

3.1 Male- and female-derived DCs manifest disparate inflammatory phenotypes *in vivo* and *in vitro*

Although numerous sex differences in immunity have been reported, sex-based differences in DC function and composition are not well described. To determine whether male- and female-derived BMDCs differ in their inflammatory potential, BMDCs from young (6-8 weeks) male and female C57BL/6 wildtype mice were stimulated with LPS (6h or 18h) or left unstimulated. DC activation was examined by analyzing transcript levels of pro-inflammatory genes by RT-qPCR, surface expression of activation markers by flow cytometry and cytokine secretion by ELISA. Female-derived BMDCs manifested a more pro-inflammatory phenotype following 6h LPS stimulation relative to male-derived BMDCs (**Figure 1**). At the transcript level, the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokine genes (*Ifnb, Il6, Il12b, Il12a*), surface activation markers (*Cd40, Cd80*) and the immune-suppressor *Cd274* were all significantly higher in BMDCs from females than BMDCs from males (**Figure 1A**). The anti-inflammatory gene *Il10* was also more highly expressed in male-derived BMDCs compared to females (**Figure 1A**).

To evaluate surface marker expression by flow cytometry, BMDCs were first defined as CD11c⁺Gr1⁻ cells (**Figure 1B**). Following 6h LPS stimulation, a trend for increased MHC II, CD40 and CD86 expression was observed among female-derived BMDCs compared to male-derived BMDCs (**Figure 1C**). With the exception of CD40, this trend towards female-bias was no longer apparent after 18h LPS stimulation (**Figure 1C**). In contrast, a trend for increased PD-L1 expression was observed among female-derived BMDCs compared to male-derived BMDCs following 18h, but not 6h LPS stimulation (**Figure 1C**). A similar trend was also observed at the level of cytokine secretion; a 30-50% decrease was observed in the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-12p40, IL12-p70, IL-6 and TNFa by male-derived BMDCs relative to female-derived BMDCs following 6h LPS stimulation (**Figure 1D**). Similar to co-stimulatory surface markers, the sex-bias was not present following 18h LPS stimulation, with the exception of IL-12p40 secretion, which remained ~40% lower in BMDCs from males relative to BMDCs from females (**Figure 1D**).

3.2 The murine estrus cycle influences immune cell subset composition in the spleen and lymph nodes

Hormonal effects on immune cell function, particularly the impact of estrogen, have been wellcharacterized in both innate and adaptive immunity (135). Further, previous studies have shown that immune cell populations in the uterus vary during the murine estrus cycle. Since serum concentrations of E2 and P4 cycle throughout the estrus cycle (325), the influence of estrus stage on immune cell populations of the innate and adaptive systems was determined. *In vivo* dendritic cell subsets were investigated first by flow cytometry. cDCs were defined as MHCII⁺Lin⁻ CD26⁺CD11c⁺ cells; cDC1s were further identified as XCR1⁺ cells and cDC2s as CD172a⁺ cells (**Figure 2A**). pDCs were identified as MHCII⁺Lin⁺CD11b⁻CD11c⁺Ly6C⁺PDCA1⁺ cells (**Figure 2A**). Vaginal lavages and cytology were also performed on a cohort of female C57BL/6 mice at steady-state as outlined in (323). Females were determined to be in the estrus or met/diestrus stage of the estrus cycle (**Figure 2B**). Proestrus mice were difficult to identify and hence excluded from this study. Mice were immediately sacrificed, and the spleen and lymph nodes (brachial and inguinal) were harvested, digested and stained for flow cytometry. Male mice were included to allow for comparison by biological sex.

The cDC1 subset was investigated first, and a trend for more cDC1s in the lymph nodes of females in estrus compared to the lymph nodes of females in met/diestrus was observed. Significantly more cDC1s were found in the spleens of females in estrus compared to the spleens of females in met/diestrus (**Figure 2C**). Data from females in estrus and met/diestrus were pooled to allow for comparison by sex. cDC1s in the spleen and lymph nodes were more abundant in male mice compared to female mice (**Figure 2C**). Analysis of the activation phenotype between female mice in estrus and met/diestrus revealed a trend for increased surface CD80 expression but decreased surface CD40 expression on splenic cDC1s from females in met/diestrus compared to females in estrus (**Figure 2D**). CD40 was also found to be more highly expressed on cDC1s from females in estrus and met/diestrus were pooled to allow for comparison by biological sex. cDC1s from the lymph nodes of females in estrus and met/diestrus were pooled to allow for comparison by biological sex. cDC1s from the lymph nodes of females in estrus and met/diestrus were pooled to allow for comparison by biological sex. cDC1s from the lymph nodes of female mice expressed significantly higher levels of MHC II compared to cDC1s from the lymph nodes of males (**Figure 2E**). A trend for increased expression of MHC II by splenic cDC1s from females compared to splenic cDC1s from males was observed (**Figure 2E**).

The cDC2 and pDC subsets in the spleens and lymph nodes of males, females in estrus and females in met/diestrus were then investigated. No significant differences were observed between females in estrus and females in met/diestrus with regards to absolute cDC2 count in the spleens and lymph nodes (Figure 3A). However, when females in estrus and females in met/diestrus were pooled to allow for comparison by biological sex, cDC2s were found to be significantly more abundant in the spleens and lymph nodes of male mice compared to female mice (Figure 3A). The surface expression of MHC II on male and female splenic and lymph node cDC2s was next investigated to determine activation status. A significant increase in MHC II expression on the surface of cDC2s in the spleen was observed, but no significant differences were found in lymph nodes (Figure 3B). Similar to the cDC2 subset, there were no significant differences between females in estrus and females in met/diestrus with regards to absolute pDC count in the spleens and lymph nodes (Figure 4A). However, when data from females in estrus and females in met/diestrus were pooled to allow for comparison by biological sex, pDCs were observed to be significantly more abundant in the lymph nodes, but not the spleens of male mice compared to female mice (Figure 4A). MHC II surface expression was then investigated on pDCs from male and female spleens and lymph nodes, and no significant differences between the sexes in either tissue were observed (Figure 4B).

Adaptive immune cells were next examined to determine whether they were similarly influenced by the estrus cycle in mice. B cells drive the humoral immune response by differentiating into antibody-producing plasma cells upon activation. Since females have been shown to mount more potent antibody responses than males (159), splenic B cells were studied in the context of the estrus cycle. A trend for elevated splenic B cell counts was observed among females in estrus compared to females in met/diestrus (**Figure 5A**). However, a greater proportion of splenic B cells from females in met/diestrus compared to splenic B cells from females in estrus expressed the B cell surface activation marker CD80 (**Figure 5A**). Splenic B cells from females in met/diestrus also expressed CD80 to a higher degree compared to splenic B cells from females in estrus (**Figure 5A**).

Splenic CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells at different stages of the estrus cycle were then examined to study the influence of the estrus cycle on T cell activation and cell-mediated immunity. Similar to B cells, a trend for fewer splenic CD4⁺ T cells was observed in females in met/diestrus compared to females in estrus (**Figure 5B**). However, splenic CD4⁺ T cells from females in met/diestrus

expressed significantly more of the activation marker CD69 compared to splenic CD4⁺ T cells from males and females in estrus (**Figure 5B**). A trend for increased numbers of anti-inflammatory Tregs in the spleen of females in met/diestrus relative to the spleens of males and females in estrus was also observed (**Figure 5B**). Further, a trend for a greater proportion of CD69⁺ and CD25⁺ splenic CD8⁺ T cells from females in met/diestrus compared to females in estrus was observed (**Figure 5C**). A significantly greater proportion of CD69⁺ and CD25⁺ splenic CD8⁺ T cells from females in met/diestrus compared to males was also observed (**Figure 5C**).

Naïve, effector and central memory (T_{CM}) CD4⁺ T cell subsets were then studied. Naïve, effector and T_{CM} CD4⁺ T cells were defined as CD62L⁺CD44⁺, CD62L⁻CD44⁺ and CD62L⁺CD44⁺ cells respectively, and each CD4⁺ T cell population was investigated in the spleens of males, females in estrus and females in met/diestrus (**Figure 6A**). No significant differences were found in the relative proportions of naïve and effector splenic CD4⁺ T cells between males, females in estrus and females in met/diestrus (**Figure 6B**). However, the relative proportion of T_{CM} cells in the spleen were found to be significantly greater among females in estrus and females in met/diestrus compared to males (**Figure 6B**). Overall, these findings demonstrate estrus stage to be an important variable in immune cell function and may contribute to innate immunity as well as to both the humoral and cell-mediated branches of adaptive immunity.

3.3 JARID1c and JARID1d are differentially expressed following LPS stimulation and show sex-specific regulation

Although vital for proper immune function, the molecular mechanisms that underlie DC activation remain unclear. Our lab has shown that the transcriptional repressor PCGF6 suppresses DC activation *in vitro* (269). Since we also found PCGF6 to complex with X-linked JARID1c, JARID1c's expression dynamics were evaluated. Similar to many X-linked immune genes, *Jarid1c* was found to be more highly expressed in female-derived steady-state BMDCs than in male-derived steady-state BMDCs (**Figure 7A**), suggesting that *Jarid1c* partially escapes X-inactivation in female-derived BMDCs. The effect that LPS stimulation would have on *Jarid1c* and *Jarid1d* mRNA expression was then evaluated. Interestingly, *Jarid1c* and *Jarid1d* were differentially regulated following LPS stimulation; while *Jarid1c* was significantly upregulated with LPS stimulation in female-derived BMDCs, *Jarid1d* was significantly downregulated in

male-derived BMDCs (**Figure 7B**). In addition, *Jarid1c* expression was not significantly altered in male-derived LPS-activated BMDCs (**Figure 7B**).

Earlier studies have observed that LPS-driven DC activation is not a progressive process, but instead consists of precise functional stages characterized by the regulation of a specific gene subset (326). Since a wave-like model of DC activation would likely involve an epigenetic input, *Jarid1c* transcript and JARID1c protein expression in female-derived BMDCs at different timepoints following LPS activation were investigated. At the level of transcription, a trend for increased *Jarid1c* expression following 2h LPS stimulation was observed, and *Jarid1c* was significantly more expressed at 6h LPS compared to unstimulated BMDCs (Figure 7C). Interestingly, JARID1c protein expression was found to undergo a wave-like pattern following LPS stimulation; JARID1c was quickly increased as early as 0.2h post-stimulation, but was quickly decreased by 0.5h, and peaked again at 4h post-stimulation (Figure 7D).

Since JARID1c protein increases sharply soon after LPS stimulation, it was hypothesized that JARID1c mRNA may be regulated by miRNAs. TargetScan (327) was used to identify miRNAs that may potentially bind and regulate JARID1c mRNA, and a strong putative binding site for miR-142-3p.2 was identified (**Figure 7E**). miR-142-3p.2 has been shown to regulate phagocytosis and antigen presentation in DCs (328). Overall, JARID1c shows a highly dynamic expression pattern following LPS-stimulation that may be mediated by specific miRNAs. Further, *Jarid1c* and *Jarid1d* are differentially regulated in male- and female-derived BMDCs.

3.4 JARID1c-deficient male- and female-derived BMDCs are less pro-inflammatory compared to wildtype sex-matched BMDCs

A high proportion of immune-related genes are encoded on the X chromosome and escape Xinactivation, including genes involved in DC activation (136, 139). Since *Jarid1c* escapes Xinactivation in female-derived BMDCs (thus allowing for elevated *Jarid1c* expression in femalederived BMDCs), whether JARID1c and JARID1d contribute to sex differences in DC function was determined.

CD11c⁺ BMDCs were sorted and JARID1c expression in JARID1c-deficient female-derived BMDCs was verified by western blot (**Figure 8A**). JARID1c was reduced by \sim 30% in *Jarid1c*^{fl/wt}

female-derived BMDCs and ~95% in JARID1c-deficient (*Jarid1c*^{fl/fl}) female-derived BMDCs (**Figure 8B**).

The activation phenotype of JARID1c-deficient and wildtype male- and female-derived BMDCs was then examined by analyzing transcript levels of pro-inflammatory genes by RT-qPCR with or without 6h LPS stimulation. LPS-activated JARID1c-deficient female-derived BMDCs were found to express significantly lower levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (*II12a, II12b, II6 and Ifnb*), costimulatory molecules (*Cd40, Cd80, Cd86*) and MHC II (*H2-Ab1*) compared to wildtype female-derived BMDCs (**Figure 8C**). However, JARID1c-deficient male-derived BMDCs were only found to express significantly lower levels of *Cd80* and *H2-Ab1* in comparison to wildtype male-derived BMDCs, suggesting that JARID1d may partially compensate for loss of JARID1c in most, but not all, aspects of DC activation. Notably, the sex-bias in pro-inflammatory gene regulation that had been previously observed for *II12a, II12b, Cd40* and *Cd80* in wildtype male-and female-derived BMDCs (**Figure 8C**), suggesting that JARID1c may function as a genetic mediator of sex differences in DC activation.

Surface marker expression was then examined by flow cytometry. A trend for decreased MHC II, CD40, CD86 and CD80 expression was observed among JARID1c-deficient male- and femalederived BMDCs compared to sex-matched wildtype BMDCs (**Figure 9A**). Pro-inflammatory cytokine production (IL-12p40, TNFa and IL-12p70) was next investigated by ELISA and was observed to be significantly reduced in JARID1c-deficient male-and female-derived BMDCs compared to wildtype BMDCs following 6h LPS stimulation (**Figure 9B**). JARID1c-deficient female-derived BMDCs also secreted a significantly reduced amount of IL12-p70 compared to wildtype female-derived BMDCs following 18h LPS stimulation, and JARID1c-deficient male-derived BMDCs following 18h LPS stimulation (**Figure 9B**).

3.5 JARID1c-deficient cDC1s and cDC2s from males and females are differentially altered in a sex-dependent and subset-dependent manner

To determine whether JARID1c contributes to DC function *in vivo*, spleens from 10-12-week-old $Jarid1c^{fl/fl}$ CD11c-Cre females, $Jarid1c^{y/fl}$ CD11c-Cre males and littermate controls were harvested, and cDC1s and cDC2s were analyzed by flow. cDCs were identified as MHCII⁺Lin⁻ CD26⁺CD11c⁺ cells. cDC1s were identified as XCR1⁺, cDC2s as CD172a⁺ (Figure 2A).

It was first demonstrated that JARID1c-deficient cDC1s, but not JARID1c-deficient cDC2s, were more abundant than their wildtype counterparts, suggesting that JARID1c may differentially impact cDC subsets (**Figure 10A**). cDC activation at steady-state was then investigated, and it was found that JARID1c-deficient cDCs were differentially activated in a sex-dependent and subset-dependent manner. Splenic female-derived JARID1c-deficient cDC1s, but not male-derived JARID1c-deficient cDC1s, expressed significantly more CD40 and PD-L1 relative to wildtype cDC1s (**Figure 10B**). A trend for increased CD80 expression in both male- and female-derived JARID1c-deficient cDC1s compared to sex-matched wildtype cDC1s was also observed (**Figure 10B**). Splenic female-derived JARID1c-deficient cDC2s expressed significantly lower levels of CD80 and PD-L1, but not CD40 compared to female-derived wildtype cDC2s (**Figure 10B**). Similarly, surface expression of PD-L1, but not CD80 or CD40 was significantly downregulated on male-derived JARID1c-deficient cDC2s (**Figure 10B**). These findings therefore indicate that JARID1c may play different roles in splenic cDC1s and cDC2s in male and female mice.

3.6 JARID1c-deficient pDCs show an altered composition in males and development defects in both males and females

During development in the bone marrow, CDPs commit to either the pre-cDC or pre-pDC lineage, migrate into the periphery and differentiate into cDCs and pDCs (62). Since significant differences in lymph node pDC counts between male and female wildtype mice had been observed (**Figure 4A**), the influence of JARID1c on pDC development was determined. pDCs were identified as MHCII⁺Lin⁺CD11b⁻CD11c⁺PDCA1⁺Ly6C⁺ cells (**Figure 2A**). It was observed that splenic male-and female-derived JARID1c-deficient pDCs expressed significantly lower levels of the pDC lineage marker Ly6C at steady-state compared to male- and female-derived wildtype pDCs (**Figure 11A**). Similarly, female, but not male-derived JARID1c-deficient pDCs also expressed

significantly lower levels of the pDC lineage marker PDCA1 at steady-state compared to maleand female-derived wildtype pDCs (**Figure 11A**).

Absolute splenic pDC counts were then examined and it was found that male- and female-derived JARID1c-deficient pDCs were significantly more abundant compared to sex-matched wildtype pDCs (**Figure 11B**). The activation status of JARID1c-deficient pDCs was also investigated and it was found that male- and female-derived JARID1c-deficient pDCs expressed significantly higher levels of surface MHC II compared to sex-matched wildtype pDCs (**Figure 11C**). However, female, but not male-derived JARID1c-deficient pDCs expressed lower levels of CD80 compared to female-derived wildtype pDCs (**Figure 11C**). In addition to potentially regulating the cDC subset, the data presented in this study reveal a putative role for murine JARID1c in pDC activation and development in both sexes.

3.7 Male and female JARID1c-deficient cDCs show a reduced inflammatory phenotype following infection with LCMV-Armstrong

Since JARID1c-deficient BMDCs were found to mount a less potent inflammatory response upon LPS stimulation *in vitro* (Figures 8 & 9), whether a similar phenotype was present *in vivo* following 24h infection with LCMV-Armstrong (LCMV-Arm) was determined. Spleen and lymph nodes from *Jarid1c*^{y/fl} CD11c-Cre males and *Jarid1c*^{fl/fl} CD11c-Cre females injected with either 2x10⁵ PFU LCMV-Arm or PBS (Mock) were harvested and digested and cDCs were analyzed by flow cytometry (Figure 12A). Similar to the data obtained *in vitro*, JARID1c-deficient cDCs were less activated following LCMV-Arm infection. Male-derived JARID1c-deficient cDC1s in the spleen and lymph nodes infected with LCMV-Arm expressed lower levels of the activation markers CD80 and PD-L1 compared to male-derived wildtype cDC1s infected with LCMV-Arm (Figure 12B). Although a significant reduction in CD80 expression on the surface of female-derived JARID1c-deficient cDC1s in the low of female-derived PD-L1 expression on splenic cDC1s and no significant differences in the lymph nodes compared to female-derived wildtype cDC1s infected with LCMV-Arm (Figure 12B).

The effect of viral infection on JARID1c-deficient cDC2s was then examined. Female-derived JARID1c-deficient cDC2s in the spleen and lymph nodes infected with LCMV-Arm expressed significantly lower levels of CD80 and PD-L1 compared to female-derived wildtype cDC2s

infected with LCMV-Arm (**Figure 12C**). Male-derived JARID1c-deficient cDC2s infected with LCMV-Arm also showed reduced surface expression of PD-L1 compared to male-derived wildtype cDC2s infected with LCMV-Arm, but CD80 expression was reduced in the spleen only (**Figure 12C**). T *in vivo* results of this study therefore mirror the *in vitro* results (**Figures 8 & 9**), suggesting a role for JARID1c in cDC activation.

3.8 JARID1c differentially localizes to the promoter regions of *Ciita* or *Il12a* depending on DC activation status

As a H3K4 demethylase, JARID1c acts as a transcriptional repressor. To determine whether JARID1c localizes to the promoter regions of genes involved in DC activation, chromatin immunoprecipitation was performed followed by qPCR (ChIP-qPCR) on precipitated DNA. Since robust and reproducible ChIPs require optimal sonication, nuclear isolation by sonication (NEXSON) was used to generate 300-700bp fragments in a reproducible manner. Crosslinked BMDCs were gently sonicated and stained with DAPI to visualize nuclear isolation efficiency ((324); Figure 13A). 120s of sonication was found to efficiently isolate nuclei (Figure 13B).

A sonication timecourse was then performed on isolated nuclei to determine the optimal sonication length required to generate 300-700bp fragments. 9 min of sonication was found to produce DNA fragments of the correct size, as measured with an Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer (**Figure 13C**).

Activated DCs upregulate the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines including *Il12a*, and lose *Ciita* expression to allow for stable pMHC II complexes on the cell surface. Since JARID1c was found to modulate DC activation, whether JARID1c localizes to the promoter regions of *Ciita* or *Il12a* was determined. Preliminary findings of this study indicate that in the steady-state, JARID1c localizes to the promoter region of *Il12a* (**Figure 13D**). However, following LPS activation, JARID1c disassociates from the *Il12a* promoter and instead localizes to the *Ciita* promoter (**Figure 13D**). Since LPS stimulation is not thought to influence JARID1c localization to the β -actin (*Actb*) promoter, *Actb* was tested as a control. JARID1c binding at the *Actb* promoter was not found to change with LPS (**Figure 13D**). Together, the preliminary ChIP results of this study suggest that JARID1c may preferentially bind to a set of gene loci to either actively restrain DCs in the steady-state or contribute to their activation following exposure to an appropriate stimulus such as LPS.



Figure 1. Female-derived BMDCs mount a more robust inflammatory response to LPS compared to malederived BMDCs. BMDCs from young (6-8 weeks) C57BL/6 mice were stimulated for 6h or 18h with 100ng/mL LPS compared to the unstimulated control. (A) RT-qPCR was used to evaluate *Ifnb, 1112b, Cd274, Cd40, 116, 1112a, 1110* and *Cd80* gene expression normalized to *Hprt* and relative to the mean of control female- and male-derived BMDCs. Data points represent independent experiments (n=3) \pm SD. (B) Gating strategy for BMDCs analyzed by flow cytometry; viable BMDCs are defined as CD11c⁺Gr-1⁻ cells. (C) Flow cytometry was used to evaluate the expression of CD86, MHC II, CD40 and PD-L1. Data points are from one representative experiment of three independent experiments (n=3). Data are shown as mean \pm SD. (D) Production of IL-12p40, IL-12p70, IL-6 and TNFa from LPSstimulated male-derived BMDCs were measured by ELISA relative to the mean cytokine secretion from femalederived BMDCs. Data points represent independent experiments (n=3) and data are shown as \pm SD. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, Student t-test.



Figure 2. The murine estrus cycle modulates cDC1 composition and activation at steady-state *in vivo*. (A) Flow cytometry gating strategy to identify cDC1s, cDC2s and pDCs *in vivo*. (B) Vaginal cytology was performed on 8-week old C57BL/6 female mice immediately prior to sacrifice to determine estrus stage. (C) Spleens and lymph nodes from males, estrus females and met/diestrus females were digested and stained for flow cytometry. cDC1s from each group were counted. Estrus and met/diestrus females were then pooled and cDC1s from male and female spleens and lymph nodes were counted. (D) cDC1 activation in males, estrus females and met/diestrus females were then pooled and cDC1s from male and female spleens were pooled, and cDC1 activation in the spleens and lymph nodes of males and met/diestrus females were evaluating by measuring MHC II surface expression. Data points are from one experiment (n=6 for males and each estrus stage). Data are shown as mean \pm SD. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, one-way ANOVA (comparing across estrus stage), Student t-test (male-female comparison).



Figure 3. Male-derived cDC2s are more abundant than female-derived cDC2s, but splenic female-derived cDC2s are more activated. Vaginal cytology was performed on 8-week old C57BL/6 female mice immediately prior to sacrifice to determine estrus stage. Spleens and lymph nodes from males, estrus females and met/diestrus females were then digested and stained for flow cytometry. (A) cDC2s from each group were counted. Estrus and met/diestrus females were then pooled and cDC2s from male and female spleens and lymph nodes were counted. (B) Estrus and met/diestrus females were pooled, and cDC2 activation in the spleens and lymph nodes of males and females were evaluating by measuring MHC II surface expression. Data points are from one experiment (n=6 for males and each estrus stage). Data are shown as mean \pm SD. ns = not significant, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, one-way ANOVA (comparing across estrus stage), Student t-test (male-female comparison).



Figure 4. pDCs from males are more abundant than pDCs from females, but pDC composition does not differ across the estrus cycle. Vaginal cytology was performed on 8-week old C57BL/6 female mice immediately prior to sacrifice to determine estrus stage. Spleens and lymph nodes from males, estrus females and met/diestrus females were then digested and stained for flow cytometry. (A) pDCs from each group were counted. Estrus and met/diestrus females were then pooled and pDCs from male and female spleens and lymph nodes were counted. (B) Estrus and met/diestrus females were pooled, and pDC activation in the spleens and lymph nodes of males and females were evaluated by measuring MHC II surface expression. Data points are from one experiment (n=6 for males and for each estrus stage). Data are shown as mean \pm SD. ns = not significant, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, one-way ANOVA (comparing across estrus stage), Student t-test (male-female comparison).



Figure 5. The murine estrus cycle modulates effector cells of the adaptive immune system. Vaginal cytology was performed on 8-week old C57BL/6 mice immediately prior to sacrifice to determine estrus stage. Spleens from males, estrus females and met/diestrus females were then digested and stained for flow cytometry. (A) B cells were counted, and B cell activation was evaluated by measuring CD80 surface expression. (B) CD4⁺ T cells were counted, and CD4⁺ T cell activation was evaluated by measuring CD69 surface expression. The frequency of Tregs was also evaluated. (C) CD8⁺ T cells were counted, and CD8⁺ T cells were counted, and CD8⁺ T cells were satisfies of CD8⁺CD69⁺ and CD8⁺CD25⁺ cells. Data points are from one experiment (n=6). Data are shown as mean \pm SD. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.0001, one-way ANOVA.



Figure 6. CD4⁺ central memory T cells are more abundant in the spleen of females compared to the spleen of males. Vaginal cytology was performed on 8-week old C57BL/6 mice immediately prior to sacrifice to determine estrus stage. Spleens from males, estrus females and met/diestrus females were then digested and stained for flow cytometry. (A-B) Viable CD4⁺ T cells were gated on CD44 and CD62L. Naïve CD4⁺ T cells are CD62L^{low}CD44^{hi}, CD4⁺ effectors are CD62L^{hi}CD44^{low} and CD4⁺ central memory T cells are CD62L^{hi}CD44^{hi}. Data points are from one experiment (n=6). Data are shown as mean \pm SD. *p<0.05, one-way ANOVA.



Figure 7. Jarid1c and Jarid1d are differentially expressed in male- and female-derived BMDCs and JARID1c is dynamically expressed following LPS stimulation in vitro. (A) RT-qPCR was used to analyze Jarid1c mRNA expression by female- and male-derived BMDCs from young (6-8 weeks) C57BL/6 mice at steady-state. Jarid1c expression was normalized to Hprt and is relative to the mean of female-derived BMDCs. Data points represent independent experiments (n=6) and data are shown as \pm SD. (B) RT-qPCR was used to analyze Jarid1c and Jarid1d mRNA expression by female- and male-derived BMDCs at steady-state and following 18h LPS (100ng/ml) stimulation. Jarid1c and Jarid1d expression were normalized to Hprt and are relative to the mean of unstimulated female- and male-derived BMDCs. Data points represent independent experiments (n=8 for females, n=7 for males) and data are shown as \pm SD. (C) Jarid1c mRNA expression by female-derived BMDCs stimulated with 100ng/mL LPS for 0.2h, 0.5h, 1h, 2h, 4h, 6h and 18h was evaluated by RT-qPCR. Jarid1c expression was normalized to Hprt and is relative to the mean of unstimulated female-derived BMDCs. Data points represent independent experiments (n=5) and data are shown as \pm SD. (D) JARID1c protein expression by female-derived BMDCs stimulated with 100ng/mL LPS for 0.2h, 0.5h, 1h, 2h, 4h, 6h and 18h was evaluated by western blot. Results are from one experiment representative of three independent experiments (n=3). Data are shown as mean \pm SD. (E) TargetScan analysis reveals a putative binding site for miR-142-3p.2 in the Jarid1c 3' UTR. ns = not significant, *p<0.05, ***p<0.001, Student's t-test.



Figure 8. JARID1c-deficient male- and female-derived BMDCs show reduced pro-inflammatory gene expression. (A) BMDCs from $Jarid1c^{wt/wt}$, $Jarid1c^{y/fl}$ CD11c-Cre males and $Jarid1c^{fl/fl}$ CD11c-Cre females were bead-sorted on CD11c⁺ cells and knockout efficiency was assessed by western blot. (B) Analysis with Image Lab shows that JARID1c is ~30% reduced in CD11c⁺ cells from $Jarid1c^{fl/wt}$ CD11c-Cre females and ~95% reduced in CD11c⁺ cells from $Jarid1c^{fl/wt}$ CD11c-Cre females and ~95% reduced in CD11c⁺ cells from $Jarid1c^{fl/wt}$ CD11c-Cre females and ~95% reduced in CD11c⁺ cells from $Jarid1c^{fl/mt}$ CD11c-Cre females relative to wildtype. (C) RT-qPCR was used to evaluate II12a, II12b, II6, Ifnb, Cd40, Cd80, Cd86 and H2-Ab1 gene expression by wildtype and JARID1c-deficient male- and female-derived BMDCs. All genes are normalized to Hprt and are relative to the mean of control/unstimulated female- and male-derived BMDCs. Data points represent independent experiments (n=3) and data are shown as \pm SD. ns = not significant, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.001, Student's t-test.


Figure 9. JARID1c-deficient BMDCs express lower levels of surface activation markers and produce lower levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines compared to wildtype BMDCs. JARID1c-deficient BMDCs from young (6-8 weeks) male and female C57BL/6 mice and BMDCs from sex- and age-matched wildtype mice were stimulated for 0h, 6h or 18h with 100ng/mL LPS. (A) Flow cytometry was used to evaluate the expression of CD40, CD86, CD80 and MHC II. Data points are from one experiment representative of three independent experiments (n=3). Data are shown as mean \pm SD. (D) Production of IL-12p40, IL-12p70, IL-6 and TNFa from LPS-stimulated male-derived BMDCs were measured by ELISA relative to the mean cytokine secretion from wildtype male- and female-derived BMDCs . Data points represent independent experiments (n=3) and data are shown as \pm SD. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.001, student's t-test.





Figure 10. JARID1c-deficient cDCs show sex- and subset-specific activation profiles at steady-state. Spleens from 10-12-week old *Jarid1c*^{wt/wt}, *Jarid1c*^{y/fl} CD11c-Cre males and *Jarid1c*^{fl/fl} CD11c-Cre female C57BL/6 mice were digested and stained for flow cytometry. cDC1s and cDC2s were (A) counted and (B) flow cytometry was used to assess expression of surface activation markers CD40, CD80 and PD-L1. Data points are from one experiment (males; n=5-6) representative of two experiments (females; n=10). Data are shown as mean \pm SD. ns = not significant, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.0001, one-way ANOVA.



Figure 11. JARID1c-deficient pDCs show developmental defects at steady-state *in vivo*. Spleens from 10-12-week old *Jarid1c*^{wt/wt}, *Jarid1c*^{y/fl} CD11c-Cre males and *Jarid1c*^{fl/fl} CD11c-Cre female C57BL/6 mice were digested and stained for flow cytometry. (A) Flow cytometry analysis shows that JARID1c-deficient male-and female-derived pDCs decrease Ly6C expression, and females, but not males, decrease PDCA1 expression. Data points are from one experiment representative of three independent experiments (n=3). Data are shown as mean \pm SD. Splenic pDCs were also (B) counted and (C) flow cytometry was used to assess expression of surface activation markers MHC II and CD80. Data points are from one experiment representative of three independent experiments (n=15-18). Data are shown as mean \pm SD. **p<0.001, ***p<0.0001, Student's t-test.



Figure 12. JARID1c-deficient cDCs from males and females mount a reduced inflammatory phenotype compared to wildtype sex-matched cDCs in response to LCMV-Armstrong infection. (A) $Jarid1c^{wt/wt}$, $Jarid1c^{y/fl}$ CD11c-Cre males, $Jarid1c^{fl/wt}$ CD11c-Cre females and $Jarid1c^{fl/fl}$ CD11c-Cre female C57BL/6 mice were injected i.p. with 200,000 PFU of LCMV-Armstrong for 24h. Spleens and lymph nodes were then harvested and digested. Flow cytometry was used to evaluate surface expression of CD80 and PD-L1 on (B) cDC1s and (C) cDC2s. Data points are from one experiment (males; n=4-6) representative of two independent experiments (females; n=6-12). Data are shown as mean \pm SD. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, one-way ANOVA. Note that the mock mice shown in Figure 12 are the same mice shown in Figure 10.



Figure 13. NEXSON ChIP-qPCR reveals that JARID1c differentially localizes to the promoter regions of genes involved in promoting and antagonizing DC activation. (A) For NEXSON, crosslinked BMDCs are briefly sonicated on a low-power setting to promote nuclear isolation. Nuclear isolation efficiency is evaluated by DAPI-staining. (B) $5x10^6$ BMDCs underwent 0s, 60s and 120s of NEXSON treatment and stained with DAPI to assess nuclear isolation efficiency. (C) NEXSON-isolated nuclei were sonicated for 0m, 3m, 6m, 9m, 12m and 16m. Chromatin fragment size was then assessed with a bioanalyzer. (D) ChIP-qPCR was used to determine JARID1c localization in female-derived BMDCs at steady-state and following 2h stimulation with 100ng/mL LPS. Results are from one experiment of two independent experiments (n=2). Data are shown as mean \pm SD.

4. DISCUSSION

DCs play a pivotal role in mediating the adaptive immune response to injury and foreign stimuli by presenting antigen and delivering context to adaptive immune cells. For this reason, dysregulation of DC function - particularly at steady-state - can have detrimental effects by promoting a misguided immune response, in the absence of inflammatory threats, to self-tissue. Our lab has previously shown that DC quiescence is epigenetically maintained by PCGF6 and the X-linked histone demethylase JARID1c (269). However, the mechanisms by which JARID1c contribute to DC quiescence remain unclear. Additionally, whether JARID1c also contributes to DC quiescence in both males and females is unknown.

A growing body of evidence suggests marked sexual dimorphism in immune response; females typically mount a more potent response than males to pro-inflammatory stimuli. Although a more potent immune response among females protects against infectious disease and cancer, left unregulated, it can bypass self-tolerance mechanisms and consequently lead to the development of autoimmune pathology or chronic inflammation. Indeed, women account for nearly 80% of autoimmune patients. Most studies have focused on sex hormones to describe sex-biased immunity. It is clear that while sex hormones have an important effect on immune function, they do not completely account for observed differences between the sexes. Further, the influence of varying levels of estrogen and progesterone on immune function outside the female reproductive tract during the estrus cycle has not been documented. Fewer studies have focused on genetic factors; a large proportion of immune genes are encoded on the X-chromosome and at least partially escape X-inactivation in females. This results in the elevated expression of certain X-linked genes in females that may contribute to an enhanced inflammatory response. However, the mechanisms by which these genetic factors drive sex-biased immunity remain unclear and specifically their role in DC activation has not been described.

In this study, sex differences in DC function and activation between males and females were characterized both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and the influence of the estrus cycle on immune cell function in females was determined. The effect of JARID1c on DC function and activation among males and females both *in vitro* and *in vivo* was also determined. Overall, the results of this study show that DCs from females exhibit elevated pro-inflammatory responses compared to DCs from

males, and that the estrus cycle influences relative compositions and activation of innate and adaptive immune cell subsets. This study also demonstrates that JARID1c-deficient DCs are less inflammatory at steady-state and following activation, and that the observed sex-bias in immune response is no longer present in JARID1c-deficient DCs from males and females. However, the mechanism by which JARID1c contributes to immune function remains unclear and should be addressed in future experiments.

4.1 DCs from females exhibit a more pro-inflammatory phenotype compared to DCs from males

When assessing mRNA expression, surface activation marker expression and cytokine secretion *in vitro*, nearly every assayed pro-inflammatory marker was found to be more highly expressed on female-derived BMDCs compared to male-derived BMDCs following 6h LPS stimulation (**Figure 1**). Exceptions included *1110* mRNA, which was significantly elevated in male-derived BMDCs 6h post-LPS compared to female-derived BMDCs, and PD-L1, which was unchanged at 6h, but was more highly expressed on female-derived BMDCs 18h post-LPS. Both of these findings are to be expected; IL-10 has known anti-inflammatory properties and may thus contribute to the reduced inflammatory capacity in males, while PD-L1 is known to antagonize T cell activation in the later stages of an immune response. Since an elevated inflammatory phenotype was found among female-derived BMDCs 6h post-LPS, the increased PD-L1 expression 18h LPS may serve as an intrinsic checkpoint to help ensure that the female immune response is kept in check and does not hyperactivate, which can result in serious immunopathologies.

The findings presented here are thus consistent with previous studies indicating more potent inflammation among females. However, a sex-bias was no longer observed following 18h LPS stimulation, particularly in the surface expression of CD86 and MHC II, and the secretion of IL-6, TNFa and IL-12p70 (**Figure 1**). Previous studies have observed that LPS-driven DC activation consists of precise functional stages (326). For example, antigen uptake by DCs peaks 2h post-LPS stimulation, before steadily decreasing, but migratory ability instead peaks 4h post-LPS before declining. By 18h, both functions have decreased considerably. The findings of this study may therefore suggest that DCs from females react more potently to stimuli in the early stages of activation than do DCs from males (and are thus better at antigen uptake and migration than male-

derived DCs), but will exhibit a similar inflammatory phenotype in the later stages of DC activation. A notable exception was IL-12p40 secretion by BMDCs, which was found to be significantly higher in females following 6h and 18h LPS stimulation. This finding may reflect the importance of IL-12p40 in driving T_H1 immunity. Since T cell activation in the draining lymph node occurs 3-4 days post-infection, IL-12p40 secretion by DCs must remain elevated for >18h to promote T_H1 differentiation. Interestingly, T_H1 cells are the main CD4⁺ T cell effectors that respond to infection with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Mtb) (329). Considering that men are approximately twice as likely to contract and die from Mtb infection than women (330), it is possible that reduced IL-12p40 secretion by male-derived DCs 18h post-activation results in decreased T_H1 differentiation and proliferation, thus putting men at a higher risk of contracting Mtb. Future studies should therefore aim to investigate whether male-derived DCs can differentiate naïve CD4⁺ T cells into T_H1 effectors as robustly as female-derived DCs, and whether genetically modified male-derived DCs capable of producing female-like quantities of IL-12p40 decreases the incidence of Mtb infection.

The results of this study further demonstrated a marked sex-dependent difference in DC subset composition *in vivo* (Figures 2C, 3A, 4A). Males were found to possess a higher number of cDC1s, cDC2s and pDCs compared to females in either the spleen, lymph nodes or both. Although this finding may be due to males having larger spleens, a similar trend was identified when investigating DC subsets as a percentage of viable cells instead of absolute cell counts (data not shown). However, since males typically possess more tissue than age-matched females, the increased number of DCs in male spleens and lymph nodes may simply reflect a requirement for more circulating DCs in males. Alternatively, several studies have shown that stimulated DCs undergo rapid cell death to prevent excessive T cell stimulation in lymphoid organs (331–334). If female-derived DCs are more activated as suggested by the results of this study and others, then it follows that DCs in females would die more quickly than DCs in males, potentially resulting in an increased amount of DCs in males compared to females.

Female-derived cDC1s and cDC2s, but not pDCs, were found to express significantly higher levels of MHC II at steady-state compared to males (**Figures 2E, 3B, 4B**). Since cDC1s are more specialized in activating CD8⁺ T cells and cDC2s are more specialized in activating CD4⁺ T cells, the findings of this study suggest that females may possess an intrinsically higher capacity to

stimulate both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell responses. This finding mirrors the observed BMDC data of this study and suggests that BMDCs may be similar to cDCs and not pDCs. Indeed, recent studies have shown that BMDCs are in fact heterogeneous and encompass at least two distinct populations that can be classified as either cDC-like DCs or monocyte-derived macrophages (95). More specifically, cDC-like BMDCs were shown to express the cDC2 marker CD172a, which may indicate that BMDCs most closely resemble cDC2s. Unexpectedly, no sex difference was observed in MHC II expression on pDCs at steady-state (**Figure 4B**). However, pDCs are known to be poor at antigen presentation (87), so MHC II may not be the best measure of pDC activation. Instead, pDCs are specialized in high-level secretion of type 1 interferon (IFN- α/β). Previous studies have indicated that female-derived pDCs produce more IFN following TLR-7 stimulation *in vitro* (137, 138), and that post-translational mechanisms are present in pDCs to ensure rapid IFN secretion following viral challenge. It is therefore possible that sex differences in pDC function are only manifested in an activated state. Future experiments should therefore measure whether IFN- α/β secretion differs between males and females at steady state.

This study and others have confirmed a female-bias in immune response. Yet, it is unknown why evolution has selected for reduced immune capacity among males. Indeed, sex differences in immune response are present throughout the evolutionary tree; innate and adaptive immune response in males from diverse species including insects, lizards, birds and mammals are typically lower than in females of the same species (135). One possible explanation may be that muscular strength was selected for over immune function during the course of evolution. In a pre-agricultural, nomadic world, predators posed a much greater threat to male hunters' survival than infectious disease. Finite metabolic resources were thus funneled into physical ability at the expense of mounting a robust immune response. This manifested itself in higher mammals as testosterone, which bestows upon men physical ability, but also exerts potent anti-inflammatory properties, perhaps to ensure appropriate usage of metabolic resources.

The results of this study have important implications for future research - particularly in immunology. A 2011 study found that fewer than 10% of published immunological studies reported the biological sexes of the animal or human subjects, and 70% failed to report sex at all (219). Since the female and male immune responses differ in key areas, future immunology studies should aim to - if resources allow - consider sex as a biological variable and include both sexes in

research studies. Sex-inclusive studies are especially pertinent in the fields of autoimmunity and immuno-oncology. Considering that 80% of all autoimmune patients are female and that males are twice as likely to develop terminal cancer than females, extra steps should be taken to ensure that biological sex is controlled for in an effort to tailor treatments to the affected sex.

An interesting implication of this study relates to DC-based cancer vaccines, wherein patientderived DCs are cultured *ex vivo* with cancer antigens, stimulated and re-introduced into the patient. Antigen-loaded DCs activate antigen-specific T cells and help mount an immune response against cancerous cells (335). Since the findings presented here suggest that female-derived DCs exert a more potent immune response than male-derived DCs, clinical trials should analyze data by sex to ensure that DC vaccines are equally effective in male patients. However, at least one recent phase II clinical trial failed to mention the subject's biological sex (336), while another phase I trial indicated subject sex but did not analyze males and females separately (337). Future clinical trial guidelines may consider mandatory analysis by sex.

4.2 The murine estrus cycle as a variable influencing immune cell function

In the mouse, ovulation occurs every 4-5 days. Serum concentrations of E2 and P4 cycle throughout this time; metestrus and diestrus are characterized by low but slowly increasing levels of E2 and a peak in P4, while E2 peaks during the proestrus stage (338). Since immune modulation by estrogen and progesterone have been well characterized, whether the estrus cycle represents an overlooked variable in female immunity was determined. Previous studies have investigated the immune cell composition in the uterus at different estrus stages, however no studies, to our knowledge, have analyzed immune cell composition in SLOs during different estrus stages. Interestingly, it was found that more cDC1s, but not cDC2s or pDCs, are present in the spleen and lymph nodes during the estrus stage relative to the met/diestrus stages (Figures 2C, 3A, 4A). cDC1s were found to express higher levels of the co-stimulatory molecule CD40 during estrus and higher levels of CD80 during met/diestrus at steady-state (Figure 2D). Although cDC1s were initially expected to exert a decreased pro-inflammatory phenotype during the estrus stage (when both E2 and P4 are low), elevated E2 serum concentrations may not necessarily correlate with higher inflammatory capacity in DCs. A 2005 study showed that E2 has bipotential effects on human monocytes and macrophages; low doses were found to enhance the production of pro-

inflammatory cytokines, but high concentrations reduced cytokine production (177). If also true in murine DCs, this may explain why cDC1s in estrus show a trend for increased expression of CD40. In addition, since changes in gene and surface marker expression may require a few hours to manifest themselves, a possible caveat to the results of this study is that the observed phenotype was induced at the previous stage of the estrus cycle. For example, a trend for increased activation of CD80 among females in met/diestrus compared to females in estrus was found (**Figure 2D**). However, it is possible that the hormone cocktail present during the estrus stage, and not the met/diestrus stage, is what induced CD80 expression. The time required for transcription, translation and CD80 transport to the cell membrane made it so that the mouse had already entered the met/diestrus stage by the time CD80 was expressed on the cell surface. Further studies will have to be conducted to determine the stage of the estrus cycle that is truly responsible for the observed phenotype.

Splenic immune cells of the adaptive system were also investigated at different stages of the estrus cycle and an overall trend for increased activation of B cells, CD4⁺ T cells and CD8⁺ T cells during the met/diestrus stage was found (**Figure 5**). Interestingly, there was also a trend for more Tregs during the met/diestrus stage compared to the estrus stage (**Figure 5B**). These findings may have important implications for immune-based therapies and immunization schedules among premenopausal females. For example, the findings of this study indicate that cDC1s may possess an elevated baseline activation phenotype during the estrus stage (**Figure 2D**). Considering that cDC1s have the capacity to present antigen to both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells and can thus promote cell-mediated and humoral immunity (339), cDC1s that process antigen during the estrus stage. Increased B cell activation may thus correlate with more potent antibody production and increased protection against the pathogen. Future studies should therefore aim to study the effect of estrus stage on immunization efficiency.

The results of this study may have important ramifications for immunological studies that use female mice as animal models. Very few immunology studies have treated estrus cycle stage as a biological variable. However, the results of this study suggest that the estrus cycle modulates both innate and adaptive immunity in females. In addition to implementing sex as a biological variable to control for sex differences in immunity, future studies should consider controlling for estrus cycle stage to ensure that any differences be the result of the experimental variable and not due to hormonal fluctuations throughout the estrus cycle.

A major limitation of this study is the absence of mice in the proestrus stage. This may be due to the time period at which female mice are likely to enter each estrus stage. When mice are maintained on a standard light-dark cycle (i.e. in the dark between 7PM and 7AM), the estrus phase will usually begin between 12AM and 3AM and continue into the early morning (340). Since proestrus is immediately before estrus and lasts for 6-12 hours, many mice should be in the proestrus phase in the late afternoon and evening. Indeed, our vaginal smears were performed in the morning (roughly 9AM), and a large percentage of mice were found to be in estrus. Considering that E2 peaks in proestrus, future experiments will require the inclusion of females in proestrus to more properly delineate estrus stage as a biological determinant of female immunity. In addition, this study included mice at steady-state; future experiments should assess female immune response to viral/bacterial challenge at different stages of the estrus cycle to determine whether the trends we observed at steady-state are also seen during the course of an immune response.

Females are four-times more likely than males to develop an autoimmune disease during the course of their lives. Mouse studies often use EAE mice to model autoimmune pathology. At least one study has shown that EAE symptoms are attenuated in ovariectomized females with very low serum E2 and P4 concentrations (211), which implicate female sex hormones in autoimmunity. Considering that the findings of this study demonstrate that estrus stage modulates both innate and adaptive immunity, the estrus cycle may play a role in promoting the onset of autoimmune pathologies (i.e. by providing the opportunity to bypass self-tolerance mechanisms) or may exacerbate autoimmune symptoms. Future experiments can test this hypothesis by first ovariectomizing female EAE mice followed by supplementation with hormones in precise concentrations to replicate each stage of the estrus cycle. In this way, female mice would effectively be trapped in one stage of the cycle. Mice in each stage can then be monitored for development of EAE symptoms. In addition, E2 and P4 are common constituents of hormonal contraceptives, which typically work by maintaining high serum concentration of E2 and P4. Several studies have found long-term (>5 years) use of hormonal contraceptives to be associated with an increased risk of several serious autoimmune diseases including Crohn's disease, SLE and interstitial cystitis (341). High E2 and P4 are typical during the proestrus stage. Although this study did not include females in proestrus, it would be interesting to test whether immune cell subsets are more activated at steady-state in the high E2/P4 proestrus environment. Alternatively, it would be interesting to see whether ovariectomized female mice supplemented with proestrus-like levels of E2/P4 would be at a higher risk of developing autoimmune pathologies.

4.3 JARID1c and JARID1d in male and female response to LPS in vitro

Our lab has previously shown that PCGF6 and JARID1c define an epigenetic axis involved in the maintenance of DC quiescence (269). We have previously shown that BMDCs transduced with sh*Jarid1c* exert a more pro-inflammatory phenotype, and therefore characterized the immune response of BMDCs derived from *Jarid1c*^{fl/fl} CD11c-Cre females and *Jarid1c*^{y/fl} CD11c-Cre males. Although previous data indicated that female-derived JARID1c-deficient BMDCs would mount a more robust inflammatory response than female-derived wildtype BMDCs, nearly every pro-inflammatory marker was found to be decreased in female-derived JARID1c-deficient BMDCs (**Figures 8 & 9**) relative to female-derived wildtype BMDCs following LPS stimulation. This was unexpected, although sh*Jarid1c*-mediated knockdown and Cre-mediated knockout may have different biological effects. As a H3K4 demethylase, JARID1c functions as a transcriptional represses at least two gene subsets: a subset that is activated to maintain DC quiescence (including *Ciita*) and a subset that is activated to facilitate DC activation (including *II12a*) (**Figure 13D**).

The findings of this study suggest that in steady-state BMDCs, JARID1c will repress the proactivation gene subset, but following LPS stimulation, JARID1c disassociates from the proactivation subset and instead represses the pro-quiescence subset to allow for DC activation. When *Jarid1c* is knocked down by shRNA, the remaining JARID1c protein will preferentially bind to its highest affinity loci. If JARID1c has a higher affinity for the pro-quiescence gene subset than for the pro-activation subset, then the pro-activation subset will be more highly expressed at steadystate, allowing for an increased pro-inflammatory phenotype that we have previously observed. However, if JARID1c is absent, as is the case in BMDCs derived from *Jarid1c*^{fl/fl} CD11c-Cre females and *Jarid1c*^{y/fl} CD11c Cre males, then JARID1c will not be available to repress either gene subset. In this scenario, it is possible that other mechanisms are in place to promote DC quiescence that LPS stimulation can only partially override. Alternatively, if both quiescence and activation genes are activated, DC quiescence may be favored. Further research will be required to test this hypothesis. Notably, ChIP-Seq should be performed on wildtype BMDCs, BMDCs transduced with sh*Jarid1c*, and JARID1c-knockout BMDCs both at steady-state and following LPS stimulation in order to better understand JARID1c's target loci.

An exciting element of this study is that a sex-bias was not observed in pro-inflammatory gene expression, surface activation markers or cytokine production among LPS-activated JARID1cdeficient BMDCs (Figure 8). This finding suggests that JARID1c may represent a novel genetic mediator of sex-biased immunity in DCs. Future research must be conducted to further support this claim. Notably, murine stem cell virus (MSCV)-based strategies can be used to overexpress Jarid1c in JARID1c-deficient BMDCs. If a sex difference in DC activation re-emerges, JARID1c may serve as an important mediator of sex-biased DC response. In addition, female-derived JARID1c-deficient BMDCs exerted an attenuated inflammatory phenotype relative to wildtype BMDCs for nearly all markers that were tested (Figures 8 & 9). However, male-derived LPSactivated JARID1c-deficient BMDCs showed mixed results; certain markers were significantly less expressed in male-derived JARID1c-deficient BMDCs compared to male-derived wildtype BMDCs, while other markers showed no difference in expression (Figures 8 & 9). This may suggest that JARID1c and JARID1d encode redundant functions; JARID1d may be able to at least partially offset the loss of JARID1c. This hypothesis can be tested by overexpressing Jarid1d in female-derived JARID1c-deficient BMDCs. If the inflammatory phenotype observed in femalederived wildtype BMDCs is recovered in female-derived JARID1c-deficient Jarid1d-expressing BMDCs, then JARID1d and JARID1c may encode redundant functions. Furthermore, a differential regulation of Jarid1c and Jarid1d was observed in response to LPS activation; whereas Jarid1c expression is increased in female-derived BMDCs 18h post-LPS, Jarid1c expression does not significantly change in male-derived BMDCs, but Jarid1d is significantly downregulated 18h after LPS activation (Figure 7). As a result, LPS-activated female-derived BMDCs express more Jarid1c than male-derived BMDCs express Jarid1c/d, which may have important implications for sex-biased immunity.

The process of LPS-driven DC activation consists of distinct functional stages. For example, antigen uptake is most efficient 2h after LPS stimulation, while migratory capacity peaks at 4h after LPS stimulation. By 18h, both of these processes have returned to slightly above their

baseline levels (326). Considering that each stage requires the regulation of a specific gene subset, massive transcriptional reprogramming must occur at specific timepoints during DC activation (342). Interestingly, JARID1c was found to undergo a wave-like expression pattern following LPS stimulation whereby JARID1c protein level peaks at 0.2h, 4h and 18h after LPS stimulation (Figure 7D). Although further investigation is required, it is possible that JARID1c helps to mediate the transcriptional reprogramming that occurs following DC activation. As a transcriptional repressor, JARID1c may localize to and repress a subset of genes at 0.2h, 4h and 18h post-LPS to facilitate DC transition to the next functional stage. Preliminary evidence from this study suggests that at steady-state, JARID1c localizes to the *ll12a* promoter (Figure 13D). However, ChIP-qPCR suggested that following DC activation, JARID1c disassociates from *Il12a* and instead localizes to the promoter region of Ciita (Figure 13D). Considering that Ciita is transcriptionally silenced to allow for efficient DC activation (343) and that Ill2a is expressed by LPS-activated DCs (344), Ciita and Ill2a may be constituents of different gene subsets regulated by JARID1c. Since JARID1c-deficient BMDCs were observed to be less activated following LPS stimulation compared to wildtype BMDCs (Figures 8 & 9), it is possible that *Ciita* and other genes repressed during DC activation were not as efficiently silenced in the absence of JARID1c, resulting in an attenuated inflammatory phenotype. To expand on this idea and characterize JARID1c localization genome-wide, ChIP-Seq should be performed on BMDCs at steady-state and at various timepoints following LPS activation.

An interesting observation was that JARID1c protein levels increase as early as 0.2h (or 10 minutes) following LPS stimulation (**Figure 7D**). Including introns, *Jarid1c* is \cong 41 kbp in length (UCSC Genome Browser), and JARID1c protein is 1551 amino acids. Average elongation rates by RNA polymerase II (RNAPII) and ribosomes in mammalian cells have been shown to range from 1.3-4.3kb/min for RNAPII (345) and 6-9 amino acids/sec for ribosomes (346). Under these conditions, *Jarid1c* transcription in mammals would require 10-30 minutes, and translation would require an additional 3-5 minutes. Considering that *Jarid1c* mRNA must also be trafficked to the cytosol for translation, 10 minutes is unlikely to be sufficient for the observed increase in JARID1c. Instead, the rapid increase in JARID1c may be due to post-transcriptional regulation by micro-RNAs (miRNAs). miRNAs are small non-coding RNAs that can mediate translational repression or mRNA degradation by binding to target mRNA transcripts (347). TargetScan was used to identify miRNAs that may potentially bind and regulate JARID1c mRNA. A strong

putative binding site for miR-142-3p.2 was determined (**Figure 7E**), which is known to regulate DC function (328, 348, 349). miR-142-3p.2 has been previously shown to interfere with antigen processing and presentation (328). Since it was observed that JARID1c may silence *Ciita* during DC activation, miR-142-3p.2 may interfere with antigen processing by post-transcriptionally silencing JARID1c. If this occurs, JARID1c would no longer silence *Ciita*, thus interfering with antigen presentation by promoting *Ciita* expression and unstable surface MHC II expression. Future biochemical analysis will be necessary to determine whether JARID1c mRNA is targeted by miR-142-3p.2. MSCV-based strategies can be used to transduce a miR-142 sponge into BMDCs. JARID1c protein levels can then be evaluated by western blot to determine whether JARID1c may suggest that miR-142-3p.2 targets JARID1c mRNA.

4.4 JARID1c and JARID1d suppress cDC1 responses and promote cDC2 responses in vivo

To study JARID1c *in vivo*, *Jarid1c*^{fl/fl} mice were first bred to CD11c-Cre mice to generate offspring deficient for *Jarid1c* in CD11c-expressing cells. In this model, JARID1c function in CD11c⁺ cells is disrupted through targeted elimination of exons 11 and 12, which encode the enzymatic domain. This disruption strategy is predicted to generate a mutant *Jarid1c* gene encoding an RNA transcript with an in-frame deletion of exons 11 and 12 (311). JARID1c knockout efficiency was assessed by western blot and a 95% reduction in female-derived JARID1c-deficient BMDCs was found (**Figures 8A, 8B**). This finding has also been reported by another group using *Jarid1c*^{fl/fl} mice (311).

To determine whether JARID1c contributes to sex-biased immunity *in vivo*, absolute numbers of JARID1c-deficient cDC1s and cDC2s were first compared at steady-state. JARID1c-deficient cDC1s were found to be more numerous than wildtype cDC1s, but no significant difference was observed for cDC2s (**Figure 10A**). The expression of surface activation markers on splenic JARID1c-deficient and wildtype cDC1s and cDC2s were then compared at steady-state. Interestingly, female-, but not male-derived JARID1c-deficient cDC1s were found to express elevated levels of CD40 and PD-L1 compared to wildtype cDC1s, and a trend for increased activation of CD80 (**Figure 10B**). In contrast, CD80 and PD-L1 expression was lower on female-derived JARID1c-deficient cDC2s (**Figure 10B**).

Male-derived JARID1c-deficient cDC2s also expressed lower PD-L1 compared to male-derived wildtype cDC2s (**Figure 10B**). These findings suggest that JARID1c regulates cDC1s and cDC2s differently, which may have important implications for cDC1- and cDC2-driven immune responses. cDC1s are potent cross-presenting DCs that are specialized at stimulating CD8⁺ T cells into CTL effectors responses as well as inducing CD4⁺ T cell differentiation into T_H1 effectors. In contrast, cDC2s are specialized at inducing CD4⁺ T cell differentiation into T_H2 and T_H17 effectors. Since T_H1, T_H2 and T_H17 effectors respond to different classes of pathogens, JARID1c in DCs may play an important role in mounting specific modules of the immune response.

Further, JARID1c may also contribute to sex differences in immunopathologies. For example, females typically mount higher T_{H2} and antibody responses (350), both of which are driven by cDC2s. The findings presented in this study suggest that JARID1c promotes cDC2, but not cDC1 activation. Considering that female-derived DCs express more JARID1c than male-derived DCs (**Figure 7A**), females may have a genetic predisposition for enhanced T_{H2} immunity by expressing higher levels of JARID1c than males. Future experiments should verify whether JARID1c differentially regulates cDC1s and cDC2s. JARID1c can be specifically deleted in cDC1s or cDC2s. Previous studies have identified *Xcr1* as a cDC1-specific marker (351) and *Clec4a4* as a cDC2-specific marker (352). By breeding *Jarid1c*^{fl/fl} mice with either XCR1-Cre or Clec4a4-Cre mice, JARID1c can be specifically targeted in either cDC1s or cDC2s, allowing for the study of JARID1c in cDC1s and cDC2s in isolation. Indeed, another group has recently generated XCR1-Cre mice on the C57BL/6 background (353). These mice can be used to edit and delete genes such as JARID1c in cDC1s.

The cDC response to infection with the murine virus LCMV-Arm was also characterized. Similar to the attenuated inflammatory response observed in JARID1c-deficient BMDCs to LPS, maleand female-derived JARID1c-deficient cDC1s and cDC2s expressed lower levels of CD80 and PD-L1 in the spleen and lymph nodes following infection with LCMV-Arm (**Figure 12**). This finding provides further evidence that JARID1c regulates cDC1s and cDC2s. Interestingly, the decreased surface expression of CD80 and PD-L1 was not sex-specific. Considering that malederived JARID1c-deficient cDCs were less sensitive than female-derived JARID1c-deficient cDCs at steady-state (**Figure 10B**), this suggests that while JARID1d in male-derived cDCs may partially offset the loss of JARID1c at steady-state, JARID1d is insufficient in the context of LCMV-Arm infection. Since JARID1c regulates cDC response to LCMV-Arm, cDC-guided adaptive responses may also be impaired. To test adaptive responses, $Jarid1c^{fl/fl}$ CD11c-Cre mice can be infected with *Listeria monocytogenes* as a model for T cell activation. By analyzing CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell activation 8 days post-infection, we can assess whether the loss of JARID1c in DCs also disrupts T cell activation.

4.5 JARID1c in pDC development and regulation

pDCs are specialized in antiviral immunity. To determine whether JARID1c is involved in pDC development or regulation, JARID1c-deficient pDCs in the spleen were investigated by flow cytometry. pDCs were defined as Ly6C^{hi}PDCA1^{hi} cells (75, 354). Interestingly, male- and female-derived JARID1c-deficient pDCs were found to express significantly lower levels of Ly6C compared to sex-matched wildtype pDCs, while female-derived JARID1c-deficient pDCs also expressed significantly lower PDCA1 (**Figure 11A**). These findings suggest that JARID1c plays a role in pDC development, but future research is required to confirm this finding. A marked increase in the absolute numbers of male- and female-derived JARID1c-deficient pDCs in the spleen compared to sex-matched wildtype pDCs was also found (**Figure 11B**). An exciting observation was the decrease in CD80 expression on the surface of female-, but not male-derived JARID1c-deficient pDCs at steady-state (**Figure 11C**). This suggests that JARID1c in pDCs may regulate CD80 expression and thus promote pDC activation. Considering that females mount an enhanced pDC-mediated antiviral response compared to males (135), females may have a genetic predisposition for enhanced pDC response by expressing higher levels of JARID1c than males.

In an effort to characterize any clinical impact of the work in this study, and to better understand the role of JARID1c in a human context, human subjects with characterized mutations in *JARID1c* would ideally be recruited for immunological studies. Currently, human patients with loss-of-function mutations in *JARID1c* have been shown to be more likely to develop neurological deficiencies, including XLID (298). To the best of our knowledge, the immune response of patients with loss-of-function mutations in *JARID1c* has yet to be tested. Future studies should therefore aim to phenotype the innate and adaptive immune cells of these patients to better understand the role of JARID1c and JARID1d in human immune response.

The results obtained in this study may inform differential functions for JARID1c in different DC

subtypes. For instance, expression of surface activation markers on female-derived JARID1cdeficient cDC1s was found to be enhanced compared to female-derived wildtype cDC1s (Figure 10B). However, the opposite trend was observed for female-derived JARID1c-deficient cDC2s (Figure 10B), and JARID1c-deficient pDCs showed impaired development (Figure 11A). These findings suggest that JARID1c may regulate different gene subsets in cDC1s, cDC2s and pDCs (Figure 14). In cDC1s at steady-state, JARID1c may localize to and repress pro-inflammatory genes such as Ill2b and Cd40. Pro-inflammatory genes in JARID1c-deficient cDC1s are thus more likely to become spontaneously activated, resulting in elevated cDC1 activation. In contrast, JARID1c may instead repress pro-quiescence genes such as *Ciita* in cDC2s at steady-state. As a consequence, inflammatory signals may be insufficient to "push" JARID1c-deficient cDC2s towards activation, thus resulting in the reduced cDC2 activation observed in this study. Finally, several transcription factors including Zeb2 and Tcf4 have been shown to be required for pDC development (355, 356). JARID1c may repress inhibitors of Zeb2 and Tcf4, such that Zeb2, Tcf4 and other factors involved in pDC development remain at least partially repressed in JARID1cdeficient pDCs, thus impeding pDC development. JARID1c ChIP-seq experiments in cDC1s, cDC2s and pDCs should be conducted to better understand the unique targets of JARID1c in each DC subset.



Figure 14. Proposed model for differential JARID1c/d function in cDC1s, cDC2s and pDCs.

Overall, the findings presented in this study implicate JARID1c as a putative genetic mediator of sex-disparate immunity *in vivo*. However, since sex hormones are well-documented mediators of DCs and the immune system, JARID1c and JARID1d must be studied in the absence of sex hormones to fully delineate their contributions to sex-biased DC function *in vivo*. A routine method to study genetic factors in isolation of sex hormones is to surgically remove the gonads from male and female mice to interrupt the production of E2, P4 and testosterone. Future work should therefore aim to characterize JARID1c-deficient cDCs and pDCs from gonadectomized male and female mice. Considering that we also observed significant differences in splenic DCs and adaptive immune cell subsets between females in estrus and females in met/diestrus, splenic immune cell subsets from *Jarid1c*^{fl/fl} CD11c-Cre females should also be characterized to investigate the role of JARID1c in DCs during different stages of the estrus cycle.

4.6 CONCLUSION

Females typically mount more potent immune responses than males, allowing for decreased pathogen loads and increased responses to vaccinations. Enhanced immunity among females is a double-edged sword; the increased capacity for tumor immunosurveillance places females at a lower risk of developing infections and terminal cancers, but a highly active immune response is also more likely to bypass self-tolerance mechanisms and promote autoimmune responses. The influence of sex hormones on immune function, particularly E2 and P4 in females, has been extensively characterized and has been shown to enhance female immune responses. However, few studies have investigated whether the estrus cycle, during which E2 and P4 widely vary, constitutes a variable in immune function. This study determined that immune cell subsets of innate and adaptive immunity are influenced by estrus stage. Considering that few immunological studies separate females by estrus stage, the findings of this study may have important implications for study designs and for female vaccination schedules.

As the antigenic messenger between innate and adaptive immunity, DCs play an important role in guiding immune responses. Previous work from our lab implicated the X-linked transcriptional repressor JARID1c in DC quiescence. This study and others have identified female-derived DCs to exert an enhanced pro-inflammatory phenotype compared to male-derived DCs. This study additionally found that the observed female-bias in DC response is no longer present in the absence of JARID1c. This study therefore implicates JARID1c as a genetic mediator of sex-disparate immunity. In addition, certain germline mutations in human *JARID1c* are known to cause neurological disorders such as XLID. This cohort provides the opportunity to study JARID1c in the context of human immune responses. Finally, This study demonstrates that epigenetic mechanisms are involved in sex-biased immunity, providing a new avenue of study to better understand sex as a biological variable of immune response. Future work will need to be conducted to delineate the roles of JARID1c and its Y-linked paralog JARID1d in various DC subsets in the context of sex-specific inflammatory responses.

5. REFERENCES

- 1. Hirano, M., S. Das, P. Guo, and M. D. Cooper. 2011. The evolution of adaptive immunity in vertebrates. *Adv. Immunol.* 109: 125–157.
- 2. Bangert, C., P. M. Brunner, and G. Stingl. 2011. Immune functions of the skin. *Clin. Dermatol.* 29: 360–376.
- 3. Elias, P. M. 2007. The skin barrier as an innate immune element. *Semin. Immunopathol.* 29: 3–14.
- 4. Perez-Lopez, A., J. Behnsen, S.-P. Nuccio, and M. Raffatellu. 2016. Mucosal immunity to pathogenic intestinal bacteria. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 16: 135–148.
- 5. Sjöberg, A. P., L. A. Trouw, and A. M. Blom. 2009. Complement activation and inhibition: a delicate balance. *Trends Immunol.* 30: 83–90.
- 6. Hiemstra, P. S. 2007. The role of epithelial beta-defensins and cathelicidins in host defense of the lung. *Exp. Lung Res.* 33: 537–542.
- 7. Holmskov, U., S. Thiel, and J. C. Jensenius. 2003. Collections and ficolins: humoral lectins of the innate immune defense. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 21: 547–578.
- 8. Turner, M. D., B. Nedjai, T. Hurst, and D. J. Pennington. 2014. Cytokines and chemokines: At the crossroads of cell signalling and inflammatory disease. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1843: 2563–2582.
- 9. Shachar, I., and N. Karin. 2013. The dual roles of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines in the regulation of autoimmune diseases and their clinical implications. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 93: 51–61.
- 10. Eberle, J. U., and D. Voehringer. 2016. Role of basophils in protective immunity to parasitic infections. *Semin. Immunopathol.* 38: 605–613.
- 11. Kaplan, M. J., and M. Radic. 2012. Neutrophil extracellular traps: double-edged swords of innate immunity. *J. Immunol.* 189: 2689–2695.
- 12. Krzyszczyk, P., R. Schloss, A. Palmer, and F. Berthiaume. 2018. The Role of Macrophages in Acute and Chronic Wound Healing and Interventions to Promote Prowound Healing Phenotypes. *Front. Physiol.* 9: 419.
- 13. Gordon, S., and A. Plüddemann. 2018. Macrophage Clearance of Apoptotic Cells: A Critical Assessment. *Front. Immunol.* 9: 127.
- 14. Garcia-Valtanen, P., R. M. Guzman-Genuino, D. L. Williams, J. D. Hayball, and K. R. Diener. 2017. Evaluation of trained immunity by β-1, 3 (d)-glucan on murine monocytes in vitro and duration of response in vivo. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* 95: 601–610.
- 15. Quintin, J., S. Saeed, J. H. A. Martens, E. J. Giamarellos-Bourboulis, D. C. Ifrim, C. Logie, L. Jacobs, T. Jansen, B.-J. Kullberg, C. Wijmenga, L. A. B. Joosten, R. J. Xavier, J. W. M. van der Meer, H. G. Stunnenberg, and M. G. Netea. 2012. Candida albicans infection affords protection against reinfection via functional reprogramming of monocytes. *Cell Host Microbe* 12: 223–232.
- 16. Moorlag, S. J. C. F. M., R. J. Röring, L. A. B. Joosten, and M. G. Netea. 2018. The role of the interleukin-1 family in trained immunity. *Immunol. Rev.* 281: 28–39.
- 17. Netea, M. G., J. Quintin, and J. W. M. van der Meer. 2011. Trained immunity: a memory for innate host defense. *Cell Host Microbe* 9: 355–361.
- Sturdevant, G. L., and H. D. Caldwell. 2014. Innate immunity is sufficient for the clearance of Chlamydia trachomatis from the female mouse genital tract. *Pathog. Dis.* 72: 70–73.
- 19. Steinman, R. M., and Z. A. Cohn. 1973. Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral

lymphoid organs of mice. I. Morphology, quantitation, tissue distribution. J. Exp. Med. 137: 1142–1162.

- Steinman, R. M., and M. D. Witmer. 1978. Lymphoid dendritic cells are potent stimulators of the primary mixed leukocyte reaction in mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S.* A. 75: 5132–5136.
- Nussenzweig, M. C., R. M. Steinman, B. Gutchinov, and Z. A. Cohn. 1980. Dendritic cells are accessory cells for the development of anti-trinitrophenyl cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* 152: 1070–1084.
- 22. Perussia, B., V. Fanning, and G. Trinchieri. 1985. A leukocyte subset bearing HLA-DR antigens is responsible for in vitro alpha interferon production in response to viruses. *Nat. Immun. Cell Growth Regul.* 4: 120–137.
- 23. Heath, W. R., and F. R. Carbone. 2009. Dendritic cell subsets in primary and secondary T cell responses at body surfaces. *Nat. Immunol.* 10: 1237–1244.
- Cella, M., D. Jarrossay, F. Facchetti, O. Alebardi, H. Nakajima, A. Lanzavecchia, and M. Colonna. 1999. Plasmacytoid monocytes migrate to inflamed lymph nodes and produce large amounts of type I interferon. *Nat. Med.* 5: 919–923.
- 25. Siegal, F. P., N. Kadowaki, M. Shodell, P. A. Fitzgerald-Bocarsly, K. Shah, S. Ho, S. Antonenko, and Y. J. Liu. 1999. The nature of the principal type 1 interferon-producing cells in human blood. *Science* 284: 1835–1837.
- Guilliams, M., F. Ginhoux, C. Jakubzick, S. H. Naik, N. Onai, B. U. Schraml, E. Segura, R. Tussiwand, and S. Yona. 2014. Dendritic cells, monocytes and macrophages: a unified nomenclature based on ontogeny. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 14: 571–578.
- 27. Villani, A.-C., R. Satija, G. Reynolds, S. Sarkizova, K. Shekhar, J. Fletcher, M. Griesbeck, A. Butler, S. Zheng, S. Lazo, L. Jardine, D. Dixon, E. Stephenson, E. Nilsson, I. Grundberg, D. McDonald, A. Filby, W. Li, P. L. De Jager, O. Rozenblatt-Rosen, A. A. Lane, M. Haniffa, A. Regev, and N. Hacohen. 2017. Single-cell RNA-seq reveals new types of human blood dendritic cells, monocytes, and progenitors. *Science* 356.
- 28. Guilliams, M., C.-A. Dutertre, C. L. Scott, N. McGovern, D. Sichien, S. Chakarov, S. Van Gassen, J. Chen, M. Poidinger, S. De Prijck, S. J. Tavernier, I. Low, S. E. Irac, C. N. Mattar, H. R. Sumatoh, G. H. L. Low, T. J. K. Chung, D. K. H. Chan, K. K. Tan, T. L. K. Hon, E. Fossum, B. Bogen, M. Choolani, J. K. Y. Chan, A. Larbi, H. Luche, S. Henri, Y. Saeys, E. W. Newell, B. N. Lambrecht, B. Malissen, and F. Ginhoux. 2016. Unsupervised High-Dimensional Analysis Aligns Dendritic Cells across Tissues and Species. *Immunity* 45: 669–684.
- 29. Alcántara-Hernández, M., R. Leylek, L. E. Wagar, E. G. Engleman, T. Keler, M. P. Marinkovich, M. M. Davis, G. P. Nolan, and J. Idoyaga. 2017. High-Dimensional Phenotypic Mapping of Human Dendritic Cells Reveals Interindividual Variation and Tissue Specialization. *Immunity* 47: 1037–1050.e6.
- Steinman, R. M., D. Hawiger, K. Liu, L. Bonifaz, D. Bonnyay, K. Mahnke, T. Iyoda, J. Ravetch, M. Dhodapkar, K. Inaba, and M. Nussenzweig. 2003. Dendritic cell function in vivo during the steady state: a role in peripheral tolerance. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 987: 15–25.
- 31. Reis e Sousa, C. 2004. Activation of dendritic cells: translating innate into adaptive immunity. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 16: 21–25.
- 32. Kawasaki, T., and T. Kawai. 2014. Toll-like receptor signaling pathways. *Front. Immunol.* 5: 461.

- 33. Janeway, C. A., Jr. 1989. Approaching the asymptote? Evolution and revolution in immunology. *Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol.* 54 Pt 1: 1–13.
- 34. Mogensen, T. H. 2009. Pathogen recognition and inflammatory signaling in innate immune defenses. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 22: 240–73, Table of Contents.
- 35. Akira, S., S. Uematsu, and O. Takeuchi. 2006. Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. *Cell* 124: 783–801.
- 36. Jiang, S., X. Li, N. J. Hess, Y. Guan, and R. I. Tapping. 2016. TLR10 Is a Negative Regulator of Both MyD88-Dependent and -Independent TLR Signaling. J. Immunol. 196: 3834–3841.
- 37. Ardeshna, K. M., A. R. Pizzey, S. Devereux, and A. Khwaja. 2000. The PI3 kinase, p38 SAP kinase, and NF-kappaB signal transduction pathways are involved in the survival and maturation of lipopolysaccharide-stimulated human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Blood* 96: 1039–1046.
- 38. Zhang, G., Z. Zhang, and Z. Liu. 2013. Interferon regulation factor-3 is a critical regulator of the mature of dendritic cells from mice. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 77: 13–20.
- 39. Corthay, A. 2006. A three-cell model for activation of naïve T helper cells. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 64: 93–96.
- 40. Sallusto, F., M. Cella, C. Danieli, and A. Lanzavecchia. 1995. Dendritic cells use macropinocytosis and the mannose receptor to concentrate macromolecules in the major histocompatibility complex class II compartment: downregulation by cytokines and bacterial products. *J. Exp. Med.* 182: 389–400.
- Cella, M., A. Engering, V. Pinet, J. Pieters, and A. Lanzavecchia. 1997. Inflammatory stimuli induce accumulation of MHC class II complexes on dendritic cells. *Nature* 388: 782–787.
- 42. Pierre, P., S. J. Turley, E. Gatti, M. Hull, J. Meltzer, A. Mirza, K. Inaba, R. M. Steinman, and I. Mellman. 1997. Developmental regulation of MHC class II transport in mouse dendritic cells. *Nature* 388: 787–792.
- 43. Boss, J. M. 1997. Regulation of transcription of MHC class II genes. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 9: 107–113.
- 44. Steimle, V., L. A. Otten, M. Zufferey, and B. Mach. 1993. Complementation cloning of an MHC class II transactivator mutated in hereditary MHC class II deficiency (or bare lymphocyte syndrome). *Cell* 75: 135–146.
- 45. Masternak, K., A. Muhlethaler-Mottet, J. Villard, M. Zufferey, V. Steimle, and W. Reith. 2000. CIITA is a transcriptional coactivator that is recruited to MHC class II promoters by multiple synergistic interactions with an enhanceosome complex. *Genes Dev.* 14: 1156–1166.
- 46. Caux, C., B. Vanbervliet, C. Massacrier, M. Azuma, K. Okumura, L. L. Lanier, and J. Banchereau. 1994. B70/B7-2 is identical to CD86 and is the major functional ligand for CD28 expressed on human dendritic cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 180: 1841–1847.
- 47. Koch, F., U. Stanzl, P. Jennewein, K. Janke, C. Heufler, E. Kämpgen, N. Romani, and G. Schuler. 1996. High level IL-12 production by murine dendritic cells: upregulation via MHC class II and CD40 molecules and downregulation by IL-4 and IL-10. *J. Exp. Med.* 184: 741–746.
- 48. Sallusto, F., P. Schaerli, P. Loetscher, C. Schaniel, D. Lenig, C. R. Mackay, S. Qin, and A. Lanzavecchia. 1998. Rapid and coordinated switch in chemokine receptor expression during dendritic cell maturation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 28: 2760–2769.

- 49. Banchereau, J., and R. M. Steinman. 1998. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. *Nature* 392: 245–252.
- 50. Förster, R., A. Braun, and T. Worbs. 2012. Lymph node homing of T cells and dendritic cells via afferent lymphatics. *Trends Immunol.* 33: 271–280.
- 51. Merad, M., P. Sathe, J. Helft, J. Miller, and A. Mortha. 2013. The dendritic cell lineage: ontogeny and function of dendritic cells and their subsets in the steady state and the inflamed setting. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 31: 563–604.
- 52. Fogg, D. K., C. Sibon, C. Miled, S. Jung, P. Aucouturier, D. R. Littman, A. Cumano, and F. Geissmann. 2006. A clonogenic bone marrow progenitor specific for macrophages and dendritic cells. *Science* 311: 83–87.
- 53. Eisenbarth, S. C. 2019. Dendritic cell subsets in T cell programming: location dictates function. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 19: 89–103.
- 54. Metlay, J. P., M. D. Witmer-Pack, R. Agger, M. T. Crowley, D. Lawless, and R. M. Steinman. 1990. The distinct leukocyte integrins of mouse spleen dendritic cells as identified with new hamster monoclonal antibodies. *J. Exp. Med.* 171: 1753–1771.
- 55. Bain, C. C., C. L. Scott, H. Uronen-Hansson, S. Gudjonsson, O. Jansson, O. Grip, M. Guilliams, B. Malissen, W. W. Agace, and A. M. Mowat. 2013. Resident and proinflammatory macrophages in the colon represent alternative context-dependent fates of the same Ly6Chi monocyte precursors. *Mucosal Immunol.* 6: 498–510.
- 56. Lumeng, C. N., J. L. Bodzin, and A. R. Saltiel. 2007. Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. *J. Clin. Invest.* 117: 175–184.
- 57. Sichien, D., B. N. Lambrecht, M. Guilliams, and C. L. Scott. 2017. Development of conventional dendritic cells: from common bone marrow progenitors to multiple subsets in peripheral tissues. *Mucosal Immunol*. 10: 831–844.
- 58. Liu, K., G. D. Victora, T. A. Schwickert, P. Guermonprez, M. M. Meredith, K. Yao, F.-F. Chu, G. J. Randolph, A. Y. Rudensky, and M. Nussenzweig. 2009. In vivo analysis of dendritic cell development and homeostasis. *Science* 324: 392–397.
- Onai, N., A. Obata-Onai, M. A. Schmid, T. Ohteki, D. Jarrossay, and M. G. Manz. 2007. Identification of clonogenic common Flt3+M-CSFR+ plasmacytoid and conventional dendritic cell progenitors in mouse bone marrow. *Nat. Immunol.* 8: 1207–1216.
- 60. Naik, S. H., P. Sathe, H.-Y. Park, D. Metcalf, A. I. Proietto, A. Dakic, S. Carotta, M. O'Keeffe, M. Bahlo, A. Papenfuss, J.-Y. Kwak, L. Wu, and K. Shortman. 2007. Development of plasmacytoid and conventional dendritic cell subtypes from single precursor cells derived in vitro and in vivo. *Nat. Immunol.* 8: 1217–1226.
- Schlitzer, A., V. Sivakamasundari, J. Chen, H. R. B. Sumatoh, J. Schreuder, J. Lum, B. Malleret, S. Zhang, A. Larbi, F. Zolezzi, L. Renia, M. Poidinger, S. Naik, E. W. Newell, P. Robson, and F. Ginhoux. 2015. Identification of cDC1- and cDC2-committed DC progenitors reveals early lineage priming at the common DC progenitor stage in the bone marrow. *Nat. Immunol.* 16: 718–728.
- 62. Sichien, D., C. L. Scott, L. Martens, M. Vanderkerken, S. Van Gassen, M. Plantinga, T. Joeris, S. De Prijck, L. Vanhoutte, M. Vanheerswynghels, G. Van Isterdael, W. Toussaint, F. B. Madeira, K. Vergote, W. W. Agace, B. E. Clausen, H. Hammad, M. Dalod, Y. Saeys, B. N. Lambrecht, and M. Guilliams. 2016. IRF8 Transcription Factor Controls Survival and Function of Terminally Differentiated Conventional and Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells, Respectively. *Immunity* 45: 626–640.
- 63. Hildner, K., B. T. Edelson, W. E. Purtha, M. Diamond, H. Matsushita, M. Kohyama, B.

Calderon, B. U. Schraml, E. R. Unanue, M. S. Diamond, R. D. Schreiber, T. L. Murphy, and K. M. Murphy. 2008. Batf3 deficiency reveals a critical role for CD8alpha+ dendritic cells in cytotoxic T cell immunity. *Science* 322: 1097–1100.

- 64. Suzuki, S., K. Honma, T. Matsuyama, K. Suzuki, K. Toriyama, I. Akitoyo, K. Yamamoto, T. Suematsu, M. Nakamura, K. Yui, and A. Kumatori. 2004. Critical roles of interferon regulatory factor 4 in CD11bhighCD8alpha- dendritic cell development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 101: 8981–8986.
- 65. Bachem, A., E. Hartung, S. Güttler, A. Mora, X. Zhou, A. Hegemann, M. Plantinga, E. Mazzini, P. Stoitzner, S. Gurka, V. Henn, H. W. Mages, and R. A. Kroczek. 2012. Expression of XCR1 Characterizes the Batf3-Dependent Lineage of Dendritic Cells Capable of Antigen Cross-Presentation. *Front. Immunol.* 3: 214.
- 66. Durai, V., and K. M. Murphy. 2016. Functions of Murine Dendritic Cells. *Immunity* 45: 719–736.
- 67. Mashayekhi, M., M. M. Sandau, I. R. Dunay, E. M. Frickel, A. Khan, R. S. Goldszmid, A. Sher, H. L. Ploegh, T. L. Murphy, L. D. Sibley, and K. M. Murphy. 2011. CD8α(+) dendritic cells are the critical source of interleukin-12 that controls acute infection by Toxoplasma gondii tachyzoites. *Immunity* 35: 249–259.
- Lewis, K. L., M. L. Caton, M. Bogunovic, M. Greter, L. T. Grajkowska, D. Ng, A. Klinakis, I. F. Charo, S. Jung, J. L. Gommerman, I. I. Ivanov, K. Liu, M. Merad, and B. Reizis. 2011. Notch2 receptor signaling controls functional differentiation of dendritic cells in the spleen and intestine. *Immunity* 35: 780–791.
- 69. Satpathy, A. T., C. G. Briseño, J. S. Lee, D. Ng, N. A. Manieri, W. Kc, X. Wu, S. R. Thomas, W.-L. Lee, M. Turkoz, K. G. McDonald, M. M. Meredith, C. Song, C. J. Guidos, R. D. Newberry, W. Ouyang, T. L. Murphy, T. S. Stappenbeck, J. L. Gommerman, M. C. Nussenzweig, M. Colonna, R. Kopan, and K. M. Murphy. 2013. Notch2-dependent classical dendritic cells orchestrate intestinal immunity to attaching-and-effacing bacterial pathogens. *Nat. Immunol.* 14: 937–948.
- 70. Yamazaki, S., D. Dudziak, G. F. Heidkamp, C. Fiorese, A. J. Bonito, K. Inaba, M. C. Nussenzweig, and R. M. Steinman. 2008. CD8+ CD205+ splenic dendritic cells are specialized to induce Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *J. Immunol.* 181: 6923–6933.
- 71. Win, S. J., V. K. Ward, P. R. Dunbar, S. L. Young, and M. A. Baird. 2011. Crosspresentation of epitopes on virus-like particles via the MHC I receptor recycling pathway. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* 89: 681–688.
- 72. O'Keeffe, M., H. Hochrein, D. Vremec, I. Caminschi, J. L. Miller, E. M. Anders, L. Wu, M. H. Lahoud, S. Henri, B. Scott, P. Hertzog, L. Tatarczuch, and K. Shortman. 2002. Mouse plasmacytoid cells: long-lived cells, heterogeneous in surface phenotype and function, that differentiate into CD8(+) dendritic cells only after microbial stimulus. *J. Exp. Med.* 196: 1307–1319.
- 73. Reizis, B., A. Bunin, H. S. Ghosh, K. L. Lewis, and V. Sisirak. 2011. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells: recent progress and open questions. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 29: 163–183.
- Björck, P. 2001. Isolation and characterization of plasmacytoid dendritic cells from Flt3 ligand and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor-treated mice. *Blood* 98: 3520–3526.
- 75. Blasius, A. L., E. Giurisato, M. Cella, R. D. Schreiber, A. S. Shaw, and M. Colonna. 2006. Bone marrow stromal cell antigen 2 is a specific marker of type I IFN-producing cells in the naive mouse, but a promiscuous cell surface antigen following IFN

stimulation. J. Immunol. 177: 3260-3265.

- 76. Asselin-Paturel, C., A. Boonstra, M. Dalod, I. Durand, N. Yessaad, C. Dezutter-Dambuyant, A. Vicari, A. O'Garra, C. Biron, F. Brière, and G. Trinchieri. 2001. Mouse type I IFN-producing cells are immature APCs with plasmacytoid morphology. *Nat. Immunol.* 2: 1144–1150.
- 77. Nakano, H., M. Yanagita, and M. D. Gunn. 2001. CD11c(+)B220(+)Gr-1(+) cells in mouse lymph nodes and spleen display characteristics of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J. Exp. Med. 194: 1171–1178.
- 78. Colonna, M., G. Trinchieri, and Y.-J. Liu. 2004. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells in immunity. *Nat. Immunol.* 5: 1219–1226.
- 79. Kerkmann, M., S. Rothenfusser, V. Hornung, A. Towarowski, M. Wagner, A. Sarris, T. Giese, S. Endres, and G. Hartmann. 2003. Activation with CpG-A and CpG-B oligonucleotides reveals two distinct regulatory pathways of type I IFN synthesis in human plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *J. Immunol.* 170: 4465–4474.
- Izaguirre, A., B. J. Barnes, S. Amrute, W.-S. Yeow, N. Megjugorac, J. Dai, D. Feng, E. Chung, P. M. Pitha, and P. Fitzgerald-Bocarsly. 2003. Comparative analysis of IRF and IFN-alpha expression in human plasmacytoid and monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 74: 1125–1138.
- Honda, K., Y. Ohba, H. Yanai, H. Negishi, T. Mizutani, A. Takaoka, C. Taya, and T. Taniguchi. 2005. Spatiotemporal regulation of MyD88-IRF-7 signalling for robust type-I interferon induction. *Nature* 434: 1035–1040.
- 82. Decalf, J., S. Fernandes, R. Longman, M. Ahloulay, F. Audat, F. Lefrerre, C. M. Rice, S. Pol, and M. L. Albert. 2007. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells initiate a complex chemokine and cytokine network and are a viable drug target in chronic HCV patients. *J. Exp. Med.* 204: 2423–2437.
- 83. Lombardi, V., A. O. Speak, J. Kerzerho, N. Szely, and O. Akbari. 2012. $CD8\alpha^+\beta^-$ and $CD8\alpha^+\beta^+$ plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells and prevent the induction of airway hyper-reactivity. *Mucosal Immunol.* 5: 432–443.
- 84. Faget, J., V. Sisirak, J.-Y. Blay, C. Caux, N. Bendriss-Vermare, and C. Ménétrier-Caux. 2013. ICOS is associated with poor prognosis in breast cancer as it promotes the amplification of immunosuppressive CD4+ T cells by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Oncoimmunology* 2: e23185.
- 85. Ju, X., M. Zenke, D. N. J. Hart, and G. J. Clark. 2008. CD300a/c regulate type I interferon and TNF-alpha secretion by human plasmacytoid dendritic cells stimulated with TLR7 and TLR9 ligands. *Blood* 112: 1184–1194.
- 86. Matsui, T., J. E. Connolly, M. Michnevitz, D. Chaussabel, C.-I. Yu, C. Glaser, S. Tindle, M. Pypaert, H. Freitas, B. Piqueras, J. Banchereau, and A. K. Palucka. 2009. CD2 distinguishes two subsets of human plasmacytoid dendritic cells with distinct phenotype and functions. *J. Immunol.* 182: 6815–6823.
- 87. Villadangos, J. A., and L. Young. 2008. Antigen-presentation properties of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Immunity* 29: 352–361.
- 88. Tel, J., E. H. J. G. Aarntzen, T. Baba, G. Schreibelt, B. M. Schulte, D. Benitez-Ribas, O. C. Boerman, S. Croockewit, W. J. G. Oyen, M. van Rossum, G. Winkels, P. G. Coulie, C. J. A. Punt, C. G. Figdor, and I. J. M. de Vries. 2013. Natural human plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce antigen-specific T-cell responses in melanoma patients. *Cancer Res.* 73: 1063–1075.

- 89. Swiecki, M., and M. Colonna. 2015. The multifaceted biology of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 15: 471–485.
- 90. Jego, G., A. K. Palucka, J.-P. Blanck, C. Chalouni, V. Pascual, and J. Banchereau. 2003. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce plasma cell differentiation through type I interferon and interleukin 6. *Immunity* 19: 225–234.
- 91. Duriancik, D. M., and K. A. Hoag. 2009. The identification and enumeration of dendritic cell populations from individual mouse spleen and Peyer's patches using flow cytometric analysis. *Cytometry A* 75: 951–959.
- 92. Gilliet, M., A. Boonstra, C. Paturel, S. Antonenko, X.-L. Xu, G. Trinchieri, A. O'Garra, and Y.-J. Liu. 2002. The development of murine plasmacytoid dendritic cell precursors is differentially regulated by FLT3-ligand and granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor. J. Exp. Med. 195: 953–958.
- Brasel, K., T. De Smedt, J. L. Smith, and C. R. Maliszewski. 2000. Generation of murine dendritic cells from flt3-ligand-supplemented bone marrow cultures. *Blood* 96: 3029– 3039.
- 94. Brawand, P., D. R. Fitzpatrick, B. W. Greenfield, K. Brasel, C. R. Maliszewski, and T. De Smedt. 2002. Murine plasmacytoid pre-dendritic cells generated from Flt3 ligand-supplemented bone marrow cultures are immature APCs. *J. Immunol.* 169: 6711–6719.
- 95. Helft, J., J. Böttcher, P. Chakravarty, S. Zelenay, J. Huotari, B. U. Schraml, D. Goubau, and C. Reis e Sousa. 2015. GM-CSF Mouse Bone Marrow Cultures Comprise a Heterogeneous Population of CD11c(+)MHCII(+) Macrophages and Dendritic Cells. *Immunity* 42: 1197–1211.
- 96. Wells, J. W., D. Darling, F. Farzaneh, and J. Galea-Lauri. 2005. Influence of interleukin-4 on the phenotype and function of bone marrow-derived murine dendritic cells generated under serum-free conditions. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 61: 251–259.
- 97. Wang, J., X. Dai, C. Hsu, C. Ming, Y. He, J. Zhang, L. Wei, P. Zhou, C.-Y. Wang, J. Yang, and N. Gong. 2017. Discrimination of the heterogeneity of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells. *Mol. Med. Rep.* 16: 6787–6793.
- 98. Bonilla, F. A., and H. C. Oettgen. 2010. Adaptive immunity. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 125: S33–40.
- 99. Schwartz, R. H. 2012. Historical overview of immunological tolerance. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 4: a006908.
- 100. Liu, G. Y., P. J. Fairchild, R. M. Smith, J. R. Prowle, D. Kioussis, and D. C. Wraith. 1995. Low avidity recognition of self-antigen by T cells permits escape from central tolerance. *Immunity* 3: 407–415.
- 101. Morgan, D. J., H. T. Kreuwel, S. Fleck, H. I. Levitsky, D. M. Pardoll, and L. A. Sherman. 1998. Activation of low avidity CTL specific for a self epitope results in tumor rejection but not autoimmunity. *J. Immunol.* 160: 643–651.
- 102. Schwartz, R. H. 2003. T cell anergy. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 21: 305-334.
- 103. Ohashi, P. S., and A. L. DeFranco. 2002. Making and breaking tolerance. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 14: 744–759.
- 104. Chien, Y. H., N. R. Gascoigne, J. Kavaler, N. E. Lee, and M. M. Davis. 1984. Somatic recombination in a murine T-cell receptor gene. *Nature* 309: 322–326.
- 105. Bassing, C. H., W. Swat, and F. W. Alt. 2002. The Mechanism and Regulation of Chromosomal V(D)J Recombination. *Cell* 109: S45–S55.
- 106. Zlotoff, D. A., B. A. Schwarz, and A. Bhandoola. 2008. The long road to the thymus: the

generation, mobilization, and circulation of T-cell progenitors in mouse and man. *Semin. Immunopathol.* 30: 371–382.

- 107. Björses, P., M. Pelto-Huikko, J. Kaukonen, J. Aaltonen, L. Peltonen, and I. Ulmanen. 1999. Localization of the APECED protein in distinct nuclear structures. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 8: 259–266.
- 108. Anderson, M. S., E. S. Venanzi, L. Klein, Z. Chen, S. P. Berzins, S. J. Turley, H. von Boehmer, R. Bronson, A. Dierich, C. Benoist, and D. Mathis. 2002. Projection of an immunological self shadow within the thymus by the aire protein. *Science* 298: 1395– 1401.
- 109. Liston, A., S. Lesage, J. Wilson, L. Peltonen, and C. C. Goodnow. 2003. Aire regulates negative selection of organ-specific T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 4: 350–354.
- 110. Mandl, J. N., J. P. Monteiro, N. Vrisekoop, and R. N. Germain. 2013. T cell-positive selection uses self-ligand binding strength to optimize repertoire recognition of foreign antigens. *Immunity* 38: 263–274.
- 111. Linsley, P. S., W. Brady, L. Grosmaire, A. Aruffo, N. K. Damle, and J. A. Ledbetter. 1991. Binding of the B cell activation antigen B7 to CD28 costimulates T cell proliferation and interleukin 2 mRNA accumulation. *J. Exp. Med.* 173: 721–730.
- 112. Luckheeram, R. V., R. Zhou, A. D. Verma, and B. Xia. 2012. CD4⁺T cells: differentiation and functions. *Clin. Dev. Immunol.* 2012: 925135.
- 113. Ludewig, B., S. Oehen, F. Barchiesi, R. A. Schwendener, H. Hengartner, and R. M. Zinkernagel. 1999. Protective antiviral cytotoxic T cell memory is most efficiently maintained by restimulation via dendritic cells. *J. Immunol.* 163: 1839–1844.
- 114. Del Prete, G. 1992. Human Th1 and Th2 lymphocytes: their role in the pathophysiology of atopy. *Allergy* 47: 450–455.
- 115. Murray, H. W., B. Y. Rubin, S. M. Carriero, A. M. Harris, and E. A. Jaffee. 1985. Human mononuclear phagocyte antiprotozoal mechanisms: oxygen-dependent vs oxygenindependent activity against intracellular Toxoplasma gondii. *J. Immunol.* 134: 1982– 1988.
- 116. Kim, H. P., J. Imbert, and W. J. Leonard. 2006. Both integrated and differential regulation of components of the IL-2/IL-2 receptor system. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 17: 349–366.
- 117. Zhu, J., H. Yamane, J. Cote-Sierra, L. Guo, and W. E. Paul. 2006. GATA-3 promotes Th2 responses through three different mechanisms: induction of Th2 cytokine production, selective growth of Th2 cells and inhibition of Th1 cell-specific factors. *Cell Res.* 16: 3–10.
- 118. Sokol, C. L., N.-Q. Chu, S. Yu, S. A. Nish, T. M. Laufer, and R. Medzhitov. 2009. Basophils function as antigen-presenting cells for an allergen-induced T helper type 2 response. *Nat. Immunol.* 10: 713–720.
- 119. Ivanov, I. I., B. S. McKenzie, L. Zhou, C. E. Tadokoro, A. Lepelley, J. J. Lafaille, D. J. Cua, and D. R. Littman. 2006. The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. *Cell* 126: 1121–1133.
- 120. Annunziato, F., L. Cosmi, V. Santarlasci, L. Maggi, F. Liotta, B. Mazzinghi, E. Parente, L. Filì, S. Ferri, F. Frosali, F. Giudici, P. Romagnani, P. Parronchi, F. Tonelli, E. Maggi, and S. Romagnani. 2007. Phenotypic and functional features of human Th17 cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 204: 1849–1861.
- 121. Chen, W., W. Jin, N. Hardegen, K.-J. Lei, L. Li, N. Marinos, G. McGrady, and S. M.

Wahl. 2003. Conversion of peripheral CD4+CD25- naive T cells to CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells by TGF-beta induction of transcription factor Foxp3. *J. Exp. Med.* 198: 1875–1886.

- 122. Couper, K. N., D. G. Blount, and E. M. Riley. 2008. IL-10: the master regulator of immunity to infection. *J. Immunol.* 180: 5771–5777.
- 123. Ouyang, W., S. Rutz, N. K. Crellin, P. A. Valdez, and S. G. Hymowitz. 2011. Regulation and functions of the IL-10 family of cytokines in inflammation and disease. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 29: 71–109.
- 124. Palomares, O. 2013. The role of regulatory T cells in IgE-mediated food allergy. J. Investig. Allergol. Clin. Immunol. 23: 371–82; quiz 2 p preceding 382.
- 125. Zinkernagel, R. M., and P. C. Doherty. 1974. Immunological surveillance against altered self components by sensitised T lymphocytes in lymphocytic choriomeningitis. *Nature* 251: 547–548.
- 126. Butz, E. A., and M. J. Bevan. 1998. Massive expansion of antigen-specific CD8+ T cells during an acute virus infection. *Immunity* 8: 167–175.
- 127. Peters, P. J., J. Borst, V. Oorschot, M. Fukuda, O. Krähenbühl, J. Tschopp, J. W. Slot, and H. J. Geuze. 1991. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte granules are secretory lysosomes, containing both perform and granzymes. *J. Exp. Med.* 173: 1099–1109.
- 128. Bertrand, F. E., C. E. Eckfeldt, J. R. Fink, A. S. Lysholm, J. A. Pribyl, N. Shah, and T. W. LeBien. 2000. Microenvironmental influences on human B-cell development. *Immunol. Rev.* 175: 175–186.
- 129. Carrasco, Y. R., and F. D. Batista. 2007. B cells acquire particulate antigen in a macrophage-rich area at the boundary between the follicle and the subcapsular sinus of the lymph node. *Immunity* 27: 160–171.
- 130. Suzuki, K., I. Grigorova, T. G. Phan, L. M. Kelly, and J. G. Cyster. 2009. Visualizing B cell capture of cognate antigen from follicular dendritic cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 206: 1485– 1493.
- 131. Qi, H., J. G. Egen, A. Y. C. Huang, and R. N. Germain. 2006. Extrafollicular activation of lymph node B cells by antigen-bearing dendritic cells. *Science* 312: 1672–1676.
- 132. Vos, Q., A. Lees, Z. Q. Wu, C. M. Snapper, and J. J. Mond. 2000. B-cell activation by T-cell-independent type 2 antigens as an integral part of the humoral immune response to pathogenic microorganisms. *Immunol. Rev.* 176: 154–170.
- 133. Parker, D. C. 1993. T cell-dependent B cell activation. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 11: 331-360.
- 134. Rajewsky, K., I. Förster, and A. Cumano. 1987. Evolutionary and somatic selection of the antibody repertoire in the mouse. *Science* 238: 1088–1094.
- 135. Klein, S. L., and K. L. Flanagan. 2016. Sex differences in immune responses. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 16: 626–638.
- 136. Pisitkun, P., J. A. Deane, M. J. Difilippantonio, T. Tarasenko, A. B. Satterthwaite, and S. Bolland. 2006. Autoreactive B cell responses to RNA-related antigens due to TLR7 gene duplication. *Science* 312: 1669–1672.
- 137. Berghöfer, B., T. Frommer, G. Haley, L. Fink, G. Bein, and H. Hackstein. 2006. TLR7 ligands induce higher IFN-alpha production in females. *J. Immunol.* 177: 2088–2096.
- 138. Griesbeck, M., S. Ziegler, S. Laffont, N. Smith, L. Chauveau, P. Tomezsko, A. Sharei, G. Kourjian, F. Porichis, M. Hart, C. D. Palmer, M. Sirignano, C. Beisel, H. Hildebrandt, C. Cénac, A.-C. Villani, T. J. Diefenbach, S. Le Gall, O. Schwartz, J.-P. Herbeuval, B. Autran, J.-C. Guéry, J. J. Chang, and M. Altfeld. 2015. Sex Differences in Plasmacytoid

Dendritic Cell Levels of IRF5 Drive Higher IFN-α Production in Women. *J. Immunol.* 195: 5327–5336.

- 139. Klein, S. L., A. Jedlicka, and A. Pekosz. 2010. The Xs and Y of immune responses to viral vaccines. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* 10: 338–349.
- 140. Hannah, M. F., V. B. Bajic, and S. L. Klein. 2008. Sex differences in the recognition of and innate antiviral responses to Seoul virus in Norway rats. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 22: 503–516.
- 141. Weinstein, Y., S. Ran, and S. Segal. 1984. Sex-associated differences in the regulation of immune responses controlled by the MHC of the mouse. *J. Immunol.* 132: 656–661.
- 142. Spitzer, J. A. 1999. Gender differences in some host defense mechanisms. *Lupus* 8: 380–383.
- 143. Russi, A. E., M. E. Walker-Caulfield, M. E. Ebel, and M. A. Brown. 2015. Cutting edge: c-Kit signaling differentially regulates type 2 innate lymphoid cell accumulation and susceptibility to central nervous system demyelination in male and female SJL mice. J. Immunol. 194: 5609–5613.
- 144. Laffont, S., E. Blanquart, M. Savignac, C. Cénac, G. Laverny, D. Metzger, J.-P. Girard, G. T. Belz, L. Pelletier, C. Seillet, and J.-C. Guéry. 2017. Androgen signaling negatively controls group 2 innate lymphoid cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 214: 1581–1592.
- 145. Kadel, S., E. Ainsua-Enrich, I. Hatipoglu, S. Turner, S. Singh, S. Khan, and S. Kovats. 2018. A Major Population of Functional KLRG1- ILC2s in Female Lungs Contributes to a Sex Bias in ILC2 Numbers. *Immunohorizons* 2: 74–86.
- 146. Torcia, M. G., L. Nencioni, A. M. Clemente, L. Civitelli, I. Celestino, D. Limongi, G. Fadigati, E. Perissi, F. Cozzolino, E. Garaci, and A. T. Palamara. 2012. Sex differences in the response to viral infections: TLR8 and TLR9 ligand stimulation induce higher IL10 production in males. *PLoS One* 7: e39853.
- 147. Aomatsu, M., T. Kato, E. Kasahara, and S. Kitagawa. 2013. Gender difference in tumor necrosis factor-α production in human neutrophils stimulated by lipopolysaccharide and interferon-γ. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 441: 220–225.
- 148. Marriott, I., K. L. Bost, and Y. M. Huet-Hudson. 2006. Sexual dimorphism in expression of receptors for bacterial lipopolysaccharides in murine macrophages: a possible mechanism for gender-based differences in endotoxic shock susceptibility. *J. Reprod. Immunol.* 71: 12–27.
- 149. Abdullah, M., P.-S. Chai, M.-Y. Chong, E. R. M. Tohit, R. Ramasamy, C. P. Pei, and S. Vidyadaran. 2012. Gender effect on in vitro lymphocyte subset levels of healthy individuals. *Cell. Immunol.* 272: 214–219.
- 150. Lee, B. W., H. K. Yap, F. T. Chew, T. C. Quah, K. Prabhakaran, G. S. Chan, S. C. Wong, and C. C. Seah. 1996. Age- and sex-related changes in lymphocyte subpopulations of healthy Asian subjects: from birth to adulthood. *Cytometry* 26: 8–15.
- 151. Lisse, I. M., P. Aaby, H. Whittle, H. Jensen, M. Engelmann, and L. B. Christensen. 1997. T-lymphocyte subsets in West African children: impact of age, sex, and season. J. Pediatr. 130: 77–85.
- 152. Uppal, S. S., S. Verma, and P. S. Dhot. 2003. Normal values of CD4 and CD8 lymphocyte subsets in healthy indian adults and the effects of sex, age, ethnicity, and smoking. *Cytometry B Clin. Cytom.* 52: 32–36.
- 153. Sankaran-Walters, S., M. Macal, I. Grishina, L. Nagy, L. Goulart, K. Coolidge, J. Li, A. Fenton, T. Williams, M. K. Miller, J. Flamm, T. Prindiville, M. George, and S. Dandekar.

2013. Sex differences matter in the gut: effect on mucosal immune activation and inflammation. *Biol. Sex Differ.* 4: 10.

- 154. Hewagama, A., D. Patel, S. Yarlagadda, F. M. Strickland, and B. C. Richardson. 2009. Stronger inflammatory/cytotoxic T-cell response in women identified by microarray analysis. *Genes Immun.* 10: 509–516.
- 155. Roberts, C. W., W. Walker, and J. Alexander. 2001. Sex-associated hormones and immunity to protozoan parasites. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 14: 476–488.
- 156. Girón-González, J. A., F. J. Moral, J. Elvira, D. García-Gil, F. Guerrero, I. Gavilán, and L. Escobar. 2000. Consistent production of a higher TH1:TH2 cytokine ratio by stimulated T cells in men compared with women. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 143: 31–36.
- 157. Afshan, G., N. Afzal, and S. Qureshi. 2012. CD4+CD25(hi) regulatory T cells in healthy males and females mediate gender difference in the prevalence of autoimmune diseases. *Clin. Lab.* 58: 567–571.
- 158. Teixeira, D., I. M. Longo-Maugeri, J. L. F. Santos, Y. A. O. Duarte, M. L. Lebrão, and V. Bueno. 2011. Evaluation of lymphocyte levels in a random sample of 218 elderly individuals from São Paulo city. *Rev. Bras. Hematol. Hemoter.* 33: 367–371.
- 159. Furman, D., B. P. Hejblum, N. Simon, V. Jojic, C. L. Dekker, R. Thiébaut, R. J. Tibshirani, and M. M. Davis. 2014. Systems analysis of sex differences reveals an immunosuppressive role for testosterone in the response to influenza vaccination. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 111: 869–874.
- 160. Fan, H., G. Dong, G. Zhao, F. Liu, G. Yao, Y. Zhu, and Y. Hou. 2014. Gender differences of B cell signature in healthy subjects underlie disparities in incidence and course of SLE related to estrogen. *J Immunol Res* 2014: 814598.
- 161. Libert, C., L. Dejager, and I. Pinheiro. 2010. The X chromosome in immune functions: when a chromosome makes the difference. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 10: 594–604.
- 162. Case, L. K., L. Toussaint, M. Moussawi, B. Roberts, N. Saligrama, L. Brossay, S. A. Huber, and C. Teuscher. 2012. Chromosome y regulates survival following murine coxsackievirus b3 infection. G3 2: 115–121.
- 163. Ghorai, A., and U. Ghosh. 2014. miRNA gene counts in chromosomes vary widely in a species and biogenesis of miRNA largely depends on transcription or post-transcriptional processing of coding genes. *Front. Genet.* 5: 100.
- 164. Pinheiro, I., L. Dejager, and C. Libert. 2011. X-chromosome-located microRNAs in immunity: might they explain male/female differences? The X chromosome-genomic context may affect X-located miRNAs and downstream signaling, thereby contributing to the enhanced immune response of females. *Bioessays* 33: 791–802.
- 165. Sharma, S., and M. Eghbali. 2014. Influence of sex differences on microRNA gene regulation in disease. *Biol. Sex Differ.* 5: 3.
- 166. Mohamed, M. S., E. M. A. E.- Nahrery, N. Shalaby, M. Hussein, R. A. E. Aal, and M. M. Mohamed. 2019. Micro-RNA 18b and interleukin 17A profiles in relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis. *Mult. Scler. Relat. Disord.* 28: 226–229.
- 167. Jiang, S., C. Li, V. Olive, E. Lykken, F. Feng, J. Sevilla, Y. Wan, L. He, and Q.-J. Li. 2011. Molecular dissection of the miR-17-92 cluster's critical dual roles in promoting Th1 responses and preventing inducible Treg differentiation. *Blood* 118: 5487–5497.
- 168. Simpson, L. J., S. Patel, N. R. Bhakta, D. F. Choy, H. D. Brightbill, X. Ren, Y. Wang, H. H. Pua, D. Baumjohann, M. M. Montoya, M. Panduro, K. A. Remedios, X. Huang, J. V. Fahy, J. R. Arron, P. G. Woodruff, and K. M. Ansel. 2014. A microRNA upregulated in

asthma airway T cells promotes TH2 cytokine production. Nat. Immunol. 15: 1162–1170.

- 169. Liu, S.-Q., S. Jiang, C. Li, B. Zhang, and Q.-J. Li. 2014. miR-17-92 cluster targets phosphatase and tensin homology and Ikaros Family Zinc Finger 4 to promote TH17-mediated inflammation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289: 12446–12456.
- 170. Koçar, I. H., Z. Yesilova, M. Ozata, M. Turan, A. Sengül, and I. Ozdemir. 2000. The effect of testosterone replacement treatment on immunological features of patients with Klinefelter's syndrome. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 121: 448–452.
- 171. Cacciari, E., M. Masi, M. P. Fantini, F. Licastro, A. Cicognani, P. Pirazzoli, M. P. Villa, F. Specchia, A. Forabosco, C. Franceschi, and L. Martoni. 1981. Serum immunoglobulins and lymphocyte subpopulations derangement in Turner's syndrome. *J. Immunogenet.* 8: 337–344.
- 172. Sawalha, A. H., J. B. Harley, and R. H. Scofield. 2009. Autoimmunity and Klinefelter's syndrome: when men have two X chromosomes. *J. Autoimmun.* 33: 31–34.
- 173. Bianchi, I., A. Lleo, M. E. Gershwin, and P. Invernizzi. 2012. The X chromosome and immune associated genes. J. Autoimmun. 38: J187–92.
- 174. Robinson, D. P., O. J. Hall, T. L. Nilles, J. H. Bream, and S. L. Klein. 2014. 17β-estradiol protects females against influenza by recruiting neutrophils and increasing virus-specific CD8 T cell responses in the lungs. *J. Virol.* 88: 4711–4720.
- 175. Nakaya, M., H. Tachibana, and K. Yamada. 2006. Effect of estrogens on the interferongamma producing cell population of mouse splenocytes. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 70: 47–53.
- 176. Hao, S., J. Zhao, J. Zhou, S. Zhao, Y. Hu, and Y. Hou. 2007. Modulation of 17betaestradiol on the number and cytotoxicity of NK cells in vivo related to MCM and activating receptors. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 7: 1765–1775.
- 177. Bouman, A., M. J. Heineman, and M. M. Faas. 2005. Sex hormones and the immune response in humans. *Hum. Reprod. Update* 11: 411–423.
- 178. Rettew, J. A., Y. M. Huet, and I. Marriott. 2009. Estrogens augment cell surface TLR4 expression on murine macrophages and regulate sepsis susceptibility in vivo. *Endocrinology* 150: 3877–3884.
- 179. Paharkova-Vatchkova, V., R. Maldonado, and S. Kovats. 2004. Estrogen preferentially promotes the differentiation of CD11c+ CD11b(intermediate) dendritic cells from bone marrow precursors. *J. Immunol.* 172: 1426–1436.
- 180. Laffont, S., C. Seillet, and J.-C. Guéry. 2017. Estrogen Receptor-Dependent Regulation of Dendritic Cell Development and Function. *Front. Immunol.* 8: 108.
- 181. Bengtsson, A. K., E. J. Ryan, D. Giordano, D. M. Magaletti, and E. A. Clark. 2004. 17beta-estradiol (E2) modulates cytokine and chemokine expression in human monocytederived dendritic cells. *Blood* 104: 1404–1410.
- 182. Siracusa, M. C., M. G. Overstreet, F. Housseau, A. L. Scott, and S. L. Klein. 2008. 17beta-estradiol alters the activity of conventional and IFN-producing killer dendritic cells. *J. Immunol.* 180: 1423–1431.
- 183. Miller, L., and J. S. Hunt. 1996. Sex steroid hormones and macrophage function. *Life Sci.* 59: 1–14.
- 184. Seillet, C., S. Laffont, F. Trémollières, N. Rouquié, C. Ribot, J.-F. Arnal, V. Douin-Echinard, P. Gourdy, and J.-C. Guéry. 2012. The TLR-mediated response of plasmacytoid dendritic cells is positively regulated by estradiol in vivo through cellintrinsic estrogen receptor α signaling. *Blood* 119: 454–464.

- 185. Karpuzoglu, E., R. A. Phillips, R. M. Gogal Jr, and S. Ansar Ahmed. 2007. IFN-gammainducing transcription factor, T-bet is upregulated by estrogen in murine splenocytes: role of IL-27 but not IL-12. *Mol. Immunol.* 44: 1808–1814.
- 186. Straub, R. H. 2007. The complex role of estrogens in inflammation. *Endocr. Rev.* 28: 521–574.
- 187. Dinesh, R., B. Hahn, and R. Singh. 2011. Sex hormones and gender influence the expression of Foxp3 and regulatory T cells in SLE patients (115.18). *The Journal of Immunology* 186: 115.18–115.18.
- 188. Polanczyk, M. J., B. D. Carson, S. Subramanian, M. Afentoulis, A. A. Vandenbark, S. F. Ziegler, and H. Offner. 2004. Cutting edge: estrogen drives expansion of the CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cell compartment. *J. Immunol.* 173: 2227–2230.
- 189. Wang, C., B. Dehghani, Y. Li, L. J. Kaler, A. A. Vandenbark, and H. Offner. 2009. Oestrogen modulates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and interleukin-17 production via programmed death 1. *Immunology* 126: 329–335.
- 190. Lü, F. X., K. Abel, Z. Ma, T. Rourke, D. Lu, J. Torten, M. McChesney, and C. J. Miller. 2002. The strength of B cell immunity in female rhesus macaques is controlled by CD8+ T cells under the influence of ovarian steroid hormones. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 128: 10–20.
- 191. Pauklin, S., I. V. Sernández, G. Bachmann, A. R. Ramiro, and S. K. Petersen-Mahrt. 2009. Estrogen directly activates AID transcription and function. *J. Exp. Med.* 206: 99– 111.
- 192. Teilmann, S. C., C. A. Clement, J. Thorup, A. G. Byskov, and S. T. Christensen. 2006. Expression and localization of the progesterone receptor in mouse and human reproductive organs. *J. Endocrinol.* 191: 525–535.
- 193. Butts, C. L., S. A. Shukair, K. M. Duncan, E. Bowers, C. Horn, E. Belyavskaya, L. Tonelli, and E. M. Sternberg. 2007. Progesterone inhibits mature rat dendritic cells in a receptor-mediated fashion. *Int. Immunol.* 19: 287–296.
- 194. Jones, L. A., S. Kreem, M. Shweash, A. Paul, J. Alexander, and C. W. Roberts. 2010. Differential modulation of TLR3- and TLR4-mediated dendritic cell maturation and function by progesterone. *J. Immunol.* 185: 4525–4534.
- 195. Hardy, D. B., B. A. Janowski, D. R. Corey, and C. R. Mendelson. 2006. Progesterone receptor plays a major antiinflammatory role in human myometrial cells by antagonism of nuclear factor-kappaB activation of cyclooxygenase 2 expression. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 20: 2724–2733.
- 196. Piccinni, M. P., M. G. Giudizi, R. Biagiotti, L. Beloni, L. Giannarini, S. Sampognaro, P. Parronchi, R. Manetti, F. Annunziato, and C. Livi. 1995. Progesterone favors the development of human T helper cells producing Th2-type cytokines and promotes both IL-4 production and membrane CD30 expression in established Th1 cell clones. *J. Immunol.* 155: 128–133.
- 197. Lee, J. H., B. Ulrich, J. Cho, J. Park, and C. H. Kim. 2011. Progesterone promotes differentiation of human cord blood fetal T cells into T regulatory cells but suppresses their differentiation into Th17 cells. *J. Immunol.* 187: 1778–1787.
- 198. Hou, J., and W. F. Zheng. 1988. Effect of sex hormones on NK and ADCC activity of mice. *Int. J. Immunopharmacol.* 10: 15–22.
- 199. Rettew, J. A., Y. M. Huet-Hudson, and I. Marriott. 2008. Testosterone reduces macrophage expression in the mouse of toll-like receptor 4, a trigger for inflammation and innate immunity. *Biol. Reprod.* 78: 432–437.

- 200. D'Agostino, P., S. Milano, C. Barbera, G. Di Bella, M. La Rosa, V. Ferlazzo, R. Farruggio, D. M. Miceli, M. Miele, L. Castagnetta, and E. Cillari. 1999. Sex hormones modulate inflammatory mediators produced by macrophages. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 876: 426–429.
- 201. Corcoran, M. P., M. Meydani, A. H. Lichtenstein, E. J. Schaefer, A. Dillard, and S. Lamon-Fava. 2010. Sex hormone modulation of proinflammatory cytokine and C-reactive protein expression in macrophages from older men and postmenopausal women. *J. Endocrinol.* 206: 217–224.
- 202. Musabak, U., E. Bolu, M. Ozata, C. Oktenli, A. Sengul, A. Inal, Z. Yesilova, G. Kilciler, I. C. Ozdemir, and I. H. Kocar. 2003. Gonadotropin treatment restores in vitro interleukin-1beta and tumour necrosis factor-alpha production by stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cells from patients with idiopathic hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 132: 265–270.
- 203. Malkin, C. J., P. J. Pugh, R. D. Jones, D. Kapoor, K. S. Channer, and T. H. Jones. 2004. The effect of testosterone replacement on endogenous inflammatory cytokines and lipid profiles in hypogonadal men. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 89: 3313–3318.
- 204. Kalinchenko, S. Y., Y. A. Tishova, G. J. Mskhalaya, L. J. G. Gooren, E. J. Giltay, and F. Saad. 2010. Effects of testosterone supplementation on markers of the metabolic syndrome and inflammation in hypogonadal men with the metabolic syndrome: the double-blinded placebo-controlled Moscow study. *Clin. Endocrinol.* 73: 602–612.
- 205. Bobjer, J., M. Katrinaki, C. Tsatsanis, Y. Lundberg Giwercman, and A. Giwercman. 2013. Negative association between testosterone concentration and inflammatory markers in young men: a nested cross-sectional study. *PLoS One* 8: e61466.
- 206. Lotter, H., E. Helk, H. Bernin, T. Jacobs, C. Prehn, J. Adamski, N. González-Roldán, O. Holst, and E. Tannich. 2013. Testosterone increases susceptibility to amebic liver abscess in mice and mediates inhibition of IFNγ secretion in natural killer T cells. *PLoS One* 8: e55694.
- 207. Jacobson, D. L., S. J. Gange, N. R. Rose, and N. M. Graham. 1997. Epidemiology and estimated population burden of selected autoimmune diseases in the United States. *Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 84: 223–243.
- 208. Papenfuss, T. L., C. J. Rogers, I. Gienapp, M. Yurrita, M. McClain, N. Damico, J. Valo, F. Song, and C. C. Whitacre. 2004. Sex differences in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in multiple murine strains. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 150: 59–69.
- 209. Bao, M., Y. Yang, H.-S. Jun, and J.-W. Yoon. 2002. Molecular mechanisms for gender differences in susceptibility to T cell-mediated autoimmune diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. *J. Immunol.* 168: 5369–5375.
- 210. Zhang, M. A., D. Rego, M. Moshkova, H. Kebir, A. Chruscinski, H. Nguyen, R. Akkermann, F. Z. Stanczyk, A. Prat, L. Steinman, and Others. 2012. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) α and-γ regulate IFNγ and IL-17A production by human T cells in a sex-specific way. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 109: 9505–9510.
- 211. Voskuhl, R. 2011. Sex differences in autoimmune diseases. Biol. Sex Differ. 2: 1.
- 212. Cook, M. B., S. M. Dawsey, N. D. Freedman, P. D. Inskip, S. M. Wichner, S. M. Quraishi, S. S. Devesa, and K. A. McGlynn. 2009. Sex disparities in cancer incidence by period and age. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.* 18: 1174–1182.
- 213. Cook, M. B., K. A. McGlynn, S. S. Devesa, N. D. Freedman, and W. F. Anderson. 2011.

Sex disparities in cancer mortality and survival. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.* 20: 1629–1637.

- 214. Lin, P.-Y., L. Sun, S. R. Thibodeaux, S. M. Ludwig, R. K. Vadlamudi, V. J. Hurez, R. Bahar, M. J. Kious, C. B. Livi, S. R. Wall, L. Chen, B. Zhang, T. Shin, and T. J. Curiel. 2010. B7-H1-dependent sex-related differences in tumor immunity and immunotherapy responses. *J. Immunol.* 185: 2747–2753.
- 215. vom Steeg, L. G., and S. L. Klein. 2016. SeXX Matters in Infectious Disease Pathogenesis. *PLoS Pathog.* 12: e1005374.
- 216. Sawyer, C. C. 2012. Child mortality estimation: estimating sex differences in childhood mortality since the 1970s. *PLoS Med.* 9: e1001287.
- 217. Flanagan, K. L., and K. J. Jensen. 2015. Sex differences in outcomes of infections and vaccinations in under five-year-old children. In *Sex and Gender Differences in Infection and Treatments for Infectious Diseases* Springer. 273–312.
- 218.2015. Sex and Gender Differences in Infection and Treatments for Infectious Diseases, (S. L. Klein, and C. W. Roberts, eds). Springer, Cham.
- 219. Beery, A. K., and I. Zucker. 2011. Sex bias in neuroscience and biomedical research. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 35: 565–572.
- 220. Curry, T. E., Jr, and K. G. Osteen. 2001. Cyclic changes in the matrix metalloproteinase system in the ovary and uterus. *Biol. Reprod.* 64: 1285–1296.
- 221. Wood, G. A., J. E. Fata, K. L. M. Watson, and R. Khokha. 2007. Circulating hormones and estrous stage predict cellular and stromal remodeling in murine uterus. *Reproduction* 133: 1035–1044.
- 222. Allen, E. 1922. The oestrous cycle in the mouse. Am. J. Anat. 30: 297–371.
- 223. Caligioni, C. S. 2009. Assessing reproductive status/stages in mice. *Curr. Protoc. Neurosci.* Appendix 4: Appendix 4I.
- 224. Nelson, J. F., L. S. Felicio, P. K. Randall, C. Sims, and C. E. Finch. 1982. A longitudinal study of estrous cyclicity in aging C57BL/6J mice: I. Cycle frequency, length and vaginal cytology. *Biol. Reprod.* 27: 327–339.
- 225. Ramos, S. D., J. M. Lee, and J. D. Peuler. 2001. An inexpensive meter to measure differences in electrical resistance in the rat vagina during the ovarian cycle. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 91: 667–670.
- 226. Achiraman, S., G. Archunan, D. Sankarganesh, T. Rajagopal, R. L. Rengarajan, P. Kokilavani, S. Kamalakkannan, and S. Kannan. 2011. Biochemical analysis of female mice urine with reference to endocrine function: a key tool for estrus detection. *Zoolog. Sci.* 28: 600–605.
- 227. Champlin, A. K., D. L. Dorr, and A. H. Gates. 1973. Determining the stage of the estrous cycle in the mouse by the appearance of the vagina. *Biol. Reprod.* 8: 491–494.
- 228. Byers, S. L., M. V. Wiles, S. L. Dunn, and R. A. Taft. 2012. Mouse estrous cycle identification tool and images. *PLoS One* 7: e35538.
- 229. Walmer, D. K., M. A. Wrona, C. L. Hughes, and K. G. Nelson. 1992. Lactoferrin expression in the mouse reproductive tract during the natural estrous cycle: correlation with circulating estradiol and progesterone. *Endocrinology* 131: 1458–1466.
- 230. Fata, J. E., V. Chaudhary, and R. Khokha. 2001. Cellular turnover in the mammary gland is correlated with systemic levels of progesterone and not 17beta-estradiol during the estrous cycle. *Biol. Reprod.* 65: 680–688.
- 231. Wira, C. R., J. V. Fahey, C. L. Sentman, P. A. Pioli, and L. Shen. 2005. Innate and

adaptive immunity in female genital tract: cellular responses and interactions. *Immunol. Rev.* 206: 306–335.

- 232. Schumacher, A., S.-D. Costa, and A. C. Zenclussen. 2014. Endocrine factors modulating immune responses in pregnancy. *Front. Immunol.* 5: 196.
- 233. Diener, K. R., S. A. Robertson, J. D. Hayball, and E. L. Lousberg. 2016. Multi-parameter flow cytometric analysis of uterine immune cell fluctuations over the murine estrous cycle. *J. Reprod. Immunol.* 113: 61–67.
- 234. Allis, C. D., and T. Jenuwein. 2016. The molecular hallmarks of epigenetic control. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 17: 487–500.
- 235. Krawczyk, C. M., G. M. Boukhaled, M. Corrado, and H. Guak. 2019. Chromatin architecture as an essential determinant of dendritic cell function. *Front. Immunol.* 10: 1119.
- 236. Jones, P. A. 2012. Functions of DNA methylation: islands, start sites, gene bodies and beyond. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 13: 484–492.
- 237. Rothbart, S. B., and B. D. Strahl. 2014. Interpreting the language of histone and DNA modifications. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1839: 627–643.
- 238. Zhao, Y., and B. A. Garcia. 2015. Comprehensive Catalog of Currently Documented Histone Modifications. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 7: a025064.
- 239. Bornstein, C., D. Winter, Z. Barnett-Itzhaki, E. David, S. Kadri, M. Garber, and I. Amit. 2014. A negative feedback loop of transcription factors specifies alternative dendritic cell chromatin States. *Mol. Cell* 56: 749–762.
- 240. Foster, S. L., D. C. Hargreaves, and R. Medzhitov. 2007. Gene-specific control of inflammation by TLR-induced chromatin modifications. *Nature* 447: 972–978.
- 241. De Santa, F., V. Narang, Z. H. Yap, B. K. Tusi, T. Burgold, L. Austenaa, G. Bucci, M. Caganova, S. Notarbartolo, S. Casola, G. Testa, W.-K. Sung, C.-L. Wei, and G. Natoli. 2009. Jmjd3 contributes to the control of gene expression in LPS-activated macrophages. *EMBO J.* 28: 3341–3352.
- 242. Huang, Y., S. Min, Y. Lui, J. Sun, X. Su, Y. Liu, Y. Zhang, D. Han, Y. Che, C. Zhao, B. Ma, and R. Yang. 2012. Global mapping of H3K4me3 and H3K27me3 reveals chromatin state-based regulation of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells in different environments. *Genes Immun.* 13: 311–320.
- 243. Yoshida, H., C. A. Lareau, R. N. Ramirez, S. A. Rose, B. Maier, A. Wroblewska, F. Desland, A. Chudnovskiy, A. Mortha, C. Dominguez, J. Tellier, E. Kim, D. Dwyer, S. Shinton, T. Nabekura, Y. Qi, B. Yu, M. Robinette, K.-W. Kim, A. Wagers, A. Rhoads, S. L. Nutt, B. D. Brown, S. Mostafavi, J. D. Buenrostro, C. Benoist, and Immunological Genome Project. 2019. The cis-Regulatory Atlas of the Mouse Immune System. *Cell* 176: 897–912.e20.
- 244. Lio, C.-W. J., and A. Rao. 2019. TET Enzymes and 5hmC in Adaptive and Innate Immune Systems. *Front. Immunol.* 10: 210.
- 245. Shen, H., and P. W. Laird. 2013. Interplay between the cancer genome and epigenome. *Cell* 153: 38–55.
- 246. Probst, A. V., E. Dunleavy, and G. Almouzni. 2009. Epigenetic inheritance during the cell cycle. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 10: 192–206.
- 247. Tahiliani, M., K. P. Koh, Y. Shen, W. A. Pastor, H. Bandukwala, Y. Brudno, S. Agarwal, L. M. Iyer, D. R. Liu, L. Aravind, and A. Rao. 2009. Conversion of 5-methylcytosine to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in mammalian DNA by MLL partner TET1. *Science* 324: 930–

935.

- 248. Shi, D.-Q., I. Ali, J. Tang, and W.-C. Yang. 2017. New Insights into 5hmC DNA Modification: Generation, Distribution and Function. *Front. Genet.* 8: 100.
- 249. Hahn, M. A., P. E. Szabó, and G. P. Pfeifer. 2014. 5-Hydroxymethylcytosine: a stable or transient DNA modification? *Genomics* 104: 314–323.
- 250. Kouzarides, T. 2007. Chromatin modifications and their function. Cell 128: 693-705.
- 251. Di Croce, L., and K. Helin. 2013. Transcriptional regulation by Polycomb group proteins. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 20: 1147–1155.
- 252. Seto, E., and M. Yoshida. 2014. Erasers of histone acetylation: the histone deacetylase enzymes. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 6: a018713.
- 253. Keating, S. T., and A. El-Osta. 2015. Epigenetics and metabolism. *Circ. Res.* 116: 715–736.
- 254. Kampranis, S. C., and P. N. Tsichlis. 2009. Histone demethylases and cancer. *Adv. Cancer Res.* 102: 103–169.
- 255. D'Oto, A., Q.-W. Tian, A. M. Davidoff, and J. Yang. 2016. Histone demethylases and their roles in cancer epigenetics. *J Med Oncol Ther* 1: 34–40.
- 256. Kohli, R. M., and Y. Zhang. 2013. TET enzymes, TDG and the dynamics of DNA demethylation. *Nature* 502: 472–479.
- 257. Barski, A., S. Cuddapah, K. Cui, T.-Y. Roh, D. E. Schones, Z. Wang, G. Wei, I. Chepelev, and K. Zhao. 2007. High-resolution profiling of histone methylations in the human genome. *Cell* 129: 823–837.
- 258. Binda, O., G. LeRoy, D. J. Bua, B. A. Garcia, O. Gozani, and S. Richard. 2010. Trimethylation of histone H3 lysine 4 impairs methylation of histone H3 lysine 9: regulation of lysine methyltransferases by physical interaction with their substrates. *Epigenetics* 5: 767–775.
- 259. Bannister, A. J., and T. Kouzarides. 2011. Regulation of chromatin by histone modifications. *Cell Res.* 21: 381–395.
- 260. Shlyueva, D., G. Stampfel, and A. Stark. 2014. Transcriptional enhancers: from properties to genome-wide predictions. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 15: 272–286.
- 261. Creyghton, M. P., A. W. Cheng, G. G. Welstead, T. Kooistra, B. W. Carey, E. J. Steine, J. Hanna, M. A. Lodato, G. M. Frampton, P. A. Sharp, L. A. Boyer, R. A. Young, and R. Jaenisch. 2010. Histone H3K27ac separates active from poised enhancers and predicts developmental state. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 107: 21931–21936.
- 262. Zhu, Y., L. Sun, Z. Chen, J. W. Whitaker, T. Wang, and W. Wang. 2013. Predicting enhancer transcription and activity from chromatin modifications. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41: 10032–10043.
- 263. Zentner, G. E., and P. C. Scacheri. 2012. The chromatin fingerprint of gene enhancer elements. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287: 30888–30896.
- 264. Yadav, T., J.-P. Quivy, and G. Almouzni. 2018. Chromatin plasticity: A versatile landscape that underlies cell fate and identity. *Science* 361: 1332–1336.
- 265. Di Pietro, A., and K. L. Good-Jacobson. 2018. Disrupting the Code: Epigenetic Dysregulation of Lymphocyte Function during Infectious Disease and Lymphoma Development. *J. Immunol.* 201: 1109–1118.
- 266. Araki, Y., and T. Mimura. 2017. The Histone Modification Code in the Pathogenesis of Autoimmune Diseases. *Mediators Inflamm*. 2017: 2608605.
- 267. Wang, H., L. Wang, H. Erdjument-Bromage, M. Vidal, P. Tempst, R. S. Jones, and Y.

Zhang. 2004. Role of histone H2A ubiquitination in Polycomb silencing. *Nature* 431: 873–878.

- 268. Wheaton, K., F. Sarkari, B. Stanly Johns, H. Davarinejad, O. Egorova, L. Kaustov, B. Raught, V. Saridakis, and Y. Sheng. 2017. UbE2E1/UBCH6 Is a Critical in Vivo E2 for the PRC1-catalyzed Ubiquitination of H2A at Lys-119. *J. Biol. Chem.* 292: 2893–2902.
- 269. Boukhaled, G. M., B. Cordeiro, G. Deblois, V. Dimitrov, S. D. Bailey, T. Holowka, A. Domi, H. Guak, H.-H. C. Chiu, B. Everts, E. J. Pearce, M. Lupien, J. H. White, and C. M. Krawczyk. 2016. The Transcriptional Repressor Polycomb Group Factor 6, PCGF6, Negatively Regulates Dendritic Cell Activation and Promotes Quiescence. *Cell Rep.* 16: 1829–1837.
- 270. Doñas, C., M. Carrasco, M. Fritz, C. Prado, G. Tejón, F. Osorio-Barrios, V. Manríquez, P. Reyes, R. Pacheco, M. R. Bono, A. Loyola, and M. Rosemblatt. 2016. The histone demethylase inhibitor GSK-J4 limits inflammation through the induction of a tolerogenic phenotype on DCs. *J. Autoimmun.* 75: 105–117.
- 271. Jin, J., X. Xie, Y. Xiao, H. Hu, Q. Zou, X. Cheng, and S.-C. Sun. 2016. Epigenetic regulation of the expression of Il12 and Il23 and autoimmune inflammation by the deubiquitinase Trabid. *Nat. Immunol.* 17: 259–268.
- 272. Cook, P. C., H. Owen, A. M. Deaton, J. G. Borger, S. L. Brown, T. Clouaire, G.-R. Jones, L. H. Jones, R. J. Lundie, A. K. Marley, V. L. Morrison, A. T. Phythian-Adams, E. Wachter, L. M. Webb, T. E. Sutherland, G. D. Thomas, J. R. Grainger, J. Selfridge, A. N. J. McKenzie, J. E. Allen, S. C. Fagerholm, R. M. Maizels, A. C. Ivens, A. Bird, and A. S. MacDonald. 2015. A dominant role for the methyl-CpG-binding protein Mbd2 in controlling Th2 induction by dendritic cells. *Nat. Commun.* 6: 6920.
- 273. D'Andrea, A., M. Aste-Amezaga, N. M. Valiante, X. Ma, M. Kubin, and G. Trinchieri. 1993. Interleukin 10 (IL-10) inhibits human lymphocyte interferon gamma-production by suppressing natural killer cell stimulatory factor/IL-12 synthesis in accessory cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 178: 1041–1048.
- 274. Villagra, A., F. Cheng, H.-W. Wang, I. Suarez, M. Glozak, M. Maurin, D. Nguyen, K. L. Wright, P. W. Atadja, K. Bhalla, J. Pinilla-Ibarz, E. Seto, and E. M. Sotomayor. 2009. The histone deacetylase HDAC11 regulates the expression of interleukin 10 and immune tolerance. *Nat. Immunol.* 10: 92–100.
- 275. Yao, Y., W. Li, M. H. Kaplan, and C.-H. Chang. 2005. Interleukin (IL)-4 inhibits IL-10 to promote IL-12 production by dendritic cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 201: 1899–1903.
- 276. Kuo, C.-H., C.-H. Lin, S.-N. Yang, M.-Y. Huang, H.-L. Chen, P.-L. Kuo, Y.-L. Hsu, S.-K. Huang, Y.-J. Jong, W.-J. Wei, Y.-P. Chen, and C.-H. Hung. 2012. Effect of prostaglandin I2 analogs on cytokine expression in human myeloid dendritic cells via epigenetic regulation. *Mol. Med.* 18: 433–444.
- 277. Kuo, C.-H., S.-N. Yang, H.-F. Kuo, M.-S. Lee, M.-Y. Huang, S.-K. Huang, Y.-C. Lin, C.-C. Hsieh, and C.-H. Hung. 2016. Cysteinyl leukotriene receptor antagonist epigenetically modulates cytokine expression and maturation of human myeloid dendritic cells. *Pulm. Pharmacol. Ther.* 39: 28–37.
- 278. Ptaschinski, C., S. Mukherjee, M. L. Moore, M. Albert, K. Helin, S. L. Kunkel, and N. W. Lukacs. 2015. RSV-Induced H3K4 Demethylase KDM5B Leads to Regulation of Dendritic Cell-Derived Innate Cytokines and Exacerbates Pathogenesis In Vivo. *PLoS Pathog.* 11: e1004978.
- 279. Ma, S., X. Wan, Z. Deng, L. Shi, C. Hao, Z. Zhou, C. Zhou, Y. Fang, J. Liu, J. Yang, X.

Chen, T. Li, A. Zang, S. Yin, B. Li, J. Plumas, L. Chaperot, X. Zhang, G. Xu, L. Jiang, N. Shen, S. Xiong, X. Gao, Y. Zhang, and H. Xiao. 2017. Epigenetic regulator CXXC5 recruits DNA demethylase Tet2 to regulate TLR7/9-elicited IFN response in pDCs. *J. Exp. Med.* 214: 1471–1491.

- 280. Zhang, Q., K. Zhao, Q. Shen, Y. Han, Y. Gu, X. Li, D. Zhao, Y. Liu, C. Wang, X. Zhang, X. Su, J. Liu, W. Ge, R. L. Levine, N. Li, and X. Cao. 2015. Tet2 is required to resolve inflammation by recruiting Hdac2 to specifically repress IL-6. *Nature* 525: 389–393.
- 281. Qiu, Y., Y. Zhu, H. Yu, S. Yi, W. Su, Q. Cao, G. Yuan, A. Kijlstra, and P. Yang. 2017. Ocular Behcet's disease is associated with aberrant methylation of interferon regulatory factor 8 (IRF8) in monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Oncotarget* 8: 51277–51287.
- 282. Qiu, Y., H. Yu, Y. Zhu, Z. Ye, J. Deng, W. Su, Q. Cao, G. Yuan, A. Kijlstra, and P. Yang. 2017. Hypermethylation of Interferon Regulatory Factor 8 (IRF8) Confers Risk to Vogt-Koyanagi-Harada Disease. *Sci. Rep.* 7: 1007.
- 283. Zhou J.-J., Wang G.-S., Li X.-P., Li X.-M., and Qian L. 2013. [Activation of hypomethylated DNA on plasmacytoid dendritic cells in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus]. *Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi* 93: 3119–3121.
- 284. Agulnik, A. I., M. J. Mitchell, M. G. Mattei, G. Borsani, P. A. Avner, J. L. Lerner, and C. E. Bishop. 1994. A novel X gene with a widely transcribed Y-linked homologue escapes X-inactivation in mouse and human. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 3: 879–884.
- 285. Müller, U. 1996. H-Y antigens. Hum. Genet. 97: 701-704.
- 286. Secombe, J., L. Li, L. Carlos, and R. N. Eisenman. 2007. The Trithorax group protein Lid is a trimethyl histone H3K4 demethylase required for dMyc-induced cell growth. *Genes Dev.* 21: 537–551.
- 287. Peng, Y., and E. Alexov. 2016. Cofactors-loaded quaternary structure of lysine-specific demethylase 5C (KDM5C) protein: Computational model. *Proteins* 84: 1797–1809.
- 288. Chen, Z., J. Zang, J. Whetstine, X. Hong, F. Davrazou, T. G. Kutateladze, M. Simpson, Q. Mao, C.-H. Pan, S. Dai, J. Hagman, K. Hansen, Y. Shi, and G. Zhang. 2006. Structural insights into histone demethylation by JMJD2 family members. *Cell* 125: 691–702.
- 289. Cloos, P. A. C., J. Christensen, K. Agger, A. Maiolica, J. Rappsilber, T. Antal, K. H. Hansen, and K. Helin. 2006. The putative oncogene GASC1 demethylates tri- and dimethylated lysine 9 on histone H3. *Nature* 442: 307–311.
- 290. Klose, R. J., K. Yamane, Y. Bae, D. Zhang, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst, J. Wong, and Y. Zhang. 2006. The transcriptional repressor JHDM3A demethylates trimethyl histone H3 lysine 9 and lysine 36. *Nature* 442: 312–316.
- 291. Tsukada, Y.-I., J. Fang, H. Erdjument-Bromage, M. E. Warren, C. H. Borchers, P. Tempst, and Y. Zhang. 2006. Histone demethylation by a family of JmjC domain-containing proteins. *Nature* 439: 811–816.
- 292. Whetstine, J. R., A. Nottke, F. Lan, M. Huarte, S. Smolikov, Z. Chen, E. Spooner, E. Li, G. Zhang, M. Colaiacovo, and Y. Shi. 2006. Reversal of histone lysine trimethylation by the JMJD2 family of histone demethylases. *Cell* 125: 467–481.
- 293. Yamane, K., C. Toumazou, Y.-I. Tsukada, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst, J. Wong, and Y. Zhang. 2006. JHDM2A, a JmjC-containing H3K9 demethylase, facilitates transcription activation by androgen receptor. *Cell* 125: 483–495.
- 294. Kortschak, R. D., P. W. Tucker, and R. Saint. 2000. ARID proteins come in from the desert. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 25: 294–299.
- 295. Wilsker, D., A. Patsialou, P. B. Dallas, and E. Moran. 2002. ARID proteins: a diverse

family of DNA binding proteins implicated in the control of cell growth, differentiation, and development. *Cell Growth Differ*. 13: 95–106.

- 296. Shi, X., T. Hong, K. L. Walter, M. Ewalt, E. Michishita, T. Hung, D. Carney, P. Peña, F. Lan, M. R. Kaadige, N. Lacoste, C. Cayrou, F. Davrazou, A. Saha, B. R. Cairns, D. E. Ayer, T. G. Kutateladze, Y. Shi, J. Côté, K. F. Chua, and O. Gozani. 2006. ING2 PHD domain links histone H3 lysine 4 methylation to active gene repression. *Nature* 442: 96–99.
- 297. Wysocka, J., T. Swigut, H. Xiao, T. A. Milne, S. Y. Kwon, J. Landry, M. Kauer, A. J. Tackett, B. T. Chait, P. Badenhorst, C. Wu, and C. D. Allis. 2006. A PHD finger of NURF couples histone H3 lysine 4 trimethylation with chromatin remodelling. *Nature* 442: 86–90.
- 298. Jensen, L. R., M. Amende, U. Gurok, B. Moser, V. Gimmel, A. Tzschach, A. R. Janecke, G. Tariverdian, J. Chelly, J.-P. Fryns, H. Van Esch, T. Kleefstra, B. Hamel, C. Moraine, J. Gecz, G. Turner, R. Reinhardt, V. M. Kalscheuer, H.-H. Ropers, and S. Lenzner. 2005. Mutations in the JARID1C gene, which is involved in transcriptional regulation and chromatin remodeling, cause X-linked mental retardation. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 76: 227– 236.
- 299. Li, N., S. S. Dhar, T.-Y. Chen, P.-Y. Kan, Y. Wei, J.-H. Kim, C.-H. Chan, H.-K. Lin, M.-C. Hung, and M. G. Lee. 2016. JARID1D Is a Suppressor and Prognostic Marker of Prostate Cancer Invasion and Metastasis. *Cancer Res.* 76: 831–843.
- 300. Abidi, F. E., L. Holloway, C. A. Moore, D. D. Weaver, R. J. Simensen, R. E. Stevenson, R. C. Rogers, and C. E. Schwartz. 2008. Mutations in JARID1C are associated with Xlinked mental retardation, short stature and hyperreflexia. *J. Med. Genet.* 45: 787–793.
- 301. Brookes, E., B. Laurent, K. Õunap, R. Carroll, J. B. Moeschler, M. Field, C. E. Schwartz, J. Gecz, and Y. Shi. 2015. Mutations in the intellectual disability gene KDM5C reduce protein stability and demethylase activity. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 24: 2861–2872.
- 302. Gonçalves, T. F., A. P. Gonçalves, N. Fintelman Rodrigues, J. M. dos Santos, M. M. G. Pimentel, and C. B. Santos-Rebouças. 2014. KDM5C mutational screening among males with intellectual disability suggestive of X-Linked inheritance and review of the literature. *Eur. J. Med. Genet.* 57: 138–144.
- 303. Grafodatskaya, D., B. H. Y. Chung, D. T. Butcher, A. L. Turinsky, S. J. Goodman, S. Choufani, Y.-A. Chen, Y. Lou, C. Zhao, R. Rajendram, F. E. Abidi, C. Skinner, J. Stavropoulos, C. A. Bondy, J. Hamilton, S. Wodak, S. W. Scherer, C. E. Schwartz, and R. Weksberg. 2013. Multilocus loss of DNA methylation in individuals with mutations in the histone H3 lysine 4 demethylase KDM5C. *BMC Med. Genomics* 6: 1.
- 304. Ounap, K., H. Puusepp-Benazzouz, M. Peters, U. Vaher, R. Rein, A. Proos, M. Field, and T. Reimand. 2012. A novel c.2T > C mutation of the KDM5C/JARID1C gene in one large family with X-linked intellectual disability. *Eur. J. Med. Genet.* 55: 178–184.
- 305. Rujirabanjerd, S., J. Nelson, P. S. Tarpey, A. Hackett, S. Edkins, F. L. Raymond, C. E. Schwartz, G. Turner, S. Iwase, Y. Shi, P. A. Futreal, M. R. Stratton, and J. Gecz. 2010. Identification and characterization of two novel JARID1C mutations: suggestion of an emerging genotype-phenotype correlation. *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.* 18: 330–335.
- 306. Santos, C., L. Rodriguez-Revenga, I. Madrigal, C. Badenas, M. Pineda, and M. Milà. 2006. A novel mutation in JARID1C gene associated with mental retardation. *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.* 14: 583–586.
- 307. Santos-Rebouças, C. B., N. Fintelman-Rodrigues, L. R. Jensen, A. W. Kuss, M. G.

Ribeiro, M. Campos Jr, J. M. Santos, and M. M. G. Pimentel. 2011. A novel nonsense mutation in KDM5C/JARID1C gene causing intellectual disability, short stature and speech delay. *Neurosci. Lett.* 498: 67–71.

- 308. Tzschach, A., S. Lenzner, B. Moser, R. Reinhardt, J. Chelly, J.-P. Fryns, T. Kleefstra, M. Raynaud, G. Turner, H.-H. Ropers, A. Kuss, and L. R. Jensen. 2006. Novel JARID1C/SMCX mutations in patients with X-linked mental retardation. *Hum. Mutat.* 27: 389.
- 309. Adegbola, A., H. Gao, S. Sommer, and M. Browning. 2008. A novel mutation in JARID1C/SMCX in a patient with autism spectrum disorder (ASD). Am. J. Med. Genet. A 146A: 505–511.
- 310. Fieremans, N., H. Van Esch, T. de Ravel, J. Van Driessche, S. Belet, M. Bauters, and G. Froyen. 2015. Microdeletion of the escape genes KDM5C and IQSEC2 in a girl with severe intellectual disability and autistic features. *Eur. J. Med. Genet.* 58: 324–327.
- 311. Iwase, S., E. Brookes, S. Agarwal, A. I. Badeaux, H. Ito, C. N. Vallianatos, G. S. Tomassy, T. Kasza, G. Lin, A. Thompson, L. Gu, K. Y. Kwan, C. Chen, M. A. Sartor, B. Egan, J. Xu, and Y. Shi. 2016. A Mouse Model of X-linked Intellectual Disability Associated with Impaired Removal of Histone Methylation. *Cell Rep.* 14: 1000–1009.
- 312. Scandaglia, M., J. P. Lopez-Atalaya, A. Medrano-Fernandez, M. T. Lopez-Cascales, B. Del Blanco, M. Lipinski, E. Benito, R. Olivares, S. Iwase, Y. Shi, and A. Barco. 2017. Loss of Kdm5c Causes Spurious Transcription and Prevents the Fine-Tuning of Activity-Regulated Enhancers in Neurons. *Cell Rep.* 21: 47–59.
- 313. Martin, H. C., W. D. Jones, R. McIntyre, G. Sanchez-Andrade, M. Sanderson, J. D. Stephenson, C. P. Jones, J. Handsaker, G. Gallone, M. Bruntraeger, J. F. McRae, E. Prigmore, P. Short, M. Niemi, J. Kaplanis, E. J. Radford, N. Akawi, M. Balasubramanian, J. Dean, R. Horton, A. Hulbert, D. S. Johnson, K. Johnson, D. Kumar, S. A. Lynch, S. G. Mehta, J. Morton, M. J. Parker, M. Splitt, P. D. Turnpenny, P. C. Vasudevan, M. Wright, A. Bassett, S. S. Gerety, C. F. Wright, D. R. FitzPatrick, H. V. Firth, M. E. Hurles, J. C. Barrett, and Deciphering Developmental Disorders Study. 2018. Quantifying the contribution of recessive coding variation to developmental disorders. *Science* 362: 1161–1164.
- 314. Zamurrad, S., H. A. M. Hatch, C. Drelon, H. M. Belalcazar, and J. Secombe. 2018. A Drosophila Model of Intellectual Disability Caused by Mutations in the Histone Demethylase KDM5. *Cell Rep.* 22: 2359–2369.
- 315. Chen, K., X. Luan, Q. Liu, J. Wang, X. Chang, A. M. Snijders, J.-H. Mao, J. Secombe, Z. Dan, J.-H. Chen, Z. Wang, X. Dong, C. Qiu, X. Chang, D. Zhang, S. E. Celniker, and X. Liu. 2019. Drosophila Histone Demethylase KDM5 Regulates Social Behavior through Immune Control and Gut Microbiota Maintenance. *Cell Host Microbe* 25: 537–552.e8.
- 316. Iwase, S., F. Lan, P. Bayliss, L. de la Torre-Ubieta, M. Huarte, H. H. Qi, J. R. Whetstine, A. Bonni, T. M. Roberts, and Y. Shi. 2007. The X-linked mental retardation gene SMCX/JARID1C defines a family of histone H3 lysine 4 demethylases. *Cell* 128: 1077– 1088.
- 317. Wei, G., X. Deng, S. Agarwal, S. Iwase, C. Disteche, and J. Xu. 2016. Patient Mutations of the Intellectual Disability Gene KDM5C Downregulate Netrin G2 and Suppress Neurite Growth in Neuro2a Cells. J. Mol. Neurosci. 60: 33–45.
- 318. Chen, X., J. X. Loo, X. Shi, W. Xiong, Y. Guo, H. Ke, M. Yang, Y. Jiang, S. Xia, M. Zhao, S. Zhong, C. He, L. Fu, and F. Li. 2018. E6 Protein Expressed by High-Risk HPV

Activates Super-Enhancers of the EGFR and c-MET Oncogenes by Destabilizing the Histone Demethylase KDM5C. *Cancer Res.* 78: 1418–1430.

- 319. Wu, L., J. Cao, W. L. Cai, S. M. Lang, J. R. Horton, D. J. Jansen, Z. Z. Liu, J. F. Chen, M. Zhang, B. T. Mott, K. Pohida, G. Rai, S. C. Kales, M. J. Henderson, X. Hu, A. Jadhav, D. J. Maloney, A. Simeonov, S. Zhu, A. Iwasaki, M. D. Hall, X. Cheng, G. S. Shadel, and Q. Yan. 2018. KDM5 histone demethylases repress immune response via suppression of STING. *PLoS Biol.* 16: e2006134.
- 320. Myllymäki, H., S. Valanne, and M. Rämet. 2014. The Drosophila imd signaling pathway. *J. Immunol.* 192: 3455–3462.
- 321. Krawczyk, C. M., J. Sun, and E. J. Pearce. 2008. Th2 differentiation is unaffected by Jagged2 expression on dendritic cells. *J. Immunol.* 180: 7931–7937.
- 322. Lowry, O. H., N. J. Rosebrough, A. L. Farr, and R. J. Randall. 1951. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. *J. Biol. Chem.* 193: 265–275.
- 323. McLean, A. C., N. Valenzuela, S. Fai, and S. A. L. Bennett. 2012. Performing vaginal lavage, crystal violet staining, and vaginal cytological evaluation for mouse estrous cycle staging identification. *J. Vis. Exp.* e4389.
- 324. Arrigoni, L., A. S. Richter, E. Betancourt, K. Bruder, S. Diehl, T. Manke, and U. Bönisch. 2016. Standardizing chromatin research: a simple and universal method for ChIP-seq. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 44: e67.
- 325. Haim, S., G. Shakhar, E. Rossene, A. N. Taylor, and S. Ben-Eliyahu. 2003. Serum levels of sex hormones and corticosterone throughout 4- and 5-day estrous cycles in Fischer 344 rats and their simulation in ovariectomized females. *J. Endocrinol. Invest.* 26: 1013–1022.
- 326. Granucci, F., E. Ferrero, M. Foti, D. Aggujaro, K. Vettoretto, and P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli. 1999. Early events in dendritic cell maturation induced by LPS. *Microbes Infect.* 1: 1079–1084.
- 327. Agarwal, V., G. W. Bell, J.-W. Nam, and D. P. Bartel. 2015. Predicting effective microRNA target sites in mammalian mRNAs. *Elife* 4.
- 328. Naqvi, A. R., J. B. Fordham, B. Ganesh, and S. Nares. 2016. miR-24, miR-30b and miR-142-3p interfere with antigen processing and presentation by primary macrophages and dendritic cells. *Sci. Rep.* 6: 32925.
- 329. Lyadova, I. V., and A. V. Panteleev. 2015. Th1 and Th17 Cells in Tuberculosis: Protection, Pathology, and Biomarkers. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2015: 854507.
- 330. Rao, S. 2009. Tuberculosis and patient gender: An analysis and its implications in tuberculosis control. *Lung India* 26: 46–47.
- 331. Ingulli, E., A. Mondino, A. Khoruts, and M. K. Jenkins. 1997. In vivo detection of dendritic cell antigen presentation to CD4(+) T cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 185: 2133–2141.
- 332. Nopora, A., and T. Brocker. 2002. Bcl-2 controls dendritic cell longevity in vivo. J. *Immunol.* 169: 3006–3014.
- 333. Kamath, A. T., S. Henri, F. Battye, D. F. Tough, and K. Shortman. 2002. Developmental kinetics and lifespan of dendritic cells in mouse lymphoid organs. *Blood* 100: 1734–1741.
- 334. Hou, W.-S., and L. Van Parijs. 2004. A Bcl-2-dependent molecular timer regulates the lifespan and immunogenicity of dendritic cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 5: 583–589.
- 335. Santos, P. M., and L. H. Butterfield. 2018. Dendritic Cell-Based Cancer Vaccines. J. Immunol. 200: 443–449.
- 336. Rodriguez, J., E. Castañón, J. L. Perez-Gracia, I. Rodriguez, A. Viudez, C. Alfaro, C.

Oñate, G. Perez, F. Rotellar, S. Inogés, A. López-Diaz de Cerio, L. Resano, M. Ponz-Sarvise, M. E. Rodriguez-Ruiz, A. Chopitea, R. Vera, and I. Melero. 2018. A randomized phase II clinical trial of dendritic cell vaccination following complete resection of colon cancer liver metastasis. *J Immunother Cancer* 6: 96.

- 337. Ge, C., R. Li, H. Song, T. Geng, J. Yang, Q. Tan, L. Song, Y. Wang, Y. Xue, Z. Li, S. Dong, Z. Zhang, N. Zhang, J. Guo, L. Hua, S. Chen, and X. Song. 2017. Phase I clinical trial of a novel autologous modified-DC vaccine in patients with resected NSCLC. *BMC Cancer* 17: 884.
- 338. Miller, B. H., and J. S. Takahashi. 2013. Central circadian control of female reproductive function. *Front. Endocrinol.* 4: 195.
- 339. Bedoui, S., P. G. Whitney, J. Waithman, L. Eidsmo, L. Wakim, I. Caminschi, R. S. Allan, M. Wojtasiak, K. Shortman, F. R. Carbone, A. G. Brooks, and W. R. Heath. 2009. Crosspresentation of viral and self antigens by skin-derived CD103+ dendritic cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 10: 488–495.
- 340. Vianney, M. J. 1965. VAGINAL CYTODIAGNOSIS OF THE ESTROUS CYCLE OF THE MOUSE WITH FLUORESCENCE MICROSCOPY. *Fertil. Steril.* 16: 401–414.
- 341. Williams, W. V. 2017. Hormonal contraception and the development of autoimmunity: A review of the literature. *Linacre Q.* 84: 275–295.
- 342. Granucci, F., C. Vizzardelli, E. Virzi, M. Rescigno, and P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli. 2001. Transcriptional reprogramming of dendritic cells by differentiation stimuli. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 31: 2539–2546.
- 343. Landmann, S., A. Mühlethaler-Mottet, L. Bernasconi, T. Suter, J. M. Waldburger, K. Masternak, J. F. Arrighi, C. Hauser, A. Fontana, and W. Reith. 2001. Maturation of dendritic cells is accompanied by rapid transcriptional silencing of class II transactivator (CIITA) expression. J. Exp. Med. 194: 379–391.
- 344. Heufler, C., F. Koch, U. Stanzl, G. Topar, M. Wysocka, G. Trinchieri, A. Enk, R. M. Steinman, N. Romani, and G. Schuler. 1996. Interleukin-12 is produced by dendritic cells and mediates T helper 1 development as well as interferon-gamma production by T helper 1 cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 26: 659–668.
- 345. Maiuri, P., A. Knezevich, A. De Marco, D. Mazza, A. Kula, J. G. McNally, and A. Marcello. 2011. Fast transcription rates of RNA polymerase II in human cells. *EMBO Rep.* 12: 1280–1285.
- 346. Ross, J. F., and M. Orlowski. 1982. Growth-rate-dependent adjustment of ribosome function in chemostat-grown cells of the fungus Mucor racemosus. J. Bacteriol. 149: 650–653.
- 347. Khraiwesh, B., M. A. Arif, G. I. Seumel, S. Ossowski, D. Weigel, R. Reski, and W. Frank. 2010. Transcriptional control of gene expression by microRNAs. *Cell* 140: 111–122.
- 348. Sun, Y., S. Varambally, C. A. Maher, Q. Cao, P. Chockley, T. Toubai, C. Malter, E. Nieves, I. Tawara, Y. Wang, P. A. Ward, A. Chinnaiyan, and P. Reddy. 2011. Targeting of microRNA-142-3p in dendritic cells regulates endotoxin-induced mortality. *Blood* 117: 6172–6183.
- 349. Mildner, A., E. Chapnik, O. Manor, S. Yona, K.-W. Kim, T. Aychek, D. Varol, G. Beck, Z. B. Itzhaki, E. Feldmesser, I. Amit, E. Hornstein, and S. Jung. 2013. Mononuclear phagocyte miRNome analysis identifies miR-142 as critical regulator of murine dendritic cell homeostasis. *Blood* 121: 1016–1027.

- 350. Klein, S. L., I. Marriott, and E. N. Fish. 2015. Sex-based differences in immune function and responses to vaccination. *Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 109: 9–15.
- 351. Yamazaki, C., M. Sugiyama, T. Ohta, H. Hemmi, E. Hamada, I. Sasaki, Y. Fukuda, T. Yano, M. Nobuoka, T. Hirashima, A. Iizuka, K. Sato, T. Tanaka, K. Hoshino, and T. Kaisho. 2013. Critical roles of a dendritic cell subset expressing a chemokine receptor, XCR1. J. Immunol. 190: 6071–6082.
- 352. Muzaki, A. R. B. M., P. Tetlak, J. Sheng, S. C. Loh, Y. A. Setiagani, M. Poidinger, F. Zolezzi, K. Karjalainen, and C. Ruedl. 2016. Intestinal CD103(+)CD11b(-) dendritic cells restrain colitis via IFN-γ-induced anti-inflammatory response in epithelial cells. *Mucosal Immunol.* 9: 336–351.
- 353. Mattiuz, R., C. Wohn, S. Ghilas, M. Ambrosini, Y. O. Alexandre, C. Sanchez, A. Fries, T.-P. Vu Manh, B. Malissen, M. Dalod, and K. Crozat. 2018. Novel Cre-Expressing Mouse Strains Permitting to Selectively Track and Edit Type 1 Conventional Dendritic Cells Facilitate Disentangling Their Complexity in vivo. *Front. Immunol.* 9: 2805.
- 354. Omatsu, Y., T. Iyoda, Y. Kimura, A. Maki, M. Ishimori, N. Toyama-Sorimachi, and K. Inaba. 2005. Development of murine plasmacytoid dendritic cells defined by increased expression of an inhibitory NK receptor, Ly49Q. *J. Immunol.* 174: 6657–6662.
- 355. Cisse, B., M. L. Caton, M. Lehner, T. Maeda, S. Scheu, R. Locksley, D. Holmberg, C. Zweier, N. S. den Hollander, S. G. Kant, W. Holter, A. Rauch, Y. Zhuang, and B. Reizis. 2008. Transcription factor E2-2 is an essential and specific regulator of plasmacytoid dendritic cell development. *Cell* 135: 37–48.
- 356. Wu, X., C. G. Briseño, G. E. Grajales-Reyes, M. Haldar, A. Iwata, N. M. Kretzer, W. Kc, R. Tussiwand, Y. Higashi, T. L. Murphy, and K. M. Murphy. 2016. Transcription factor Zeb2 regulates commitment to plasmacytoid dendritic cell and monocyte fate. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 113: 14775–14780.